Published for SISSA by O Springer

RECEIVED: June 26, 2023 REVISED: September 14, 2023 ACCEPTED: November 1, 2023 PUBLISHED: January 26, 2024

# More accurate $\sigma(\mathcal{G}\mathcal{G} \to h)$ , $\Gamma(h \to \mathcal{G}\mathcal{G}, \mathcal{A}\mathcal{A}, \bar{\Psi}\Psi)$ and Higgs width results via the geoSMEFT

### Adam Martin<sup>a</sup> and Michael Trott<sup>b,c</sup>

- <sup>a</sup>Department of Physics, University of Notre Dame, Notre Dame, IN, 46556, U.S.A.
- <sup>b</sup> Walter Burke Institute for Theoretical Physics, California Institute of Technology, Pasadena, California, U.S.A.
- <sup>c</sup>Perimeter Institute for Theoretical Physics, Waterloo, ON, Canada

*E-mail:* amarti41@nd.edu, michael.trott@cern.ch

ABSTRACT: We develop Standard Model Effective Field Theory (SMEFT) predictions of  $\sigma(\mathcal{GG} \to h)$ ,  $\Gamma(h \to \mathcal{GG})$ ,  $\Gamma(h \to \mathcal{AA})$  to incorporate full two loop Standard Model results at the amplitude level, in conjunction with dimension eight SMEFT corrections. We simultaneously report consistent  $\Gamma(h \to \bar{\Psi}\Psi)$  results including leading QCD corrections and dimension eight SMEFT corrections. This extends the predictions of the former processes  $\Gamma, \sigma$  to a full set of corrections at  $\mathcal{O}(\bar{v}_T^2/\Lambda^2(16\pi^2)^2)$  and  $\mathcal{O}(\bar{v}_T^4/\Lambda^4)$ , where  $\bar{v}_T$  is the electroweak scale vacuum expectation value and  $\Lambda$  is the cut off scale of the SMEFT. Throughout, cross consistency between the operator and loop expansions is maintained by the use of the geometric SMEFT formalism. For  $\Gamma(h \to \bar{\Psi}\Psi)$ , we include results at  $\mathcal{O}(\bar{v}_T^2/\Lambda^2(16\pi^2))$  in the limit where subleading  $m_{\Psi} \to 0$  corrections are neglected. We clarify how gauge invariant SMEFT renormalization counterterms combine with the Standard Model counter terms in higher order SMEFT calculations when the Background Field Method is used. We also update the prediction of the total Higgs width in the SMEFT to consistently include some of these higher order perturbative effects.

KEYWORDS: Effective Field Theories of QCD, Renormalization and Regularization, SMEFT

ARXIV EPRINT: 2305.05879



# Contents

1	Introduction	1
<b>2</b>	Framework of the calculation	2
	2.1 Terms retained in the calculation(s)	2
3	Analytic results	4
	3.1 $\sigma(\mathcal{GG} \to h)$	4
	3.1.1 $\langle \mathcal{GG} h\rangle_{SM}^1$ and $\langle \mathcal{GG} h\rangle_{SM}^2$ results for $\sigma(\mathcal{GG} \to h)$	4
	3.1.2 NLO finite terms	6
	3.1.3 UV divergences	7
	3.1.4 IR divergences	8
	3.1.5 Combined NLO $\tilde{C}_{HG}^{(6)}$ result	12
	3.2 $\Gamma(h \rightarrow \mathcal{GG})$	14
	3.2.1 $\Gamma(h \to \mathcal{GG})$ Virtual terms	14
	3.2.2 $\Gamma(h \to \mathcal{GG})$ real emission terms	15
	3.3 $\Gamma(h \to \mathcal{A}\mathcal{A})$ two loop QCD corrections	16
	3.4 $\Gamma(h \to \bar{\Psi} \Psi)$	16
4	Scheme choice and Numerics	18
	4.1 $\alpha_{ew}$ and the Hadronic resonance region	18
	4.2 Uniforming quark masses	20
	$4.3  \sigma(\mathcal{GG} \to h)$	21
	4.4 $\Gamma(h \to \mathcal{GG})$	22
	4.5 $\Gamma(h \to \mathcal{A}\mathcal{A})$	23
	4.6 $\delta\Gamma_{h,full}^{SMEFT}$	24
5	Conclusions	26
$\mathbf{A}$	SMEFT/geoSMEFT notation and conventions	27
	A.1 $geoSMEFT$	27
	A.2 Combining SMEFT and SM on shell renormalizations	29
	A.3 Higgs Wavefunction Renormalization $\Delta \delta^n$ effects in geoSMEFT	32
в	One Loop Functions	33
С	Endpoint regulation	34
D	Common One loop results	34
$\mathbf{E}$	$\Delta\delta\sigma(\mathcal{GG}  ightarrow h)$ and quadratic $\delta^2\sigma(\mathcal{GG}  ightarrow h)$ results	37
	E.1 $\Delta \delta \sigma (\mathcal{GG} \rightarrow h)$	37
	E.2 $\delta^2 \sigma(\mathcal{GG} \to h)$ geoSMEFT terms	38

$\mathbf{F}$	$\Delta\delta\Gamma(h ightarrow{{\cal GG}}) { m and}{ m quadratic}\delta^2\Gamma(h ightarrow{{\cal GG}}){ m results}$	<b>39</b>
	F.1 $\Delta \delta \Gamma(h \rightarrow \mathcal{GG})$	39
	F.2 $\delta^2 \Gamma(h \to \mathcal{GG})$ geoSMEFT terms	39
$\mathbf{G}$	$\Delta\delta\Gamma(h ightarrow{\cal A}{\cal A})  ext{ and quadratic } \delta^2\Gamma(h ightarrow{\cal A}{\cal A})  ext{ results}$	40
	G.1 $\Delta^2 \delta \Gamma(h \to \mathcal{A} \mathcal{A})$	40
	G.2 $\delta^2 \Gamma(h \to \mathcal{A} \mathcal{A})$ geoSMEFT terms	42
н	Past literature results	42

### 1 Introduction

In this paper we calculate production and decay results of the Higgs boson in the Standard Model Effective Field Theory (SMEFT) to  $\mathcal{O}(\bar{v}_T^2/\Lambda^2(16\pi^2)^2)$  and  $\mathcal{O}(\bar{v}_T^4/\Lambda^4)$ .<sup>1</sup> SMEFT perturbations to the SM predictions of  $\sigma(\mathcal{GG} \to h)$ ,  $\Gamma(h \to \mathcal{AA})$  need to be characterized to higher orders in the effective field theory (EFT) due to the relative sensitivity that these (SM loop induced) processes carry to SMEFT corrections, compared to other (typically SM tree level) processes [2–4]. This introduces a relevant numerical sensitivity to the treatment of higher order corrections and interference effects in these processes in future (and current [5–8]) global SMEFT fits. In addition, we report results in the  $m_{\Psi} \to 0$  limit for subleading corrections up to dimension eight, and including one loop QCD corrections, for  $\Gamma(h \to \bar{\Psi}\Psi)$ .

To develop such SMEFT results in a reproducible manner, a clear calculation scheme needs to be adopted for perturbative  $(\hbar/16\pi^2)$ , and SMEFT operator  $(1/\Lambda)$  corrections. To systematically calculate in the SMEFT, with fully defined  $\mathcal{O}(\bar{v}_T^4/\Lambda^4)$  corrections for the mass eigenstate fields requires a characterisation of the low n-point interactions that define key experimental quantities (mass, mixing angles, coupling and canonically normalized fields). The geoSMEFT was defined in refs. [9–12] and is a compact formalism that accomplishes this task using field space geometry. These geometries are reflective of the underlying field redefinition invariance present in the SMEFT. We use the geoSMEFT (see appendix A) to define  $\mathcal{O}(\bar{v}_T^4/\Lambda^4)$  corrections in this work.

In ref. [12], it was emphasised that the geoSMEFT — as it is a background field independent formulation of the SMEFT expansion — encourages a class of perturbative corrections to be calculated in a specific background field independent manner using the Background Field Method (BFM) approach to gauge fixing. The operator and loop expansions are not formally independent in SMEFT calculations — due to scheme dependence introduced by defining conventions in leading order results. The geoSMEFT and the BFM are, in this sense, fundamentally linked when theoretical self consistency is demanded to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Here  $\bar{v}_T$  is the electroweak scale vacuum expectation value, including higher dimensional operator corrections [1], and  $\Lambda$  is the cut off scale of the SMEFT.  $\mathcal{G}$  is the canonically normalised gluon in the SMEFT.  $\mathcal{A}$  is the canonically normalized photon field in the SMEFT.

subleading order(s). The scheme dependence is unsurprising in principle, as higher order perturbative corrections always carry a significant scheme dependence. However in the case of the SMEFT, scheme dependence is not simply numerical. Formulated at the Lagrangian level, the SMEFT is based on the freedom to redefine the theoretical description with operators being removed or introduced by field redefinitions (or appropriate use of the Equations of Motion). As such, scheme dependence in the SMEFT is also associated with operator basis dependence, and the specific parameter dependence present in a calculation. This scheme dependence is also present in the geoSMEFT, despite its background field independence, when the field space connections, metrics, etc are expanded out to a particular order in  $1/\Lambda$  in a particular operator basis.

In this paper, we extend/replace and update results in ref. [12] by adding a class of  $\mathcal{O}(\bar{v}_T^2/\Lambda^2(16\pi^2)^2)$  corrections to  $\sigma(\mathcal{G}\mathcal{G} \to h)$ ,  $\Gamma(h \to \mathcal{A}\mathcal{A})$  and  $\Gamma(h \to \mathcal{G}\mathcal{G})$ .<sup>2</sup> This upgrades these results to include a *full* set of self-consistent and cross-consistent  $\mathcal{O}(\bar{v}_T^2/\Lambda^2(16\pi^2)^2)$  and  $\mathcal{O}(\bar{v}_T^4/\Lambda^4)$  corrections at the observable level. We also report corrections to  $\Gamma(h \to \bar{\Psi}\Psi)$  up to dimension eight and including the leading QCD corrections in the  $m_{\Psi} \to 0$  limit for subleading corrections. Finally, we also update the calculation of the total Higgs width in the SMEFT to include a full set of these corrections.

#### 2 Framework of the calculation

Consider the perturbation due to a SMEFT operator to a dimensionless SM amplitude in an on shell process (such as  $\sigma(\mathcal{GG} \to h)$  or  $\Gamma(h \to \mathcal{AA})$ ):

$$\mathcal{A} = \langle \cdots \rangle_{SM} + \sum_{i} C_i^{(6)} \langle \cdots \rangle_{\bar{v}_T^2/\Lambda^2} + \cdots$$
(2.1)

For three-particle on shell processes, such as  $1 \rightarrow 2$  decays or  $2 \rightarrow 1$  production, derivative terms  $\mathcal{O}(\partial^2/\Lambda^2)$  are trivial within the SMEFT expansion so all corrections scale with  $\bar{v}_T^2/\Lambda^2$ . Thus, each amplitude has a series of SMEFT corrections

$$\Sigma_n \langle \cdots \rangle_{\bar{v}_T^{2n} / \Lambda^{2n}} \tag{2.2}$$

associated with operators in  $\mathcal{L}^{(4+2n)}$ .

#### 2.1 Terms retained in the calculation(s)

Due to a proliferation of superscripts and subscripts indicating the various expansions present in these calculations, we introduce a more schematic notation. Amplitudes are expanded as

$$A = \sum_{i,j} \langle \cdots | \cdots \rangle^{i}_{(v^2/\Lambda^2)^j}.$$
(2.3)

 $v^2$  is sometimes used to denote the vacuum expectation value in the SM, and the bare version of this parameter is  $v_0$ . The inferred vacuum expectation value will necessarily be  $\bar{v}_T$  when higher dimensional operators are present, or v when such operator corrections are not present experimentally perturbing measurements. As such, our use of  $\bar{v}_T$  and v is interchangeable in most results below.

We generally use  $\Delta$  to indicate a loop correction while a power of  $\delta$  is used to indicate a SMEFT perturbation  $\propto 1/\Lambda^2$  for more condensed notation, and to track the scaling of cross terms in the expansions. In this work, we focus on improving the treatment of  $\langle \mathcal{FF} | h \rangle^{0,1,2}$ , and  $\langle h | \mathcal{FF} \rangle^{0,1,2}$ , where  $\mathcal{F} = \{\mathcal{G}, \mathcal{A}\}$  compared to ref. [12]. Each of the terms for the amplitudes in this work scale as

$$\begin{array}{ll} \langle \mathcal{F}\mathcal{F}|h\rangle_{SM}^{1} \sim \Delta, & \langle \mathcal{F}\mathcal{F}|h\rangle_{SM}^{2} \sim \Delta^{2}, \\ \langle \mathcal{F}\mathcal{F}|h\rangle_{\mathcal{O}(v^{2}/\Lambda^{2})}^{0} \sim \delta, & \langle \mathcal{F}\mathcal{F}|h\rangle_{\mathcal{O}(v^{4}/\Lambda^{4})}^{0} \sim \delta^{2}, \\ \langle \mathcal{F}\mathcal{F}|h\rangle_{\mathcal{O}(v^{2}/\Lambda^{2})}^{1} \sim \delta\Delta & \langle \mathcal{F}\mathcal{F}|h\rangle_{\mathcal{O}(v^{2}/\Lambda^{2})}^{2} \sim \Delta^{2}\delta, \end{array}$$

and so on. Cross terms when the amplitude is squared scale as

$$\langle \mathcal{FF}|h\rangle_{SM}^1 \langle \mathcal{FF}|h\rangle_{\mathcal{O}(v^2/\Lambda^2)}^1 \propto \Delta^2 \delta.$$
 (2.4)

In this work, we include the corrections  $\langle \mathcal{FF} | h \rangle_{SM}^2$  and  $\langle \mathcal{FF} | h \rangle_{\mathcal{O}(v^2/\Lambda^2)}^1$  as defined above. The first term leads to corrections of the order

$$\langle \mathcal{F}\mathcal{F}|h\rangle_{SM}^2 \langle \mathcal{F}\mathcal{F}|h\rangle_{\mathcal{O}(v^2/\Lambda^2)}^0 \propto \Delta^2 \delta,$$
 (2.5)

which should be retained for consistency at the amplitude squared level when  $\langle \mathcal{FF} | h \rangle_{SM}^1 \times \langle \mathcal{FF} | h \rangle_{\mathcal{O}(v^2/\Lambda^2)}^1$  terms are retained, as in ref. [13]. We retain the terms that scale as  $\delta$ ,  $\Delta$ ,  $\delta^2$ ,  $\Delta^2$ ,  $\delta\Delta$  in the amplitude expansion in this work. Note that  $\Delta, \Delta^2$  terms are pure SM terms. We retain the SM cross terms of order  $\Delta^2$ ,  $\Delta^3$  in the amplitude squared. As well as terms of order  $\delta\Delta$ ,  $\delta\Delta^2$ ,  $\delta^2$ ,  $\delta^2\Delta$  for the SMEFT corrections in the amplitude squared. All other higher order terms are consistently dropped.

Note that when constructing the interference term, one could choose to numerically retain the corrections of the order

$$\langle \mathcal{F}\mathcal{F}|h\rangle_{SM}^2 \langle \mathcal{F}\mathcal{F}|h\rangle_{\mathcal{O}(v^2/\Lambda^2)}^1 \propto \Delta^3 \delta.$$
 (2.6)

If this choice is made to improve numerical accuracy for some Wilson coefficient dependence, then a consistent calculation at the amplitude squared level should also retain the finite and scheme dependent interference terms following from  $\epsilon/\epsilon$  cancelations that are also generated by

$$\langle \mathcal{FF}|h\rangle^{1}_{\mathcal{O}(v^{2}/\Lambda^{2})}\langle \mathcal{FF}|h\rangle^{2}_{SM} \propto \Delta^{3}\delta.$$
 (2.7)

We report a series of results below retaining different classes of terms to make the numerical impact of the different sets of corrections clear (see eq. 3.17 and eq. 3.50). Also note that this class of terms is the same order as

$$\langle \mathcal{F}\mathcal{F}|h\rangle^{0}_{\mathcal{O}(v^{2}/\Lambda^{2})}\langle \mathcal{F}\mathcal{F}|h\rangle^{3}_{SM}$$
 (2.8)

corrections which are also neglected. This class of corrections is particularly sensitive to the combination of the SMEFT counterterms and the SM counterterms in a consistent calculation scheme. See further discussion in appendix A.2.

#### 3 Analytic results

To define the perturbative corrections to next to leading order (NLO), the infrared/ultraviolet (IR/UV) divergences present in the perturbative expansions have to be canceled/subtracted in some calculational scheme. Combining these results with SMEFT perturbations requires some care. We reiterate and incorporate these results to fix notational conventions.

### 3.1 $\sigma(\mathcal{GG} \rightarrow h)$

We define the full amplitude for  $\mathcal{GG} \to h$  as [12]

$$A_{\mathcal{GG}h} = \langle \mathcal{GG}|h\rangle_{SM}^{1} + \langle \mathcal{GG}|h\rangle_{SM}^{2} + \langle \mathcal{GG}|h\rangle_{\mathcal{O}(v^{2}/\Lambda^{2})}^{0} + \langle \mathcal{GG}|h\rangle_{\mathcal{O}(v^{2}/\Lambda^{2})}^{1} + \langle \mathcal{GG}|h\rangle_{\mathcal{O}(v^{4}/\Lambda^{4})}^{0} + \cdots$$

$$(3.1)$$

The two loop SM contributions to this amplitude are  $\langle \mathcal{GG} | h \rangle_{SM}^2$ . The relevant results for  $\langle \mathcal{GG} | h \rangle_{SM}^2$  are known and reported in refs. [14–20].

The first careful study of interference with  $\langle \mathcal{GG}|h\rangle^0_{\mathcal{O}(v^2/\Lambda^2)}$  effects was reported in ref. [2]. Results for  $\langle \mathcal{GG}|h\rangle^1_{\mathcal{O}(v^2/\Lambda^2)}$  are reported in many works, including refs. [21, 22], in different calculation schemes than used here. Renormalization results to dimension eight have started to appear in refs. [23–25] enabling  $\mathcal{O}(\Delta \delta^2)$  results to be developed, and recently results of this order were reported in ref. [26], also in a different scheme than used here.

One of the central points of this paper, is the need to combine input parameter extractions, and observables in a consistent calculational scheme up to  $\mathcal{O}(\delta^2)$  and  $\mathcal{O}(\Delta^2 \delta)$ . We provide significant calculational details for our results to be reproducible including these corrections.

### 3.1.1 $\langle \mathcal{GG}|h\rangle_{SM}^1$ and $\langle \mathcal{GG}|h\rangle_{SM}^2$ results for $\sigma(\mathcal{GG} \to h)$

The top quark leading contribution to the SM amplitude is expanded in perturbation theory as [14, 17, 18, 20, 27–30]

$$\langle \mathcal{GG}|h\rangle_{SM}^{1} = i\,\delta_{ab}\,K_{ab}\,\frac{1}{\bar{v}_{T}^{(0)}}\left(-\frac{s}{\hat{\mu}^{2}}\right)^{-\epsilon}\left(\frac{\alpha_{s}^{0}\,S^{\epsilon}\,\hat{\mu}^{-2\epsilon}}{4\pi}M_{t,SM}^{(0)}\right).\tag{3.2}$$

Here, a, b are the gluon colors with  $\epsilon$  polarization vectors,  $\gamma_E$  is the Euler-Mascheroni constant, and we have shifted to a  $\overline{\text{MS}}$  renormalization introducing  $\mu^2 \rightarrow \hat{\mu}^2 / S = \hat{\mu}^2 e^{\gamma_E} / (4\pi)$  where  $S^{\epsilon} = (4\pi)^{\epsilon} e^{-\epsilon \gamma_E}$  to simplify finite terms. The factor  $K_{ab}$  is

$$K_{ab} \equiv \epsilon_a(p_1) \cdot \epsilon_b(p_2) s/2 - p_1 \cdot \epsilon_b(p_2) p_2 \cdot \epsilon_a(p_1), \qquad (3.3)$$

$$= -\langle h | h \mathcal{G}^{\mu\nu} \mathcal{G}_{\mu\nu} | \epsilon_a \epsilon_b \rangle^0 / 4.$$
(3.4)

where  $p_{1,2}$  are the incoming gluon momenta with  $s = (p_1 + p_2)^2 \equiv m_h^2$  and  $\mathcal{G}_{\mu\nu}$  is the field strength tensor of the canonically normalized gluon field.

The normalized, leading order partonic cross section in the SM then depends on  $(z = \hat{m}_b^2/s)$  as

$$\sigma_{LO}^{SM}(\mathcal{GG} \to h; z) \equiv \frac{\hat{\sigma}_{LO}^{SM}(\mathcal{GG} \to h)}{1 - \epsilon} \, z \, \delta(1 - z) \tag{3.5}$$

where  $\langle \mathcal{GG} | h \rangle_{SM}^0$  starts at one loop, so  $\sigma_{LO}^{SM}(\mathcal{GG} \to h; z)$  scales as  $\Delta^2$  and will be denoted  $\Delta^2 \sigma_{LO}^{SM}(\mathcal{GG} \to h; z)$  to emphasize this fact. Stated another way,

$$\Delta^2 \hat{\sigma}_{LO}^{SM}(\mathcal{GG} \to h; z) \equiv \frac{\pi}{4} \lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \left| C_{h\mathcal{GG}}^{SM} \right|^2, \tag{3.6}$$

where  $C^{SM}_{h\mathcal{G}\mathcal{G}}$  is the Wilson coefficient of the operator  $h\mathcal{G}^a_{\mu\nu}\mathcal{G}^a_{\mu\nu}$  with normalization

$$\Delta C_{h\mathcal{G}\mathcal{G}}^{SM} = -\frac{\alpha_s^{(r)}}{\bar{v}_T^0 \, 16\pi} \left(-\frac{s}{\hat{\mu}^2}\right)^{-\epsilon} M_{t,SM}^{(0)}.\tag{3.7}$$

The corresponding cross section in the SMEFT has a modified Wilson coefficient, given by

$$C_{h\mathcal{G}\mathcal{G}}^{SMEFT} = \Delta C_{h\mathcal{G}\mathcal{G}}^{SM} + \frac{\tilde{C}_{HG}^{(6)}}{\bar{v}_T^0} + \cdots .$$
(3.8)

An expression for  $M_t^{(0)}$  is given in ref. [20] and is numerically<sup>3</sup> in the  $m_t \to \infty$  limit [30]

$$\Delta C_{h\mathcal{G}\mathcal{G}}^{SM,m_t \to \infty} = -\frac{\alpha_s^{(r)}}{\bar{v}_T^0 16\pi} \left(\frac{\hat{m}_t^2}{\hat{\mu}^2}\right)^{-\epsilon} M_{t,SM}^{(0),m_t \to \infty},$$
  
$$= -\frac{\alpha_s^{(r)}}{\bar{v}_T^0 16\pi} \left[-\frac{4}{3} \left(1 + \frac{\pi^2}{12}\epsilon^2 - \epsilon L_{\hat{m}_t} + \frac{1}{2}L_{\hat{m}_t}^2\epsilon^2 + \mathcal{O}(\epsilon^3)\right)\right], \qquad (3.9)$$

where  $L_m = \log (m^2/\hat{\mu}^2)$ . The numerical term in this expression in the square brackets is related to the function commonly defined and used in the literature  $A_{1/2}(\tau_t) = -1.37664$  in the exact top mass limit, where  $\tau_t = 4\hat{m}_t^2/\hat{m}_h^2 = 7.59871$ . Similarly, ref. [30] gives the exact higher order expressions to build up

$$\langle \mathcal{GG}|h\rangle_{SM}^2 = i\,\delta_{ab}\,K_{ab}\left[\left(-\frac{s}{\hat{\mu}^2}\right)^{-\epsilon}\frac{\alpha_s^0\,S^\epsilon\hat{\mu}^{-2\epsilon}}{4\pi}\right]^2\frac{1}{\bar{v}_T^0}\,M_{t,SM}^{(1)},\tag{3.10}$$

where  $\langle \mathcal{GG} | h \rangle^2_{SM}$  scales as a  $\Delta^2$  perturbation and

$$M_{t,SM}^{(1)} = M_{UV} + M_{UV,m} + M_{IR} + M_{fin} + M_{fin,s} \log\left(-\frac{s}{\hat{\mu}^2}\right).$$
(3.11)

Each of the terms in the decomposition in eq. (3.10) given in eq. (3.11) is defined in ref. [30] and previous literature using a variety of calculation schemes;  $M_{UV,m}$  corresponds to UV poles and related finite terms canceled by UV mass renormalization,  $M_{UV}$  corresponds to the remaining UV renormalization of the NLO result, and  $M_{fin}$  and  $M_{fin,s}$  correspond to finite NLO terms, with the later multiplying the complete scale dependence in  $M_{t,SM}^{(1)}$ . Finally,  $M_{IR}$  corresponds to finite terms related to IR driven cancelations between these NLO contributions to  $\sigma(\mathcal{GG} \to h)$  and  $\sigma(\mathcal{GG} \to h\mathcal{G})$ . Results in the literature must be modified into the background field method (BFM) to combine consistently with a BFM based SMEFT calculation and counterterms (i.e. when using the geoSMEFT to define  $1/\Lambda^n$ corrections). We report the required modifications in the following sections.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>A factor of four has been absorbed into this expression comparing to  $M_{LO}^0$  in ref. [20].

#### 3.1.2 NLO finite terms

We organise the NLO contributions by defining

$$\langle \mathcal{GG}|h\rangle_{SM}^{2,F} \equiv i\,\delta_{ab}\,\frac{K_{ab}}{\bar{v}_T^0} \left[ \left( -\frac{s}{\hat{\mu}^2} \right)^{-\epsilon} \frac{\alpha_s^0 S^\epsilon \hat{\mu}^{-2\epsilon}}{4\pi} \right]^2 \left( M_{t,SM}^{(1)} - M_{UV} - M_{UV,m} - M_{IR} \right) \tag{3.12}$$

so that the UV and IR subtractions and cancelations, which have an intricate interplay in these results are separately considered. The  $\langle \mathcal{GG} | h \rangle_{SM}^{1,F}$  renormalized and IR subtracted finite terms (so defined) are related to matching and running in the EFT. In the  $m_t \to \infty$ limit, the corresponding subset of terms is

$$\langle \mathcal{GG}|h\rangle_{SM}^{2,F} = \frac{\alpha_s^{(r)}}{4\pi} \left[ 11 + c_1 \epsilon + (-\beta_0 + c_2 \epsilon) \log\left(-\frac{\hat{m}_h^2}{\hat{\mu}^2}\right) \right] \langle \mathcal{GG}|h\rangle_{SM,\epsilon\to0}^1, \tag{3.13}$$

where  $\beta_0 = 11N_c/3 - 2n_F/3$ ,  $N_c = 3$  and [30]

$$c_1 = \left[ -\frac{\pi^2 \beta_0}{12} + 28 \log(z) + 12 \zeta_3 - \frac{40}{3} \right], \tag{3.14}$$

$$c_{2} = \left[ -\frac{1}{2} \beta_{0} \log\left(\frac{-s}{\mu^{2}}\right) - 2\beta_{0} \log(z) + 8 \right].$$
 (3.15)

Here  $\log(z) = \log(-s/m_t^2)/2$ . The  $11\alpha_s/4\pi$  factor in eq. (3.13) is recognised as the two loop matching contribution to the  $m_t \to \infty$  effective operator [14]. This non-log term was included in ref. [13]. The log term is an additional contribution present that is not captured in the two loop matching contribution.<sup>4</sup> This log dependence also is consistent with naive expectations as the direct matching contribution at two loops needs to be augmented with log terms due to running in the EFT. To further consistently improve these results beyond ref. [13] we must also improve the finite terms resulting from the UV and IR subtracted cancelation between  $M_{t,SM}^{(1)}$  and the IR contributions from the process  $\sigma(\mathcal{G}\mathcal{G} \to h\mathcal{G})$ .<sup>5</sup>

Interference of  $\langle \mathcal{GG} | h \rangle^0_{\mathcal{O}(v^2/\Lambda^2)}$  with  $\langle \mathcal{GG} | h \rangle^{2,F}_{SM}$  leads to the contributions

$$\frac{\Delta^2 \delta \sigma (\mathcal{G}\mathcal{G} \to h)_F}{\Delta^2 \hat{\sigma}_{LO}^{SM} (\mathcal{G}\mathcal{G} \to h; z)} = \frac{\alpha_s}{2\pi} (11 - \beta_0 L_{\hat{m}_h}) \frac{\tilde{C}_{HG}^{(6)}}{\bar{v}_T^0 \Delta C_{h\mathcal{G}\mathcal{G}}^{SM}},$$
$$= 6 (11 - \beta_0 L_{\hat{m}_h}) \tilde{C}_{HG}^{(6)}. \tag{3.16}$$

The  $\epsilon$  terms in  $c_1, c_2$  interfere and generate constant finite terms in the  $\langle \mathcal{GG} | h \rangle_{SM}^2$  $\langle \mathcal{GG} | h \rangle_{\mathcal{O}(v^2/\Lambda^2)}^1$  interference with the renormalization of the leading order cross section. These contributions are

$$\frac{\Delta^3 \delta \sigma (\mathcal{G}\mathcal{G} \to h)_F}{\Delta^2 \hat{\sigma}_{LO}^{SM} (\mathcal{G}\mathcal{G} \to h; z)} = -\frac{3\beta_0 \alpha_s}{2\pi} \left( \operatorname{Re}[c_1] + \operatorname{Re}[c_2] L_{\hat{m}_h} + \frac{3\pi^2 \beta_0}{2} \right) \tilde{C}_{HG}^{(6)}.$$
(3.17)

 $<sup>^{4}</sup>$ We thank Babis Anastasiou for confirming some typos in the literature result of ref. [30] that are corrected for here.

 $<sup>{}^{5}</sup>$ The hat superscripts have a dual meaning, indicating a input parameter for the higgs mass and the use of  $\overline{\rm MS}$  renormalization for the renormalization scale.

#### 3.1.3 UV divergences

The renormaliation of the SM result has the remaining contributions

$$\mathcal{M}_{UV} + \mathcal{M}_{UV,m} = \left(-\frac{s}{\hat{\mu}^2}\right)^{-\epsilon} \left(\frac{Z_{m_t}^2}{Z_{m_h^2}} \tau_t \frac{\partial}{\partial \tau_t}\right) Z_g^2 Z_{\hat{\mathcal{G}}} \frac{Z_{\hat{h}}^{1/2}}{Z_v^{1/2}} i \,\delta_{ab} \, K_{ab} \, \frac{1}{\bar{v}_T^{(r)}} \frac{\alpha_s^{(r)}}{4\pi} \, M_{t,SM}^{(0)}. \tag{3.18}$$

The result in eq. (3.18) has one overall power of  $(-s/\hat{\mu}^2)^{-\epsilon}$  due to the conventional choice in refs. [20, 30], followed here, to organize the calculation in such a way that we factorize the complete  $\mu$  dependence in  $M_{t,SM}^{(1)}$  into the terms with "fin" superscripts.

Here we have modified the notation of ref. [20] to make the mass dimensions of the corrections clearer.<sup>6</sup> In the SM, the non-vanishing counter terms (proportional to the QCD coupling) are  $Z_g, Z_{\hat{G}}, Z_{m_t} - Z_{m_h^2}$  does not have QCD corrections in the SM. The neglect of  $Z_{\hat{h}}^{1/2}, Z_v^{1/2}$  is trivial when only considering their lack of one loop QCD corrections, but when considering EW corrections the use of the background field method introduces important differences compared to alternate schemes. In the background field method, EW corrections from  $Z_{\hat{h}}^{1/2}, Z_v^{1/2}$  exactly cancel, including finite terms — a helpful simplification.

In refs. [20, 21, 30] a  $\overline{\text{MS}}$  renormalization scheme is chosen so that the mass counter term is effectively given by

$$\Delta Z_{m_t} = -\frac{\alpha_s^{(r)}}{4\pi} C_F \frac{3}{\epsilon}, \qquad (3.19)$$

with  $C_F = (N_c^2 - 1)/2N_c$ . We adopt this  $\overline{\text{MS}}$  renormalization for the top quark mass in this work. Note that in the BFM, the fermion fields are not modified and the counterterm is the same and gauge independent. To use the results in ref. [30] we need to account for the finite terms in the renormalization of the leading order result. The explicit form of the finite terms due to mass renormalization is given by

$$\mathcal{M}_{UV,m} = \frac{6}{\epsilon} C_F \left( -\frac{s}{\hat{\mu}^2} \right)^{\epsilon} (m_t^0)^2 \frac{\partial}{\partial (m_t^0)^2} \left( \left( \frac{(m_t^0)^2}{-s} \right)^{-\epsilon} \langle \mathcal{G}\mathcal{G} | h \rangle_{SM}^1 \right)$$
(3.20)

which leads to a pure finite term, even in the  $m_t \to \infty$  limit, that is effectively a matching contribution to the leading order operator  $C_{HG}^{(6)}$ . The resulting correction is given by

$$\frac{\Delta^2 \delta \sigma(\mathcal{G}\mathcal{G} \to h)_{ren,m}}{\Delta^2 \hat{\sigma}_{LO}^{SM}(\mathcal{G} \to h; z)} = 36 \times C_F \tilde{C}_{HG}^{(6)}.$$
(3.21)

The form of  $Z_g$  and  $Z_{\hat{g}}$  depend on the scheme and gauge chosen. In refs. [20, 21, 30], the combination of  $Z_g^2 Z_{\hat{g}}$  leads to the effective renormalization to cancel the poles in the

 $<sup>{}^{6}\</sup>langle \mathcal{GG}|h\rangle_{SM}^{1}$  is a function of a dimensionless ratio in the bare masses (with 0 superscripts)  $\tau_{t}^{0} = 4(m_{t}^{(0)})^{2}/(m_{h}^{(0)})^{2}$ . To make the mass dimensions of the corrections clearer and extend to the SMEFT more easily, we choose to take a derivative with respect to  $\tau_{t}$  more explicit. The correction comes about due to Taylor expanding the perturbative corrections within  $Z_{m_{t}}^{2}$  in the SM, which reduces to past results for the SM, once correcting for a typo in ref. [20] in Equation 7.6, which is missing a factor of  $m_{t}$  in the numerator. The notation agrees in the mass dimensions with ref. [30].

matrix element

$$Z_{g}^{2} Z_{\hat{\mathcal{G}}} \left(-\frac{s}{\hat{\mu}^{2}}\right)^{-\epsilon} i \,\delta_{ab} \,K_{ab} \,\frac{1}{\bar{v}_{T}^{(r)}} \,\frac{\alpha_{s}^{(r)}}{4\pi} \,M_{t,SM}^{(0)} = -\left[\frac{\alpha_{s}^{(r)}}{4\pi}\right]^{2} \frac{\beta_{0}}{\epsilon} (-\frac{s}{\hat{\mu}^{2}})^{-\epsilon} i \,\delta_{ab} \,K_{ab} \,\frac{1}{\bar{v}_{T}^{(r)}} \,M_{t,SM}^{(0)}.$$

$$(3.22)$$

When considering the calculation in the  $m_t \to \infty$  limit, a composite operator is present. In the unbroken phase of the theory, the operator is  $H^{\dagger}H\mathcal{G}^{\mu\nu}\mathcal{G}_{\mu\nu}$ . The composite operator renormalization is performed after the gluon wavefunction renormalization is subtracted. In ref. [21], and related works, both the gluon field and the composite operator are not further renormalized due to the calculational scheme chosen, so this subtlety is rather irrelevant. The full cancelation of the UV pole comes from the renormalization of the strong coupling as a result.

In the BFM, the relationship between the QCD coupling and wavefunction renormalization is  $\mu^{2\epsilon} Z_g^2 Z_{\hat{\mathcal{G}}} \equiv 1$ , including finite terms. On the other hand, the composite operator, in this case, gets its own renormalization counter term [1]

$$Z_{HG} = 1 - \frac{\beta_0 \,\alpha_s}{4\pi \,\epsilon} + \cdots \,. \tag{3.23}$$

which leads to the same net subtraction of UV poles. In the BFM, this renormalization occurs with the SM matching contribution to the composite operator interfering with  $\langle \mathcal{GG} | h \rangle^0_{\mathcal{O}(p^2/\Lambda^2)}$  and the  $C_{HG}$  Wilson coefficient itself. This renormalization is given by

$$\langle \mathcal{G}\mathcal{G}|h\rangle^{0}_{\mathcal{O}(v^{2}/\Lambda^{2})} \rightarrow Z_{HG} \frac{\tilde{C}_{HG}^{(6)}}{\bar{v}_{T}} \langle \mathcal{G}^{\mu\nu}\mathcal{G}_{\mu\nu}h\rangle_{0}.$$
 (3.24)

If the choice is also made, as in ref. [21], to normalize the operator  $\tilde{C}_{HG}^{(6)}$  by factors of  $(g_s^0)^2$  explicitly, then the renormalization of the composite operator can again vanish, and a further renormalization due to the extra factor of the strong coupling is introduced, again leading to the same net counter term being introduced. This subtlety potentially introduces some confusion when comparing results in the literature if different normalizations, and calculation schemes are not carefully defined.

The UV pole canceled by these counter terms also (accidentally) cancels against an IR contribution with opposite sign. This renormalization introduces a contribution to the cross section

$$\frac{\Delta^2 \delta \sigma(\mathcal{G}\mathcal{G} \to h)_{ren}}{\Delta^2 \hat{\sigma}_{LO}^{SM}(\mathcal{G} \to h; z)} = -6\beta_0 \left[\frac{1}{\epsilon} + 1 - L_{\hat{m}_t}\right] \tilde{C}_{HG}^{(6)}.$$
(3.25)

The finite term as  $\epsilon \to 0$  comes from the  $\epsilon$  dependence in the SM amplitude interfered with.

### 3.1.4 IR divergences

For the IR divergences, it is well known that a universal form is present in the pole structure for a renormalized one loop amplitude for the production of a Higgs boson from two massless gauge bosons in the SM. The [31–33] dipole subtraction scheme allows one to write  $\mathcal{M}_{t,IR}^{(1)}$ with a universal (scheme dependent) set of IR poles as [20, 30]

$$\mathcal{M}_{t,IR}^{(1)} = \frac{-e^{\epsilon \gamma_E}}{\Gamma(1-\epsilon)} \left[ \frac{2N_c}{\epsilon^2} + \frac{\beta_0}{\epsilon} \right] M_{t,SM}^{(0)}.$$
(3.26)



**Figure 1**. QCD one loop contribution to  $\mathcal{GG} \rightarrow h$ .

in  $\overline{\text{MS}}$ . The number of active flavors is  $N_f = 5$ . By definition, the IR physics before heavy states are integrated out is the same as that in the SMEFT with a fixed set of matched Wilson coefficients. The SMEFT contains additional local contact operator corrections to the SM interaction terms that modify the UV. In principle, the presence of higher order local contact operators can modify the IR radiation field present compared to the SM with a point like higgs particle, leading to further modifications of this result at higher orders. This is the SMEFT multipole expansion, reflecting possible Higgs substructure, see discussion in refs. [34, 35]. In practice, this does not occur in the SMEFT to the level of precision we are interested in calculating in this paper.

The interference of the remaining NLO contributions to  $\mathcal{GG} \to h$ 

$$i\delta_{ab}\frac{K_{ab}}{\bar{v}_T^0}\left[\left(-\frac{s}{\hat{\mu}^2}\right)^{-\epsilon}\frac{\alpha_s^0 S^\epsilon \hat{\mu}^{-2\epsilon}}{4\pi}\right]^2 M_{IR},\tag{3.27}$$

with the tree level insertion of  $\tilde{C}_{HG}^{(6) 7}$  gives the subtraction scheme dependent terms

$$\frac{\Delta^2 \delta \sigma(\mathcal{G}\mathcal{G} \to h)_{sch.}}{\Delta^2 \hat{\sigma}_{LO,\epsilon \to 0}^{SM}(\mathcal{G}\mathcal{G} \to h;z)} = 6 \left[ -\frac{6}{\epsilon^2} + 6\frac{L_+}{\epsilon} - \frac{6}{\epsilon} - 14 + 3\pi^2 - 3L_+^2 + 6L_+ + \beta_0 L_{\hat{m}_h} \right] \tilde{C}_{HG}^{(6)}.$$

$$(3.28)$$

Note that the IR poles are the same in the renormalization scheme used in refs. [20, 21, 30] and in the BFM. The corresponding SMEFT expression differs from the SM in finite terms as the  $\epsilon$  expansion of  $M_{t,SM}^{(0),m_t\to\infty}$  is not squared. The log structure and constant terms differ in the SMEFT and the SM, even though the IR pole structure is the same, as the higher order terms in  $\epsilon$  coming from the SM top sub-loop function are different.

Adding up all terms gives the NLO results from figure 1 of order  $\Delta^2 \delta \sigma(\mathcal{GG} \to h)$ 

$$\frac{\Delta^2 \delta \sigma(\mathcal{G}\mathcal{G} \to h)}{\Delta^2 \hat{\sigma}_{LO,\epsilon \to 0}^{SM}(\mathcal{G}\mathcal{G} \to h;z)} = 6 \left[ -\frac{6}{\epsilon^2} - \frac{\beta_0}{\epsilon} + 6\frac{L_+}{\epsilon} - \frac{6}{\epsilon} + \beta_0 L_{\hat{m}_t} + 3\pi^2 + 5 - \beta_0 - 3L_+^2 + 6L_+ \right] \tilde{C}_{HG}^{(6)}, \tag{3.29}$$

Here we have suppressed common factors of  $\delta(1-z)$  in the numerator and denominator. The  $\epsilon$  poles eq. (3.29) are all of IR origin. These poles cancel against poles in  $\mathcal{G}\mathcal{G} \to h\mathcal{G}$ in the limit that the final state gluon is soft/colinear for any local contact operator of the form  $h\mathcal{G}^a_{\mu\nu}\mathcal{G}^a_{\mu\nu}$ . There are finite term differences between the SMEFT and the SM involved in this IR cancelation.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>Here we introduced the notation  $L_{+} = L_{\hat{m}_{h}} + L_{\hat{m}_{t}}$ .



Figure 2.  $\mathcal{GG} \rightarrow h\mathcal{G}$  Required to cancel IR divergences in the two loop matrix element for  $\mathcal{GG} \rightarrow h$ .

The  $\mathcal{GG}\to h\mathcal{G}$  amplitude squared is shown in figure 2 and is a modification of results in ref. [14]

$$|\mathcal{A}(\mathcal{G}\mathcal{G} \to h\mathcal{G})|^{2} = (4\pi) \, 384 \, \alpha_{s}^{(0)} |C_{h\mathcal{G}\mathcal{G}}^{SMEFT}|^{2} \frac{(\hat{m}_{h}^{8} + s^{4} + t^{4} + u^{4})(1 - 2\epsilon) + \frac{1}{2}\epsilon (\hat{m}_{h}^{4} + s^{2} + t^{2} + u^{2})^{2}}{st \, u},$$

$$(3.30)$$

where  $C_{hGG}$  is the coefficient of  $\langle h | \mathcal{GG} \rangle^0$  and s, t, u here are the usual Mandelstam variables for this  $2 \to 2$  process. Expanding out to the linear in  $\tilde{C}_{HG}$  interference term

$$\Delta \delta |\mathcal{A}(\mathcal{G}\mathcal{G} \to h\mathcal{G})|^{2} = \frac{768\pi\alpha_{s}^{(0)}}{\bar{v}_{T}^{0}} 2\operatorname{Re}\left(\frac{\Delta C_{h\mathcal{G}\mathcal{G}}^{SM}}{\mu^{2\epsilon}}\tilde{C}_{HG}\right) \frac{(\hat{m}_{h}^{8} + s^{4} + t^{4} + u^{4})(1 - 2\epsilon) + \frac{1}{2}\epsilon(\hat{m}_{h}^{4} + s^{2} + t^{2} + u^{2})^{2}}{stu}.$$
(3.31)

In the  $m_t \to \infty$  limit, this becomes (after renormalizing)<sup>8</sup>

$$\begin{split} &\Delta \delta |\mathcal{A}(\mathcal{G}\mathcal{G} \to h\mathcal{G})|^2 \\ &= \left(\frac{Z_{m_t}^2}{Z_{m_h^2}} \frac{\partial}{\partial \tau_t}\right) Z_g^2 Z_{\hat{\mathcal{G}}} \frac{Z_{\hat{h}}^{1/2}}{Z_v^{1/2}} Z_{HG} \frac{128(\alpha_s^{(r)})^2 \mu^{2\epsilon}}{(\bar{v}_T^{(r)})^2} \left(1 - \epsilon L_{\hat{m}_t} + \epsilon^2 \left(\frac{\pi^2}{12} + \frac{1}{2}L_{\hat{m}_t}^2\right)\right) \\ &\times \frac{(\hat{m}_h^8 + s^4 + t^4 + u^4)(1 - 2\epsilon) + \frac{1}{2}\epsilon (\hat{m}_h^4 + s^2 + t^2 + u^2)^2}{st \, u} \tilde{C}_{HG}. \end{split}$$
(3.32)

Dropping higher order terms and using the BFM cancelation  $\mu^{2\epsilon} Z_g^2 Z_{\hat{\mathcal{G}}} \equiv 1$  simplifies the result. Multiplying by *d* dimensional phase space,

$$d\Phi_2 \equiv \frac{1}{8\pi} S^{\epsilon} e^{\epsilon \gamma_E} \frac{1}{\Gamma(1-\epsilon)} \left(\frac{1}{s}\right)^{\epsilon} \left[1 - \frac{\hat{m}_h^2}{s}\right]^{1-2\epsilon} \int_0^1 \omega^{-\epsilon} (1-\omega)^{-\epsilon} d\omega \tag{3.33}$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup>Here we are dividing by a 1/2 that we explain below.

and performing the color averaging and polarization sums yields

$$\sigma(\mathcal{G}\mathcal{G} \to h\mathcal{G}) = \frac{1}{512s(1-\epsilon)^2} |\mathcal{A}(\mathcal{G}\mathcal{G} \to h\mathcal{G})|^2 d\Phi_2.$$
(3.34)

Explicitly, while using the definitions in appendix C for the plus distributions we find  $\Delta^2 \delta \sigma (\mathcal{G} \mathcal{G} \to h \mathcal{G})_{IR} / \hat{\sigma}_{LO,\epsilon \to 0}^{SM} (\mathcal{G} \mathcal{G} \to h)$  is given by

$$6\left[\frac{6}{\epsilon^{2}}-6\frac{L_{+}}{\epsilon}+\frac{6}{\epsilon}+3L_{+}^{2}-6L_{+}-\pi^{2}+6\right]\delta(1-z)\tilde{C}_{HG}$$
  
+6
$$\left[\left(12f_{1}(z)\left(L_{\hat{m}_{h}}-\log(z)\right)-11f_{1}(z)+11z\right)f_{1}(z)+11\left(1-z\right)^{2}z\right]\left(\frac{1}{1-z}\right)_{+}\tilde{C}_{HG}$$
  
+144
$$f_{1}^{2}(z)\left(\frac{\log(1-z)}{1-z}\right)_{+}\tilde{C}_{HG}-72f_{1}^{2}(z)\left[\frac{1}{\epsilon}+1-L_{\hat{m}_{t}}\right]\left(\frac{1}{1-z}\right)_{+}\tilde{C}_{HG}.$$
(3.35)

Here the distributions of the numerator have been included again that were suppressed in eq. (3.29). Replacing the  $1/(1-z)_+$  distribution in favor of the Altarelli-Parisi (AP) splitting function via eq. (C.4) results in

$$6\left[\frac{6}{\epsilon^{2}} + \frac{\beta_{0}}{\epsilon} - 6\frac{L_{+}}{\epsilon} + \frac{6}{\epsilon} + 3L_{+}^{2} - 6L_{+} - \pi^{2} + 6\right] \delta(1-z)\tilde{C}_{HG} - 72f_{1}^{2}(z)\left[1-L_{\hat{m}_{t}}\right] \left(\frac{1}{1-z}\right)_{+}\tilde{C}_{HG} + 6\left[\left(12f_{1}(z)\left(L_{\hat{m}_{h}} - \log(z)\right) - 11f_{1}(z) + 11z\right)f_{1}(z) + 11(1-z)^{2}z\right] \left(\frac{1}{1-z}\right)_{+}\tilde{C}_{HG} + 144f_{1}^{2}(z)\left(\frac{\log(1-z)}{1-z}\right)_{+}\tilde{C}_{HG} - 36zp_{\mathcal{GG}}(z)\left[\frac{1}{\epsilon}\right]\tilde{C}_{HG}.$$
(3.36)

We follow the splitting functions conventions of Ellis-Stirling-Webber [36] and introduce a counter term to remove the residual  $1/\epsilon$ 

$$\Delta^{2} \delta \sigma_{DRc.t}^{AP} \equiv 36 \,\Delta^{2} \hat{\sigma}_{LO,\epsilon \to 0}^{SMEFT}(\mathcal{G} \,\mathcal{G} \to h) \left[ \left( \frac{\mu^{2}}{\mu_{F}^{2}} \right)^{\epsilon} \right] (4\pi)^{\epsilon} \frac{\Gamma(1+\epsilon)\Gamma(1-\epsilon)^{2}}{\Gamma(1-2\epsilon)} \left[ \frac{1}{\epsilon} \right] z \, p_{\mathcal{G}\mathcal{G}}(z) \tilde{C}_{HG}$$

$$(3.37)$$

where  $\mu_F$  is a low renormalization scale for the Altarelli-Parisi splitting function, while  $\mu$  is the higher renormalization scale introduced for renormalizing the SMEFT perturbations. Comparing to the literature, the Altarelli-Parisi function and counter term conventions differ between references, in particular refs. [14, 21, 36, 37]. At times, conventions/schemes are unspecified.

The counter term is introduced proportional to the leading order SMEFT×SM interference, as it must be proportional to  $\tilde{C}_{HG}$ . Formally, the resulting splitting function is a SMEFT correction to the SM splitting function, since it depends on the Wilson coefficient  $\tilde{C}_{HG}$ . The introduction of the splitting function represents the factorization of the long and short distance physics proportional to  $\tilde{C}_{HG}$ . It is possible to modify the counterterm introduced via the replacement  $1/\epsilon \rightarrow 1/\epsilon + 1 - L_{\hat{m}_t}$ . This choice simplifies the final answer obtained, removing all  $L_{\hat{m}_t}$  dependence. As the evaluation of the resulting perturbation of the cross section is done in fixed order perturbation theory with  $\mu \sim m_h$ , the scale  $\mu$  in the SMEFT AP counterterm is in the end set to a large renormalization scale. Here we forgo this simplification of the final results, and retain an explicit factor of  $1-L_{\hat{m}_t}$ . We also note that an alternate calculational scheme convention for dipole subtraction to address  $L_{\hat{m}_t}$  dependence is used in ref. [38], based on ref. [39]. Essentially, this is a rearrangement of  $L_{\hat{m}_t}$  in intermediate steps of the calculation Our use of results from refs. [20, 30] to define the SMEFT corrections to the cross section is similar to (but distinct from) refs. [38, 39] in intermediate steps, in that the Catani one loop IR operator multiplies the full  $\epsilon$  series with  $L_{\hat{m}_t}$  dependence for the SM leading order cross section. The net real emission result is consistent with some past literature, including refs. [38, 40] once schemes and calculational conventions are appropriately accounted for.

The final result with  $L_+$  is

$$6\left[\frac{6}{\epsilon^{2}} + \frac{\beta_{0}}{\epsilon} - 6\frac{L_{+}}{\epsilon} + \frac{6}{\epsilon} + 3L_{+}^{2} + \beta_{0}(1 - L_{\hat{m}_{t}}) - 6L_{+} - \pi^{2} + 6\right]\delta(1 - z)\tilde{C}_{HG} + 6\left[(12f_{1}(z)(L_{\hat{m}_{h}} - \log(z)) - 11f_{1}(z) + 11z)f_{1}(z) + 11(1 - z)^{2}z\right]\left(\frac{1}{1 - z}\right)_{+}\tilde{C}_{HG} + 144f_{1}^{2}(z)\left(\frac{\log(1 - z)}{1 - z}\right)_{+}\tilde{C}_{HG} + 36z\log\left(\frac{\hat{\mu}^{2}}{\mu_{F}^{2}}\right)p_{\mathcal{GG}}(z)\tilde{C}_{HG}() - 72f_{1}^{2}(z)[1 - L_{\hat{m}_{t}}]\left(\frac{1}{1 - z}\right)_{+}\tilde{C}_{HG} + \mathcal{O}(\epsilon).$$

$$(3.38)$$

### 3.1.5 Combined NLO $\tilde{C}_{HG}^{(6)}$ result

Combining the virtual and real emission, the poles in  $\epsilon$  and the log squared terms exactly cancel out. The final result is quite compact

$$\frac{\Delta^2 \delta \sigma^{SMEFT}}{\Delta^2 \hat{\sigma}_{LO,\epsilon \to 0}^{SM}} \frac{1}{2 \tilde{C}_{HG}^{(6)}} = 12 \left[ \pi^2 + \frac{11}{2} \right] \delta(1-z) - 66(1-z)^3 + 144 f_1^2(z) \left( \frac{\log(1-z)}{1-z} \right)_+ + 72 f_1^2(z) \left[ L_+ -\log(z) - 1 \right] \left( \frac{1}{1-z} \right)_+ + 36 z \, p_{\mathcal{GG}}(z) \log\left( \frac{\hat{\mu}^2}{\mu_F^2} \right).$$

$$(3.39)$$

This expression is understood to define the numerical rescaling required to generate the NLO result from the numerical value of the SM cross section. The limit  $\epsilon \rightarrow 0$  is thus already taken in determining the SM result, and the distribution in z is averaged over the parton distribution functions in the SM result.

The full NLO results are different than those reported in ref. [12] and should be understood to supersede those results. The improvements of the calculation are multifold. The full  $\epsilon$  dependence results reported in ref. [30] leads to modification of finite terms due to cross terms in the  $1/\epsilon$  series and the top sub-loop used in the  $m_t \to \infty$  limit. The calculation in ref. [12] used the two loop matching calculation onto the heavy top quark effective operator, but this approximation to the full NLO matrix element in the  $m_t \to \infty$ limit cannot capture a full set of log terms (and descendent finite terms) that are numerically relevant. In addition, the calculation in ref. [12] neglected the full two loop matrix element interference with the tree level SMEFT operator insertion, only retaining a (poor) approximation of the one loop SM amplitude for interfering with the one loop contribution to the QCD matrix element proportional to the operator  $C_{HG}$ . Further, the cross section result

$$\Delta^2 \delta \sigma^{SMEFT} (\mathcal{G} \mathcal{G} \to h) \propto \left(\frac{\alpha_s}{4\pi^2}\right)^2 \tilde{C}_{HG}, \qquad (3.40)$$

has two contributions. The interference of

$$\langle \mathcal{GG}|h\rangle_{SM}^2 \times \langle \mathcal{GG}|h\rangle_{\tilde{C}_{HG}}^0,$$
 (3.41)

and the interference of

$$\langle \mathcal{GG}|h\rangle_{SM}^1 \times \langle \mathcal{GG}|h\rangle_{\tilde{C}_{HG}}^1.$$
 (3.42)

In the  $m_t \to \infty$  limit, the leading order result for  $\mathcal{GG} \to h$  in the SM follows from the same local contact operator that receives an additive SMEFT contribution from  $\tilde{C}_{HG}$ . Each contribution to the cross section can be built up with the full NLO virtual amplitude results in ref. [30]. As the same local contact operator is present in the virtual NLO result, and the  $\epsilon$  expansion of the SM leading order sub-diagram is properly accounted for, the two loop result "descends one loop order" in the  $m_t \to \infty$  limit so that

$$\lim_{m_t \to \infty} \langle \mathcal{G}\mathcal{G}|h \rangle_{SM}^2 \frac{C_{HG}}{\bar{v}_T^0 \Delta C_{h\mathcal{G}\mathcal{G}}^{SM}} = \langle \mathcal{G}\mathcal{G}|h \rangle_{\tilde{C}_{HG}}^1.$$
(3.43)

Similarly,

$$\lim_{m_t \to \infty} \langle \mathcal{G}\mathcal{G}|h \rangle_{SM}^1 \equiv \langle \mathcal{G}\mathcal{G}|h \rangle_{\tilde{C}_{HG}}^0 \times \frac{\bar{v}_T^0 \Delta C_{h\mathcal{G}\mathcal{G}}^{SM}}{\tilde{C}_{HG}}.$$
(3.44)

The rescaling differences in each of these individual expressions cancel in the interference of the virtual terms. The real emission result is determined at the amplitude squared level in eq. (3.31), where the same rescaling relationship is present in the  $m_t \to \infty$  limit. Combining the two sets of interference terms with their corresponding real emission results leads to the overall factor of 2 on the left hand side of eq. (3.39).<sup>9</sup> Such relationships between results is an example of the utility of the EFT approach. Equation (3.39) needs to be added to the terms in appendix E taken (unchanged) from ref. [12] and reiterated here for completeness to build up the full NLO result.

The results of ref. [12], like most SMEFT literature, report results in a mixed  $\overline{\text{MS}}$ like scheme with on-shell renormalization of  $\alpha_s$  combined with BFM calculational scheme results. Here we calculate in a consistent fashion in the BFM, and report the first complete calculation of this form in the literature in the SMEFT for this process (to our knowledge) in the  $\overline{\text{MS}}$  scheme. The factorization of the results into a AP splitting function still requires the introduction of a counterterm explicitly introducing dependence on the lower  $\mu_F$  scale in the process. The  $\beta_0$  dependent log proportional to  $\delta(1-z)$  is absent as the counterterms of the background field gluon wavefunction renormalization cancels against the renormalization of the strong coupling. This scheme dependence, and the ability to rewrite distribution terms using eq. (C.5) should be noted when comparing results in differing schemes.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup>Note that the real emission result cancels the IR divergences in both of the interference terms leading to the 1/2 in eq. (3.32).

### 3.2 $\Gamma(h \rightarrow \mathcal{GG})$

The matrix elements for  $h \to \mathcal{GG}$  and  $\mathcal{GG} \to h$  are related by crossing symmetry. As in the case of Higgs production, the  $\mathcal{O}(\alpha_s^2)$  interference contributions for this decay are

$$\langle h | \mathcal{GG} \rangle_{SM}^2 \times \langle h | \mathcal{GG} \rangle_{\tilde{C}_{HG}}^0,$$
 (3.45)

and

$$\langle h | \mathcal{GG} \rangle^1_{SM} \times \langle h | \mathcal{GG} \rangle^1_{\tilde{C}_{HG}}.$$
 (3.46)

Also analogously to  $\mathcal{GG} \to h$ , there are IR divergences cancelled by  $h \to \mathcal{GGG}$  — determined from the same matrix elements reported in previous sections via crossing symmetry — with additional contributions from  $h \to \mathcal{G}\bar{q}q$  in the soft-collinear limit.

Some contributions to this decay are unchanged from the results in ref. [12] and are reiterated in appendix F. Here, we focus on presenting the differences compared to past results due to the full two loop SM matrix elements now incorporated. We uniform calculation conventions in our  $\Gamma(h \to \mathcal{GG})$  results with those in section 3. The two loop amplitudes explicitly presented in ref. [30] are the key SM input, as in section 3.

The leading order results for the decay  $\Gamma(h \to \mathcal{GG})$  follows from  $C_{h\mathcal{GG}}^{SMEFT}$ , with the decay width depending on this Wilson coefficient as

$$\Gamma^{SMEFT}(h \to \mathcal{GG}) \equiv \frac{2\,\hat{m}_h^3}{\pi} |C_{h\mathcal{GG}}^{SMEFT}|^2, \qquad (3.47)$$

leading to [28, 41]:

$$\Delta^2 \Gamma^{SM}_{m_t \to \infty}(h \to \mathcal{G}\mathcal{G}) \equiv \frac{(\alpha_s^{(r)})^2 \hat{m}_h^3}{72 \pi^3 \hat{v}_T^2}, \qquad \qquad \Delta\delta \Gamma(h \to \mathcal{G}\mathcal{G}) \equiv \frac{\alpha_s^{(r)} \hat{m}_h^3 \tilde{C}_{HG}}{3 \pi^2 \hat{v}_T^2}.$$

### 3.2.1 $\Gamma(h \rightarrow \mathcal{GG})$ Virtual terms

We organize the NLO contributions as in the case of  $\mathcal{GG} \to h$ , defining

$$\langle h | \mathcal{GG} \rangle_{SM}^{2,F} = \frac{\alpha_s^{(r)}}{4\pi} \left[ 11 + c_1 \epsilon + (-\beta_0 + c_2 \epsilon) \log\left(-\frac{\hat{m}_h^2}{\hat{\mu}^2}\right) \right] \langle h | \mathcal{GG} \rangle_{SM,\epsilon \to 0}^1, \quad (3.48)$$

leading to the contribution

$$\frac{\Delta^2 \delta \Gamma(h \to \mathcal{G}\mathcal{G})_F}{\Delta^2 \hat{\Gamma}_{LO}^{SM}(h \to \mathcal{G}\mathcal{G})} = \frac{\alpha_s^{(r)}}{2\pi} (11 - \beta_0 L_{\hat{m}_h}) \frac{\tilde{C}_{HG}^{(6)}}{\bar{v}_T^0 \Delta C_{h\mathcal{G}\mathcal{G}}^{SM}},$$

$$= 6 (11 - \beta_0 L_{\hat{m}_h}) \tilde{C}_{HG}^{(6)}.$$
(3.49)

The  $\epsilon$  terms in  $c_1, c_2$  again interfere and generate constant finite terms

$$\frac{\Delta^3 \delta \Gamma(h \to \mathcal{G}\mathcal{G})_F}{\Delta^2 \hat{\Gamma}_{LO}^{SM}(h \to \mathcal{G}\mathcal{G})} = -\frac{3\beta_0 \alpha_s^{(r)}}{2\pi} \left( \operatorname{Re}[c_1] + \operatorname{Re}[c_2] L_{\hat{m}_h} + \frac{3\pi^2 \beta_0}{2} \right) \tilde{C}_{HG}^{(6)}.$$
(3.50)

The net renormalization (using  $\overline{\rm MS}$  for the top mass dependence) again introduces a contribution to the cross section

$$\frac{\Delta^2 \delta \Gamma(h \to \mathcal{G}\mathcal{G})_{ren}}{\Delta^2 \hat{\Gamma}_{LO}^{SM}(h \to \mathcal{G}\mathcal{G})} = -6\beta_0 \left[\frac{1}{\epsilon} + 1 - L_{\hat{m}_t} - L_{\hat{m}_h}\right] \tilde{C}_{HG}^{(6)} + 36 C_F \tilde{C}_{HG}^{(6)}, \tag{3.51}$$

with an additional factor of  $L_{\hat{m}_h}$  (compared to eq. (3.25)) due to the *d*-dimensional two body phase space  $d\Phi_2$ .

### 3.2.2 $\Gamma(h \rightarrow \mathcal{GG})$ real emission terms

The interference of the two loop, scheme dependent terms with the tree level insertion of  $\tilde{C}_{HG}$  gives

$$\frac{\Delta^2 \delta \Gamma(h \to \mathcal{G}\mathcal{G})_{sch}}{\Delta^2 \hat{\Gamma}_{LO}^{SM}(h \to \mathcal{G}\mathcal{G})} = 6 \tilde{C}_{HG} \left[ -\frac{6}{\epsilon^2} + \frac{6(L_+ + L_{\hat{m}_h} - 1)}{\epsilon} - 6L_{\hat{m}_h}^2 - 6L_+^2 + 3L_{\hat{m}_t}^2 \right] + 6 \tilde{C}_{HG} \left[ 6L_{\hat{m}_h} + 6L_+ + \beta_0 L_{\hat{m}_h} + \frac{9\pi^2}{2} - 20 \right]$$
(3.52)

Leading to a net virtual interference result

$$\frac{\Delta^2 \delta \Gamma(h \to \mathcal{G}\mathcal{G})}{\Delta^2 \hat{\Gamma}_{LO}^{SM}(h \to \mathcal{G}\mathcal{G})} = 12 \tilde{C}_{HG} \left[ -\frac{6}{\epsilon^2} + \frac{6(L_+ + L_{\hat{m}_h} - 1) - \beta_0}{\epsilon} - 6L_{\hat{m}_h}^2 - 6L_+^2 + 3L_{\hat{m}_t}^2 \right] + 12 \tilde{C}_{HG} \left[ -\beta_0 + 6L_{\hat{m}_h} + (6+\beta_0)L_+ + \frac{9\pi^2}{2} - 1 \right].$$
(3.53)

The real emission contributions are a combination of  $h \to \mathcal{GGG}$  in the soft limit and  $h \to \mathcal{G}\bar{q}q$  in the collinear limit. The former contribution is

$$\frac{\Delta^2 \delta \Gamma(h \to \mathcal{G} \mathcal{G} \mathcal{G})_{soft}}{\Delta^2 \hat{\Gamma}_{LO}^{SM}(h \to \mathcal{G} \mathcal{G})} = 12 \,\tilde{C}_{HG} \left[ \frac{6}{\epsilon^2} + \frac{6(L_{\hat{m}_t} - 2L_+ + 1) + 11}{\epsilon} - \frac{9\pi^2}{2} + \frac{119}{2} \right] + 12 \,\tilde{C}_{HG} \left[ 3L_{\hat{m}_t}^2 + 17L_{\hat{m}_t} - 12L_{\hat{m}_t}L_+ + 12L_+^2 - 34L_+ \right], \quad (3.54)$$

while the later is

$$\frac{\Delta^2 \delta \Gamma(h \to \mathcal{G} \bar{q} q)_{col.}}{\Delta^2 \hat{\Gamma}_{LO}^{SM}(h \to \mathcal{G} \mathcal{G})} = 12 \tilde{C}_{HG} \left[ -\frac{2N_F}{3\epsilon} + \frac{N_F}{3} \left( 4L_+ - 2L_{\hat{m}_t} - 9 \right) \right].$$
(3.55)

Combining all terms we find

$$\frac{\Delta^2 \delta \Gamma(h \to \mathcal{G}\mathcal{G})}{\Delta^2 \hat{\Gamma}_{LO}^{SM}(h \to \mathcal{G}\mathcal{G})} = 12 \tilde{C}_{HG} \left[ \frac{95}{2} - \frac{7N_f}{3} - \beta_0 L_{\hat{m}_h} \right].$$
(3.56)

This result is consistent with the SM NLO result reported in refs. [40, 42, 43]. See also refs. [38, 44].

### 3.3 $\Gamma(h \rightarrow AA)$ two loop QCD corrections

The decay width is given by

$$\Gamma(h \to \mathcal{A}\mathcal{A}) \simeq \frac{\hat{m}_h^3}{4\pi} |\langle h|\mathcal{A}\mathcal{A}\rangle_{SM}^1 + \langle h|\mathcal{A}\mathcal{A}\rangle_{SM}^2 + \langle h|\mathcal{A}\mathcal{A}\rangle_{\mathcal{O}(\bar{v}_T^2/\Lambda^2)}^0 + \langle h|\mathcal{A}\mathcal{A}\rangle_{\mathcal{O}(\bar{v}_T^4/\Lambda^4)}^0 + \langle h|\mathcal{A}\mathcal{A}\rangle_{\mathcal{O}(\bar{v}_T^2/\Lambda^2)}^1|^2$$
(3.57)

All of the contributing terms except  $\langle h | \mathcal{A} \mathcal{A} \rangle_{SM}^2$  were defined in ref. [12]. We reiterate these results in appendix G to make the paper self contained. For example, the leading order result [27, 29, 45] is defined with the notation  $(\tau_p = 4m_p^2/\bar{m}_h^2)$ 

$$\langle h | \mathcal{A} \mathcal{A} \rangle_{SM}^{1} = \frac{-\hat{g}_{2} \hat{e}^{2}}{64 \pi^{2} \hat{m}_{W}} \left( A_{1}(\tau_{W}) + \sum_{i} N_{c}^{i} Q_{i}^{2} A_{1/2}(\tau_{\psi^{i}}) \right) \langle h \mathcal{A}^{\mu\nu} \mathcal{A}_{\mu\nu} \rangle^{0},$$
(3.58)

The two loop QCD corrections we add in this work are reported in refs. [16, 17, 46, 47]. The QCD corrections are given by

$$\langle h | \mathcal{A} \mathcal{A} \rangle_{SM}^{2} = \frac{-\hat{g}_{2} \hat{\alpha}^{(r)} \hat{e}^{2}}{64 \pi^{3} \hat{m}_{W}} \sum_{i} N_{c}^{i} Q_{i}^{2} A_{1/2}(\tau_{p}) \left[ C_{1}^{H}(\tau_{p}) + C_{2}^{H}(\tau_{p}) \log\left(\frac{4\hat{\mu}^{2}}{\tau_{p} \hat{m}_{h}^{2}}\right) \right] \langle h \mathcal{A}^{\mu\nu} \mathcal{A}_{\mu\nu} \rangle^{0},$$
(3.59)

where

$$A_{1/2}(\tau_p) C_2^H(\tau_p) \equiv 4\tau_p \left[ 1 + (1 - 2\tau_p) f(\tau_p) + \tau_p (1 - \tau_p) df(\tau_p) / d\tau_p \right],$$
(3.60)

and  $A_{1/2}(\tau_p) C_1^H(\tau_p)$  is lengthy and directly given in ref. [17]. Note that our definition of  $\tau_p$  is the inverse of the definition used in ref. [17]. Numerically, we update the SM result including these corrections, thereby retaining the corresponding  $\propto \Delta^2 \delta$  interference terms

$$\langle h | \mathcal{A} \mathcal{A} \rangle_{SM}^2 \times \langle h | \mathcal{A} \mathcal{A} \rangle_{\mathcal{O}(\bar{v}_T^2/\Lambda^2)}^0$$
 (3.61)

in the expression for  $\Gamma^{SMEFT}(h \to AA)/\Delta^2 \Gamma^{SM}(h \to AA)$ .

### 3.4 $\Gamma(h \rightarrow \bar{\Psi} \Psi)$

Defining the coupling of the Higgs to fermions with flavors p, r as

$$\mathcal{L}_{h,eff} = -g_{h\psi} h \bar{\psi}_R \psi_L + h.c.$$
(3.62)

the decays to  $\psi = \{u, c, d, s, b, e, \mu, \tau\}$  are modified in the  $\Delta, \delta$  expansions as

$$\bar{\Gamma}\left(h\to\bar{\psi}_{p}\psi_{p}\right) = \frac{\left|g_{h\psi}^{SM} + \delta g_{h\psi} + \Delta g_{h\psi} + \delta^{2}g_{h\psi} + \delta\Delta g_{h\psi} + \cdots\right|^{2}}{8\pi |g_{h\psi}^{SM}|^{2}} N_{C}^{\psi}\bar{M}_{h}\sqrt{2}\hat{G}_{F}\hat{M}_{\psi}^{2}\beta^{3}, \quad (3.63)$$

where  $\beta \equiv \left(1 - 4\bar{M}_{\psi}^2/\bar{M}_h^2\right)^{1/2}$ . The pole masses of quarks and leptons inferred from experimental results define input parameters  $\hat{M}_{\psi}$  and determine the SM Yukawa couplings through the definition

$$\hat{Y}_{\psi} = 2^{3/4} \hat{M}_{\psi} \sqrt{\hat{G}_F}.$$
(3.64)

When all SM parameters are defined via a particular input parameter scheme, we denote  $\overline{\Gamma} \rightarrow \widehat{\Gamma}$ . Known results are

$$g_{pr}^{SM} = \delta_{pr} \hat{Y}_{\psi} / \sqrt{2}, \qquad (3.65)$$

$$\delta g_{h\psi} = \frac{Y_{\psi}}{\sqrt{2}} \left[ C_{H,\text{kin}}^{(6)} - \frac{\delta G_F^{(6)}}{\sqrt{2}} \right] - \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \tilde{C}_{\psi H}^{*,(6)}.$$
(3.66)

The geoSMEFT results in refs. [10, 11] lead directly to

$$\delta^{2}g_{h\psi}_{pr} = \frac{Y_{\psi}}{\sqrt{2}} \left[ C_{H,\text{kin}}^{(8)} - C_{H,\text{kin}}^{(6)} \frac{\delta G_{F}^{(6)}}{\sqrt{2}} + (\frac{\delta G_{F}^{(6)}}{\sqrt{2}})^{2} - \frac{\delta G_{F}^{(8)}}{\sqrt{2}} \right] - \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \tilde{C}_{\psi H}^{*,(8)}_{pr} - \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \left[ C_{H,\text{kin}}^{(6)} - \frac{\delta G_{F}^{(6)}}{\sqrt{2}} \right] \tilde{C}_{\psi H}^{*,(6)}_{pr}.$$
(3.67)

Note that, in the U(3)<sup>5</sup> limit,  $\tilde{C}_{\psi H}^{*,(6),(8)}$  are proportional to  $Y_{\psi}$ . The appearance of the shift in the measured value of the vev in muon decay, compared to the Lagrangian parameter is  $\delta G_F^{(6)}, \delta G_F^{(8)}$ . The appearance of this shift at tree level is consistent in the dependence introduced due to the vev shift in the loop level SM decays via eq. (E.7).

For the SM decay at one loop (in QCD corrections), the results are given in ref. [48] in the limit  $\beta \rightarrow 1$  (and neglecting subleading effects further suppressed by  $m_{\psi}$ ). Specifically, [48, 49]

$$\Delta g_{h\psi} \supset g_{h\psi}^{SM} \frac{\alpha_s^{(r)} C_F}{8\pi} \left( 17 + 6\log\left(\frac{\hat{\mu}^2}{m_h^2}\right) \right), \tag{3.68}$$

$$\delta \Delta g_{h\psi} \supset \Delta g_{h\psi} \, \delta g_{h\psi}. \tag{3.69}$$

The universal EW corrections to the vev extraction are also given by  $\Delta g_{h\psi} \supset -g_{h\psi}^{SM} \Delta G_F$ .  $\Delta G_F$  is defined in eq. (D.3). This leads to the simple expression for p = r

$$\frac{\delta\Gamma_{h\to\bar{\psi}\psi}}{\hat{\Gamma}_{h\to\bar{\psi}\psi}^{SM}} = 1 + 2\operatorname{Re}\left(\delta g_{h\psi}\right) + \frac{2\operatorname{Re}\left(\delta^2 g_{h\psi}\right)}{\Delta g_{h\psi}} + \cdots$$
(3.70)

for the decays to  $\psi = \{u, c, d, s, b, e, \mu, \tau\}$ . Non-factorizable corrections are present in the last term and also introduce  $\delta\Delta$  effects through operator mixing. These corrections are relatively suppressed by powers of  $m_{\psi}$ .

	G
	Η̈́
	H
,	$\frown$
	$\mathbb{N}$
	$\bigcirc$
	$\mathbb{N}$
	4
	$\smile$

Transfer and the second second	<b>X</b> 7-1		D-f
Input parameters	value	onsnell mass	Ref.
$\hat{m}_Z [\text{GeV}]$	$91.1876 {\pm} 0.0021$		[50]
$\hat{m}_W \; [\text{GeV}]$	$80.387 {\pm} 0.016$		[51]
$\hat{m}_h \; [\text{GeV}]$	$125.15 {\pm} 0.15$		[50]
$\hat{m}_t$ (MC/onshell) [GeV]	$172.69 {\pm} 0.3$		[50]
$\hat{m}_b \text{ (msbar) [GeV]}$	$4.18 {\pm} 0.03$	4.92	[50,  52,  53]
$\hat{m}_c \; (\text{msbar})[\text{GeV}]$	$1.27 {\pm} 0.02$	1.51	[50,  52,  53]
$\hat{m}_d$ (currmsbar)[MeV]	$4.67 {\pm} 0.48$		[50]
$\hat{m}_s \; (\text{currmsbar})[\text{MeV}]$	$93.4 {\pm} 8.6$	100	[50,  53]
$\hat{m}_u$ (currmsbar)[MeV]	$2.16 {\pm} 0.49$		[50]
$\hat{m}_{\tau}$ (pole) [GeV]	$1.77686 {\pm} 0.00012$		[50]
$\hat{m}_{\mu}$ (pole) [MeV]	$105.6583755 {\pm} 0.0000023$		[50]
$\hat{m}_e$ (pole) [MeV]	$0.510\!-\!\pm\!1.5\!\times\!10^{-10}$		[50]
$\hat{G}_F \; [\text{GeV}^{-2}]$	$1.166 \cdot 10^{-5}$		[54,  55]
$\hat{lpha}_{EW}$	1/137.03599084(21)		[50]
$\nabla \alpha$	$0.0590 \!\pm\! 0.0005$		[56]
$\hat{lpha}_s$	$0.1179 {\pm} 0.0010$		[50]
$m_W^{\hat{lpha}}$	$80.36 {\pm} 0.01$		_
$ abla lpha^{\hat{m}_W}$	$0.0576 \!\pm\! 0.0008$		_

**Table 1.** Input parameter values used.  $m_W^{\hat{\alpha}}$  is the value of  $m_W$  inferred in the  $\{\hat{\alpha}, \hat{m}_Z, \hat{G}_F\}$  scheme using the interpolation formula of refs. [56–59], while  $\Delta \alpha^{\hat{m}_W}$  is the shift in the value of alpha due to hadronic effects for the  $\{\hat{m}_W, \hat{m}_Z, \hat{G}_F\}$  scheme. The on-shell masses used for the numerical evaluations to be consistent with past literature conventions are also listed.

### 4 Scheme choice and Numerics

We report numerical results for  $\sigma(\mathcal{GG} \to h)$ ,  $\Gamma(h \to \mathcal{AA})$ , and  $\Gamma(h \to \mathcal{GG})$ . As SMEFT corrections are determined to higher orders in the operator and perturbative expansions, scheme dependence becomes a more relevant issue of concern for numerical accuracy. Scheme dependence comes in three forms in the SMEFT: operator basis dependence, perturbative/renormalization scheme dependence, and input parameter dependence. There is operator basis dependence at each order in the  $\mathcal{O}(1/\Lambda)$  expansion, and higher orders in  $\mathcal{O}(1/\Lambda)$  also depend on the scheme choice made at lower orders in  $\mathcal{O}(1/\Lambda)$  [60]. We address this scheme dependence by using the Warsaw basis [61], and the geoSMEFT formalism [9–11] for higher order corrections in  $\mathcal{O}(1/\Lambda)$ .

For perturbative/renormalization scheme dependence, we renormalize in a mixed on shell- $\overline{\text{MS}}$  scheme, use the BFM for gauge fixing, and a FJ tadpole scheme [62]. This approach is consistent with the background field independence of the geoSMEFT formalism. For numerical evaluations we use the on shell masses given in table 1.

### 4.1 $\alpha_{ew}$ and the Hadronic resonance region

A significant numerical effect, larger than some of the two loop QCD corrections added in this work, is the treatment of the hadronic resonance region for the running of  $\alpha_{EW}(0)$ 

$\Delta R_{\mathcal{A}}^{\hat{m}_W}$	0.12	$\Delta R_{\mathcal{A}}^{\hat{lpha}_{ew}}$	0.12	$\Delta R_{\mathcal{A}}^{\hat{lpha}_{ew}(0)}$	0.13
$\Delta G_F^{\hat{m}_W}$	0.024	$\Delta G_F^{\hat{\alpha}_{ew}}$	0.024	$\Delta G_F^{\hat{lpha}_{ew}(0)}$	0.024
$\Delta R_{M_W^2}^{\hat{m}_W}$	-0.041	$\Delta R_{M_W^2}^{\hat{lpha}_{ew}}$	-0.041	$\Delta R_{M_W^2}^{\hatlpha_{ew}(0)}$	-0.041
$\Delta R_{M_Z^2}^{\hat{m}_W}$	-0.055	$\Delta R_{M_Z^2}^{\hat{lpha}_{ew}}$	-0.055	$\Delta R_{M_Z^2}^{\hat{lpha}_{ew}(0)}$	-0.055
$\frac{\Delta R_{\phi_4}^{\hat{m}_W}}{2} + \frac{\Delta v}{v}$	-0.003	$\frac{\Delta R_{\phi_4}^{\hat{\alpha}_{ew}}}{2} + \frac{\Delta v}{v}$	-0.003	$\frac{\Delta R_{\phi_4}^{\hat{\alpha}_{ew}(0)}}{2} + \frac{\Delta v}{v}$	-0.003
$\Delta M_1^{\hat{m}_W}$	-0.010	$\Delta M_1^{\hat{\alpha}_{ew}}$	-0.0096	$\Delta M_1^{\hat{\alpha}_{ew}(0)}$	-0.0098
$\Delta g_1^{\hat{m}_W}$	-0.014	$\Delta g_1^{\hat{lpha}_{ew}}$	-0.096	$\Delta g_1^{\hat{lpha}_{ew}(0)}$	-0.097
$\Delta g_2^{\hat{m}_W}$	-0.0054	$\Delta g_2^{\hat{lpha}_{ew}}$	0.039	$\Delta g_2^{\hat{lpha}_{ew}(0)}$	0.033

**Table 2**. Numerical values of the one loop corrections to various Lagrangian parameters and matrix element corrections in both input schemes, updated to new input parameter values in table 1. We only report gauge independent combinations of parameters. We have chosen  $\mu = \hat{m}_h$  in these evaluations for the scale dependence associated with the one loop improvement of input parameters and finite on shell renormalization conditions in the LSZ formula. For operator mixing effects, we set  $\mu = \Lambda$ .

measured in the  $p^2 \rightarrow 0$  Thompson limit. As discussed in refs. [12, 63–66] this effect is numerically significant in the SM and in the numerical coefficients of SMEFT perturbations. Including this effect leads to the numerical difference [50]

$$1/\alpha_{ew}(p^2 \sim \hat{m}_Z^2) = 128.951 \pm 0.009$$
, while  $1/\alpha_{ew}(p^2 \to 0) = 137.035999139(31)$ . (4.1)

In Hdecay [67, 68], a modified  $\overline{\text{MS}}$  subtraction scheme is used, motivated by this large numerical effect, consistent with results developed in refs. [69, 70]. As this scheme choice is more numerically significant compared to the size of the two loop corrections we incorporate here to  $\Gamma(h \to AA)$ , we adjust our numerical results to this convention.

Essentially, the scheme choice used in [67–70] is to use a  $\alpha_{ew}(0)$  input, instead of  $\alpha_{ew}(\hat{m}_Z)$ . This choice is made to exploit that the hadronic resonance region from bound states in QCD, preserves QED, and hence naive QED Ward identities relate the wavefunction and charge renormalization. This is the case if a suitable renormalization scheme and gauge fixing term is used. As a result, the nonperturbative corrections from the hadronic resonance region are not present in the SM prediction of  $\Gamma(h \to AA)$ , but are shifted to other observables.

To uniform the SMEFT perturbations to this scheme choice [67-70], we modify our finite terms as follows. As verified in ref. [12], the finite terms of the charge and wavefunction renormalization are related by the preserved QED Ward identity to be

$$\Delta Z_e = -\frac{1}{2} \Delta Z_{\hat{\mathcal{A}}},$$
  

$$\Delta R_e = -\frac{1}{2} \Delta R_{\hat{\mathcal{A}}}.$$
(4.2)

We extend  $\Delta R_e$  and  $\Delta R_{\hat{\mathcal{A}}}$  by finite terms to cancel the effect of the running through the

hadronic resonance region. Explicitly,  $\Delta R_e$  is defined at one loop to be [12, 71, 72]

$$\Delta R_e = \frac{\bar{g}_1^2 \bar{g}_2^2}{(\bar{g}_1^2 + \bar{g}_2^2)} \left[ \frac{7}{32\pi^2} \log\left(\frac{\mu^2}{m_W^2}\right) - \frac{N_c^f Q_f^2}{24\pi^2} \log\left(\frac{\mu^2}{\bar{m}_f^2}\right) + \frac{1}{48\pi^2} \right],\tag{4.3}$$

and the charge renormalization is related to the Thompson limit measured value by

$$-i\left[\frac{4\pi\hat{\alpha}(q^{2})}{q^{2}}\right]_{q^{2}\to0} \equiv \frac{-i(e_{0}+\Delta R_{e})^{2}}{q^{2}}\left[1+\operatorname{Re}\frac{\Sigma^{AA}(m_{Z}^{2})}{m_{Z}^{2}}+\nabla\alpha\right].$$
(4.4)

Here  $\nabla \alpha$  includes corrections form QCD bound states (see table 1) [64, 71, 73, 74] and  $\Sigma^{AA}(\bar{m}_Z^2)$  is given explicitly in ref. [12]. Now, redefining

$$\Delta R_e \to \Delta R_e + e_0 \left( \operatorname{Re} \frac{\Sigma^{AA}(m_Z^2)}{m_Z^2} + \nabla \alpha \right) + \cdots$$
(4.5)

numerically absorbs the effect of running through the Hadronic resonance region into the finite renormalization of the electric charge. So long as the Ward identity derived relation for finite terms  $\Delta R_e = -\frac{1}{2}\Delta R_{\hat{\mathcal{A}}}$  is imposed, this leads to the cancelation of the numerical effects of running through the hadronic resonance region in  $\Gamma(h \to \mathcal{A}\mathcal{A})$  in the (so-defined)  $\left\{ \alpha(0), \hat{M}_W, \hat{G}_F \right\}$  input scheme. For further discussion see refs. [75, 76].

The SM predictions from Hdecay are produced in the effective  $\{\alpha(0), \hat{M}_W, \hat{G}_F\}$  scheme. While the  $\{\hat{M}_Z, \hat{M}_W, \hat{G}_F\}$  scheme is used in global studies [5–8] for SMEFT perturbations.

This leads to an important numerical shift in the central value of the SM prediction compared to a  $\{\alpha(\hat{M}_Z), \hat{M}_W, \hat{G}_F\}$  input scheme. This numerical difference should be noted given that, at leading order,  $\Gamma(h \to \mathcal{A}\mathcal{A}) \propto \alpha_{ew}^2$ , and

$$(\alpha_{ew}^{\alpha(0)})^2 = 5.33 \times 10^{-5}, \qquad (\alpha_{ew}^{\alpha(\hat{m}_Z)})^2 = 6.01 \times 10^{-5}, \qquad (\alpha_{ew}^{\hat{m}_W})^2 = 5.72 \times 10^{-5}.$$
(4.6)

As the perturbations (or lack of perturbations) in  $\Gamma(h \to \mathcal{A}\mathcal{A})$  numerically is quite dominant in global SMEFT fits, numerical consistency on this issue is critical for precise constraints. In what follows we present results in the  $\{\alpha(0), \hat{M}_W, \hat{G}_F\}, \{\alpha(\hat{M}_Z), \hat{M}_W, \hat{G}_F\}$  and  $\{\hat{M}_Z, \hat{M}_W, \hat{G}_F\}$  schemes for  $\Gamma(h \to \mathcal{A}\mathcal{A})$ . Scheme dependence is minimal in the observables  $\sigma(\mathcal{G}\mathcal{G} \to h)$  and  $\Gamma(h \to \mathcal{G}\mathcal{G})$ .

#### 4.2 Uniforming quark masses

We uniform the fermion mass inputs to a common  $\overline{\text{MS}}$  convention, consistent with refs. [53, 67, 68, 77]. The top mass is taken as an on shell mass, related to the  $\overline{\text{MS}}$  at one loop via

$$M_{os,t}^{i} = m^{i}(\mu) \left( 1 + \frac{\alpha_{s}(M_{os,t}^{i})}{\pi} \left( \log \frac{\mu^{2}}{(m^{i})^{2}} + \frac{4}{3} \right) \right).$$
(4.7)

For the on-shell charm quark mass used for numerical evaluations, we determine this value from the relationship [52] free of renormalons at leading order in the 1S scheme

$$m_b - m_c = 3.41 \,\text{GeV}.$$
 (4.8)

Numerical dependence on the light quark masses is negligible. The masses used are listed in table 1.

In the case of results reported in ref. [17] we note that, the running masses are related to the pole mass via the convention in ref. [16]

$$M_{os,\mathcal{A}\mathcal{A}}^{i} = m^{i}(\mu) \left( 1 + \frac{\alpha_{s}(m^{i})}{\pi} \log \frac{\mu^{2}}{(m^{i})^{2}} \right).$$

$$(4.9)$$

Finally, for the lepton pole masses the relationship to the  $\overline{\text{MS}}$  masses is [78]

$$M_{os,lep}^{i} = m^{i}(\mu) \left( 1 + \frac{\alpha_{ew}(m^{i})}{\pi} \left( 1 + \frac{3}{4} \log \frac{\mu^{2}}{(m^{i})^{2}} \right) \right).$$
(4.10)

#### 4.3 $\sigma(\mathcal{GG} \rightarrow h)$

To numerically evaluate  $\sigma(\mathcal{GG} \to h)$ , we use NNPDF3.0 NLO parton distribution functions [79, 80] and  $\alpha_s = 0.118$ . We set all  $\mu$  scales to  $\hat{m}_h$ , with the exception of scales associated with operator mixing, following ref. [12]. For these choices, and taking the  $m_t \to \infty$  limit, the NLO SM cross section for  $\sigma(\mathcal{GG} \to h)$ ,  $\sqrt{s} = 13$  TeV is (for all EW input schemes):

$$\hat{\sigma}_{\mathrm{SM},m_t \to \infty}(\mathcal{GG} \to h) = \Delta^2 \sigma_{m_t \to \infty}^{\mathrm{SM}}(\mathcal{GG} \to h) + \Delta^3 \sigma_{m_t \to \infty}^{\mathrm{SM}}(\mathcal{GG} \to h) = 31.6 \,\mathrm{pb},\tag{4.11}$$

where the analytic expressions for the LO ( $\Delta^2$ ) and NLO ( $\Delta^3$ ) pieces are given in eq. (E.1) and eq. (E.4) respectively.

Adding up the full set of SMEFT contributions to the inclusive  $\sigma(\mathcal{GG} \to h)$  cross section and dividing by the SM result, we find:

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{\sigma_{\mathrm{SMEFT}}^{\hat{\alpha}}(\mathcal{G}\mathcal{G} \to h)}{\hat{\sigma}_{\mathrm{SM},m_t \to \infty}(\mathcal{G}\mathcal{G} \to h)} \simeq 1 + 289 \,\tilde{C}_{HG}^{(6)} \\ &+ 289 \,\tilde{C}_{HG}^{(6)} \Big(\tilde{C}_{H\square}^{(6)} - \frac{1}{4} \tilde{C}_{HD}^{(6)}\Big) + 4.68 \times 10^4 \,(\tilde{C}_{HG}^{(6)})^2 + 289 \,\tilde{C}_{HG}^{(8)} \\ &+ 0.85 \,\Big(\tilde{C}_{H\square}^{(6)} - \frac{1}{4} \tilde{C}_{HD}^{(6)}\Big) + 369 \,\tilde{C}_{HG}^{(6)} - 0.91 \,\tilde{C}_{uH}^{(6)} - 7.26 \,\mathrm{Re} \,\tilde{C}_{uG}^{(6)} \\ &- 0.60 \,\delta G_F^{(6)} - 4.42 \,\mathrm{Re} \,\tilde{C}_{uG}^{(6)} \log\Big(\frac{\hat{m}_h^2}{\Lambda^2}\Big) - 0.126 \,\mathrm{Re} \,\tilde{C}_{dG}^{(6)} \log\Big(\frac{\hat{m}_h^2}{\Lambda^2}\Big) \\ &- 0.057 \,\mathrm{Re} \,\tilde{C}_{dG}^{(6)} + 2.06 \,\tilde{C}_{dH}^{(6)}, \end{aligned}$$
(4.12)

where coefficient  $\delta G_F^{(6)}$  stands for the combination

$$\delta G_F^{(6)} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \left( \tilde{C}_{Hl}^{(3)} + \tilde{C}_{Hl}^{(3)} - \frac{1}{2} (\tilde{C}'_{\mu e e \mu} + \tilde{C}'_{\mu \mu \mu}) \right).$$

The superscript  $\hat{\alpha}$  on the left hand side of the result indicates we used the  $\hat{\alpha}(m_Z)$  scheme, though we find the result is identical for the other two schemes, at least to the order of accuracy presented. The right hand side of eq. (4.12) is grouped according to the  $\bar{v}_T/\Lambda$  and loop order of the terms. Specifically, the first line is the  $\mathcal{O}(\bar{v}_T^2/\Lambda^2)$  interference,

the second line is the  $\mathcal{O}(\bar{v}_T^4/\Lambda^4)$  contribution coming from dimension six operators squared and the interference of dimension eight effects with the SM, and the last three lines are the one loop times  $\mathcal{O}(v_T^2/\Lambda^2)$  contributions. Not surprisingly, the largest loop contribution is the  $\mathcal{O}(\tilde{C}_{HG}\alpha_s^2)$  correction, which is split roughly evenly between the  $\delta(1-z)$  term and the z > 1 contribution.

These results are different than what was presented in ref. [12]. One cause for the difference is that we are dividing by full NLO SM result in eq. (4.12), while in ref. [12] we retained only a part of the  $\mathcal{O}(\alpha_s^3)$  SM in the denominator. The difference, 31.6 pb here versus 18.15 pb in ref. [12], explains the approximate halving of all the numbers multiplying the Wilson coefficients. The other main differences is that eq. (4.12) has the complete  $\mathcal{O}(\tilde{C}_{HG}\alpha_s^2)_{m_t\to\infty}$  dependence, consistently calculated in the BFM with the  $\overline{\text{MS}}$  scheme, while the result in ref. [12] was incomplete and used an ad hoc combination of different schemes.

To compare our result, the obvious candidate is SMEFT@NLO [81], a recently advanced (NLO) SMEFT Monte Carlo operating within the MadGraph [82] framework. However, a direct comparison of our full, analytic result with SMEFT@NLO is complicated by several subtleties. First, the internal MadGraph classification of processes into tree versus looplevel complicates scenarios like  $\mathcal{GG} \to h$ , where the SM and SMEFT contributions fall into different categories. Second, the counterterm for operator  $\tilde{C}_{HG}$  is not part of the current SMEFT@NLO suite, so terms such as the interference between the lowest order (loop level) SM amplitude and the NLO  $\tilde{C}_{HG}$  amplitude (eq. (3.42)) cannot be generated.

A further comparison is potentially possible between a subset of terms in this result and ref. [21], table 2. However, the operators in ref. [21] are, in fact, distinct from ours due to the choice to subtract  $\bar{v}_T^2$  in the operator definition. Further, the results in ref. [21] have rescaled Wilson coefficient with factors of  $\alpha_s$  being introduced. These differences complicate compensating for different scale and PDF choices between this work and ref. [21]. As no result equivalent to eq. (3.39) is given in ref. [21], an analytic parton-level comparison is not possible, so only proton level results can be compared. With these caveats in mind, the central values do differ, though the order of magnitude of the subset of numerical coefficients is consistent within errors and after rescaling of the coefficients to uniform conventions. A more thorough error analysis on the PDF and scale uncertainty is beyond this work.

### 4.4 $\Gamma(h \rightarrow \mathcal{GG})$

Using inputs in table 1 and the SM result for  $\Gamma(h \to \mathcal{GG})$  in the  $m_t \to \infty$  limit at two loop order we have

$$\Gamma_{m_t \to \infty}^{SM}(h \to \mathcal{G}\mathcal{G}) = \Delta^2 \Gamma_{m_t \to \infty}^{SM}(h \to \mathcal{G}\mathcal{G}) + \Delta^3 \Gamma_{m_t \to \infty}^{SM}(h \to \mathcal{G}\mathcal{G}), \tag{4.13}$$

where [28, 40–43]

$$\begin{split} \Delta^2 \Gamma^{SM}_{m_t \to \infty}(h \to \mathcal{G} \,\mathcal{G}) &\equiv \frac{(\alpha_s^{(r)})^2 \,\hat{m}_h^3}{72 \,\pi^3 \hat{v}_T^2}, \\ \Delta^3 \Gamma^{SM}_{m_t \to \infty}(h \to \mathcal{G} \,\mathcal{G}) &\equiv \frac{(\alpha_s^{(r)})^2 \,\hat{m}_h^3}{72 \,\pi^3 \hat{v}_T^2} \left(\frac{\alpha_s^{(r)}}{\pi}\right) \left(\frac{95}{4} - \frac{7 \,n_F}{6} - \frac{\beta_0}{2} \log \frac{\hat{m}_h^2}{\hat{\mu}^2}\right) \end{split}$$

Numerically, this evaluates to  $2.01 + 1.35 = 3.37 \times 10^{-4}$  GeV.

Including SMEFT contributions, we have the result

$$\frac{\Gamma_{SMEFT}(h \to \mathcal{GG})}{\hat{\Gamma}_{SM,m_t \to \infty}(h \to \mathcal{GG})} \simeq 1 + \frac{24\pi}{\alpha_s^{(r)}} \tilde{C}_{HG}^{(6)} + \frac{4\pi}{\alpha_s^{(r)} \kappa_{h\mathcal{GG}}} \left(12 + \frac{36\pi}{\alpha_s^{(r)}}\right) (\tilde{C}_{HG}^{(6)})^2 \qquad (4.14)$$

$$+ \frac{24\pi}{\alpha_s^{(r)} \kappa_{h\mathcal{GG}}} \times \left( \left[\Delta G_F + \Delta M_1 + \Delta R_{\mathcal{G}}\right] \tilde{C}_{HG}^{(6)} + \sum_i \frac{\operatorname{Re} \tilde{C}_i^{(6)} \Delta f_i^{(6)}}{16\pi^2} \right)$$

$$+ \frac{24\pi}{\alpha_s^{(r)}} \left[ \langle \sqrt{h}^{44} \rangle_{\mathcal{O}(v^2/\Lambda^2)} \tilde{C}_{HG}^{(6)} + \tilde{C}_{HG}^{(8)} \right],$$

where we have defined

$$\kappa_{h\mathcal{G}\mathcal{G}} \equiv 1 + \Delta^3 \Gamma_{m_t \to \infty}^{SM}(h \to \mathcal{G}\mathcal{G}) / \Delta^2 \Gamma_{m_t \to \infty}^{SM}(h \to \mathcal{G}\mathcal{G}) \equiv 1.67.$$
(4.15)

In the  $m_t \to \infty$  limit, the SM QCD correction cancels against the same overall correction for the  $\tilde{C}_{HG}^{(6)}$  linear term. The rescaling of the local contact operator forms present in the last term is also the same, leading to another cancelation of  $\kappa_{h\mathcal{G}\mathcal{G}}$ . The remaining terms have non-factorizable corrections that are not included here, so only the SM two loop normalization is present. See ref. [26] for recent work on these effects.

Only the second line is input parameter scheme dependent, so scheme effects on the SMEFT perturbations are quite small. Numerically (using the same inputs and scales as eq. (4.12)), the SMEFT result is

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{\Gamma_{SMEFT}}{\hat{\Gamma}_{SM,m_t \to \infty}} \simeq 1 + 640 \left[ \tilde{C}_{HG}^{(6)} \left( 1 + \left( \tilde{C}_{H\Box}^{(6)} - \frac{1}{4} \tilde{C}_{HD}^{(6)} \right) \right) + \tilde{C}_{HG}^{(8)} \right] + S_1 \tilde{C}_{HG}^{(6)} + 6.20 \times 10^4 (\tilde{C}_{HG}^{(6)})^2 \\ &+ 1.24 \left( \tilde{C}_{H\Box}^{(6)} - \frac{1}{4} \tilde{C}_{HD}^{(6)} \right) - 0.87 \delta G_F^{(6)} - 1.24 \tilde{C}_{tH}^{(6)} + 2.73 \tilde{C}_{bH}^{(6)} \\ &- 7.86 \operatorname{Re} \tilde{C}_{uG}^{(6)} - 4.85 \operatorname{Re} \tilde{C}_{uG}^{(6)} \log \left( \frac{\hat{m}_h^2}{\Lambda^2} \right) - 0.14 \operatorname{Re} \tilde{C}_{dG}^{(6)} \log \left( \frac{\hat{m}_h^2}{\Lambda^2} \right) - 0.06 \operatorname{Re} \tilde{C}_{dG}^{(6)}. \end{aligned}$$

The input parameter scheme dependence of the numerical coefficients is negligible, with the largest dependence being

$$\left(S_1^{\hat{m}_W}, S_1^{\hat{\alpha}_{ew}(\hat{m}_Z)}, S_1^{\hat{\alpha}_{ew}(0)}\right) = \left(-26.8, -26.6, -26.7\right).$$
(4.17)

### 4.5 $\Gamma(h \rightarrow AA)$

For these numeric, we again use the input parameters in table 1 and the related results in table 2. Including the two loop QCD SM results at the amplitude level in this manner gives the following SM  $h \to AA$  partial widths for the SM with out chosen numerical input parameters:

$$\Gamma_{\rm SM}^{\tilde{m}_W}(h \to \mathcal{A}\mathcal{A}) = 1.10 \times 10^{-5} \,\text{GeV},\tag{4.18}$$

$$\Gamma_{\rm SM}^{\hat{\alpha}_{ew}(\hat{m}_Z)}(h \to \mathcal{A}\mathcal{A}) = 1.16 \times 10^{-5} \,\text{GeV},\tag{4.19}$$

$$\Gamma_{\rm SM}^{\hat{\alpha}_{ew}(0)}(h \to \mathcal{A}\mathcal{A}) = 1.01 \times 10^{-5} \,\text{GeV}. \tag{4.20}$$

where here we retain the two loop squared contribution to the decay width. Interference corrections of three loop order interfering with the SM one loop amplitude are the same order, but numerically neglected in the normalization. We include the two loop QCD interference effects with the tree level operator (leading) interference results in the SMEFT. We neglect these two loop SM interference effects in the other interference terms. The result is

$$\begin{split} \frac{\Gamma_{SMEFT}}{\hat{\Gamma}_{SM}} \simeq 1 + S_1 \left[ f_1 + \left( \tilde{C}_{H\square}^{(6)} - \frac{\tilde{C}_{HD}^{(6)}}{4} \right) f_1 + f_2 \right] + S_2 f_1^2 + S_3 \left( \tilde{C}_{HW}^{(6)} - \tilde{C}_{HB}^{(6)} \right)^2 + S_4 \delta G_F^{(6)} \tilde{C}_{HB}^{(6)} \\ &+ S_5 \delta G_F^{(6)} \tilde{C}_{HW}^{(6)} + S_6 \delta G_F^{(6)} \tilde{C}_{HWB}^{(6)} + S_7 \tilde{C}_{HD}^{(6)} \tilde{C}_{HB}^{(6)} + S_8 \tilde{C}_{HD}^{(6)} \tilde{C}_{HW}^{(6)} + S_9 \tilde{C}_{HD}^{(6)} \tilde{C}_{HWB}^{(6)} \\ &+ S_{10} \tilde{C}_{HWB}^{(6)} \tilde{C}_{HB}^{(6)} + S_{11} \tilde{C}_{HWB}^{(6)} \tilde{C}_{HW}^{(6)} + S_{12} \left( \tilde{C}_{HWB}^{(6)} \right)^2 + S_{13} \tilde{C}_{HB}^{(6)} + S_{14} \tilde{C}_{HW}^{(6)} \\ &+ \left[ S_{15} + S_{16} \log \left( \frac{\hat{m}_h^2}{\Lambda^2} \right) \right] \tilde{C}_{HWB}^{(6)} + \left[ S_{17} + S_{18} \log \left( \frac{\hat{m}_h^2}{\Lambda^2} \right) \right] \tilde{C}_W^{(6)} \\ &+ \left[ S_{19} + S_{20} \log \left( \frac{\hat{m}_h^2}{\Lambda^2} \right) \right] \operatorname{Re} \tilde{C}_{uB}^{(6)} + \left[ S_{21} + S_{22} \log \left( \frac{\hat{m}_h^2}{\Lambda^2} \right) \right] \operatorname{Re} \tilde{C}_{uH}^{(6)} + S_{23} \operatorname{Re} \tilde{C}_{uH}^{(6)} \\ &+ S_{24} \operatorname{Re} \tilde{C}_{dH}^{(6)} + S_{25} \left( \tilde{C}_{H\square}^{(6)} - \frac{\tilde{C}_{HD}^{(6)}}{4} \right) + S_{26} \tilde{C}_{HD}^{(6)} + S_{27} \tilde{C}_{HWB}^{(6)} + S_{28} \delta G_F^{(6)}. \end{split}$$

The input scheme dependent numerical results are given in table 3. Several numerically small corrections compared to the retained terms are neglected here. These neglected corrections are generally further suppressed by small (SM) Yukawa couplings. Here the short hand functions  $f_i^{\hat{m}_W} \simeq f_i^{\hat{\alpha}_{ew}}$  for i = 1, 2 are approximately scheme independent,

$$f_1^{\hat{m}_W} = \left[ \tilde{C}_{HB}^{(6)} + 0.29 \, \tilde{C}_{HW}^{(6)} - 0.54 \, \tilde{C}_{HWB}^{(6)} \right], \tag{4.21}$$

$$f_2^{\hat{m}_W} = \left[ \tilde{C}_{HB}^{(8)} + 0.29 \left( \tilde{C}_{HW}^{(8)} + \tilde{C}_{HW,2}^{(8)} \right) - 0.54 \, \tilde{C}_{HWB}^{(8)} \right]. \tag{4.22}$$

The above result can be compared to eq. (5.6) and (5.11) of ref. [12]. The new result fixes minor mistakes in the old result and should be taken to supersede it. In addition, a few inputs have shifted slightly, leading to small changes in a few of the  $\Delta M, \Delta R$  in table 2. More significantly, we have included the two-loop squared contribution to  $\hat{\Gamma}_{\rm SM}$ , which increases it by  $\mathcal{O}(10\%)$ .

### 4.6 $\delta \Gamma_{h,full}^{SMEFT}$

The total width of the SMEFT was calculated systematically in ref. [83] including all corrections  $\mathcal{O}(1/\Lambda^2)$  interfering with SM amplitudes in the U(3)<sup>5</sup> limit for  $\tilde{C}_i^{(6)}$ . In this section

						_								_				_		_	
			$S_1$	S	$\tilde{b}_2$	,	$S_3$		$S_4$		5	$S_6$		S	S7		$S_8$		$S_9$		10
	$\hat{M}_W$	-	753	1.41	$\times 10^{5}$ -321		321	2041		586		_	1093	897		$\begin{array}{ c c }\hline 721 \\ -149 \end{array}$		-914 95.0		18	380
	$\hat{\alpha}_{ew}^{(\hat{M}_Z}$	)   -	724	1.31	$\times 10^{5}$	_	320 140		1402 -		126		-269		19					297	
	$\hat{\alpha}_{ew}^{(0)}$	-	794	1.56	$\times 10^{5}$	_	317 144		47	47   -1		05   -2		274 13		-138		97.0		2	27
		S.		S	S		S		S		S		S.		S.	-	S.		S		S
$ \begin{array}{c} \hat{\alpha}_{ew} \\ \hat{\alpha}_{ew}^{(0)} \\ \hat{\alpha}_{ew} \\ \hat{\alpha}_{ew} \\ \hat{\alpha}_{ew}^{(\hat{M}_Z)} \\ \hat{\alpha}_{ew}^{(0)} \\ \end{array} $		ЪП			513		514		<i>D</i> 15	)	$\mathcal{S}_{16}$			7   0		.8	519		$\mathcal{S}_{20}$		521
	$\hat{M}_W$	158	7   -	-1843	-91	.	-26.	1	52.3	3	1.8	87	-0.5	51	3.2	28	24.4	4	-25.	6	13.1
ĉ	$\hat{\chi}_{ew}^{(\hat{M}_Z)}$	-29	7	320	-198	8	31.4	1	-15	.3	1.8	80	-0.5	55	3.2	25	23.9	9	-25.	0	43.6
	$\hat{\alpha}_{ew}^{(0)}$	-22	7	317	-203	3	26.5	-16.		.9	1.95 -		-0.4	42 3.1		.10 23		5	-24.	6	45.2
																		_			
					$S_{22}$		$S_{23}$	$S_{24}$		$S_{25}$		$S_{26}$		$S_{27}$		$S_{28}$					
			I	$\hat{M}_W$	-13.7	7	0.51	_	-0.28		2	-3.49		-7.5		5  -3					
			$\hat{\alpha}$	$\begin{pmatrix} \hat{M}_Z \end{pmatrix} ew$	-45.7	7	0.51	_	-0.28		2		0	(	)	-	$-\sqrt{2}$				
			6	$\hat{\alpha}_{ew}^{(0)}$	-47.3	3	4.71	_	-1.14		2		0	(	)	_	$-\sqrt{2}$				

**Table 3.** Numerical coefficients for SMEFT perturbations to  $\Gamma(h \to AA)$  in three input parameter schemes, including two loop QCD interference effects.

we discuss how this result is surprisingly robust against the leading QCD corrections. The dependence of the total inclusive width on the  $\mathcal{L}^{(6)}$  Wilson coefficients of the SMEFT was found to be [83]

$$\begin{split} \frac{\delta\Gamma_{h,full}^{SMEFT}}{\Gamma_{h}^{SM}} \simeq & 1 - 1.50 \,\tilde{C}_{HB}^{(6)} - 1.21 \,\tilde{C}_{HW}^{(6)} + 1.21 \,\tilde{C}_{HWB}^{(6)} + 50.6 \,\tilde{C}_{HG}^{(6)} \\ & + 1.83 \,\tilde{C}_{H\Box}^{(6)} - 0.43 \,\tilde{C}_{HD}^{(6)} + 1.17 \,\tilde{C}_{ll}^{\prime(6)} \\ & - 7.85 \,\tilde{Y}_{u} \,\operatorname{Re} \,\tilde{C}_{uH}^{(6)} - 48.5 \,\tilde{Y}_{d} \,\operatorname{Re} \,\tilde{C}_{dH}^{(6)} - 12.3 \,\tilde{Y}_{\ell} \\ & + 0.002 \,\tilde{C}_{Hq,(1)}^{(6)} + 0.06 \,\tilde{C}_{Hq,(3)}^{(6)} + 0.001 \,\tilde{C}_{Hu}^{(6)} - 0.0007 \,\tilde{C}_{Hd}^{(6)} \\ & - 0.0009 \,\tilde{C}_{Hl,(1)}^{(6)} - 2.32 \,\tilde{C}_{Hl,(3)}^{(6)} - 0.0006 \,\tilde{C}_{He}^{(6)}, \end{split}$$
(4.23)

using the  $\{\hat{M}_W, \hat{M}_Z, \hat{G}_F, \hat{M}_h\}$  input scheme. Here, we have pulled out the explicit Yukawa factor from the Wilson coefficient. Using the  $\{\hat{\alpha}_{ew}, \hat{M}_Z, \hat{G}_F, \hat{M}_h\}$  input scheme, the result is

$$\begin{split} \frac{\delta \Gamma_{h,full}^{SMEFT}}{\Gamma_{h}^{SM}} \simeq & 1 - 1.40 \, \tilde{C}_{HB}^{(6)} - 1.22 \, \tilde{C}_{HW}^{(6)} + 2.89 \, \tilde{C}_{HWB}^{(6)} + 50.6 \, \tilde{C}_{HG}^{(6)} \\ & + 1.83 \, \tilde{C}_{H\Box}^{(6)} + 0.34 \, \tilde{C}_{HD}^{(6)} + 0.70 \, \tilde{C}_{ll}^{\prime(6)} \\ & - 7.85 \, \hat{Y}_{u} \, \operatorname{Re} \, \tilde{C}_{uH}^{(6)} - 48.5 \, \hat{Y}_{d} \, \operatorname{Re} \, \tilde{C}_{dH}^{(6)} - 12.3 \, \hat{Y}_{\ell} \, \operatorname{Re} \, \tilde{C}_{eH}^{(6)} \\ & + 0.002 \, \tilde{C}_{Hq,(1)}^{(6)} + 0.06 \, \tilde{C}_{Hq,(3)}^{(6)} + 0.001 \, \tilde{C}_{Hu}^{(6)} - 0.0008 \, \tilde{C}_{Hd}^{(6)} \\ & - 0.0008 \, \tilde{C}_{Hl,(1)}^{(6)} - 1.38 \, \tilde{C}_{Hl,(3)}^{(6)} - 0.0007 \, \tilde{C}_{He}^{(6)}. \end{split}$$

In ref. [83], loop effects (outside the SM loop suppressed decays to  $\mathcal{GG}$ ,  $\mathcal{AA}$ ,  $\mathcal{ZA}$ ) were neglected. As such, the { $\hat{\alpha}_{ew}(\hat{M}_Z), \hat{M}_Z, \hat{G}_F, \hat{M}_h$ } and { $\hat{\alpha}_{ew}(0), \hat{M}_Z, \hat{G}_F, \hat{M}_h$ } scheme are identified. We have used the { $\hat{\alpha}_{ew}(\hat{M}_Z), \hat{M}_Z, \hat{G}_F, \hat{M}_h$ } scheme.<sup>10</sup>

Numerically important loop contributions to  $\delta\Gamma_{h,full}^{SMEFT}/\Gamma_h^{SM}$  come about from decays to  $\bar{b}b$ ,  $\mathcal{GG}$  and  $\mathcal{AA}$ . QCD corrections to  $\mathcal{AA}$  decay are small. The leading  $\Gamma(h \to \bar{b}b)$  QCD corrections factorize and are the same as in the SM in the EFT (neglecting  $m_{\psi}$  the small known IR mass parameters), thus they cancel in the SMEFT width expression. Therefore, the  $\Delta$  corrections to the decay  $\Gamma(h \to \mathcal{GG})$  dominate the dependence of the total width on  $\tilde{C}_{HG}^{(6)}$ . This correction can be incorporated by adding the term

$$-\frac{0.33}{\Gamma_h^{SM}} \times 619 \,\tilde{C}_{HG}^{(6)} + \frac{0.337}{\Gamma_h^{SM}} \left(640 + S_1\right) \tilde{C}_{HG}^{(6)},\tag{4.25}$$

to  $\frac{\delta \Gamma_{h,full}^{SMEFT}}{\Gamma_{h}^{SM}}$ , where  $S_1$  refers to the quantity in eq. (4.17). Using  $\Gamma_{h}^{SM} = 4.100 \,\text{MeV}$ , this leads to the partial QCD-improved result of the SMEFT width reported in ref. [83]

$$\frac{\delta \Gamma_{h,full}^{SMEFT}}{\Gamma_{h}^{SM}} + (0.58, 0.59) \tilde{C}_{HG}^{(6)}, \qquad (4.26)$$

in the  $\{\hat{M}_W, \hat{M}_Z, \hat{G}_F, \hat{M}_h\}, \{\hat{\alpha}_{ew}(0), \hat{M}_Z, \hat{G}_F, \hat{M}_h\}$  schemes respectively. This correction is only partial, it neglects many other QCD correction in the partial decay width. Nevertheless it is the leading correction for the operator  $C_{HG}^{(6)}$  dependence in the total width. Due to the numerical dominance of the decay to  $\mathcal{GG}$  for the operator  $C_{HG}^{(6)}$  in the SMEFT, this is a relevant numerical improvement.

#### 5 Conclusions

In this paper we have advanced the results in the geoSMEFT formulation of the SMEFT for  $\sigma(\mathcal{GG} \to h)$ ,  $\Gamma(h \to \mathcal{GG})$ ,  $\Gamma(h \to \mathcal{AA})$ ,  $\Gamma(h \to \bar{\psi}\psi)$ , and the total Higgs width. Previous literature [1, 10, 12, 83–86] has provided terms in the SMEFT × loop expansion of orders  $\mathcal{O}(\bar{v}_T^2/\Lambda^2)$ ,  $\mathcal{O}(\bar{v}_T^2/\Lambda^2(16\pi^2))$  and  $\mathcal{O}(\bar{v}_T^4/\Lambda^4)$ . This work extends the expansion to  $\mathcal{O}(\bar{v}_T^2/\Lambda^2(16\pi^2)^2)$  by consistently including the interference of two-loop (NLO in QCD) SM amplitudes with  $\mathcal{O}(\bar{v}_T^2/\Lambda^2)$  SMEFT terms. Additionally, we have incorporated a set of QCD loop corrections determined previously in [48, 49] into the characterization of  $\Gamma(h \to \bar{\psi}\psi)$ . Combining these updated results, we determine the leading loop correction to the Higgs total width. We have also characterized a more consistent numerical treatment of input parameter choices and effects, updating past numerical results.

#### Acknowledgments

We thank B. Anastasiou, G. Buchalla, L. Dixon, C. Duhr, A. Helset, A. Manohar, K. Mimasu, B. Mistlberger, M. Spira and E. Vryonidou for helpful discussion and correspondence.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup>The use of the results of the Higgs cross section working group for branching ratios effectively shifts some the numerical results to that of the  $\{\hat{\alpha}_{ew}(0), \hat{M}_Z, \hat{G}_F, \hat{M}_h\}$  scheme. This correction to the presentation of ref. [83] should be noted.

M.T. acknowledges support from the Villum Fund, project number 00010102, Caltech and Mark Wise for financial support. The work of A.M. was supported in part by the National Science Foundation under Grant Number PHY-2112540.

### A SMEFT/geoSMEFT notation and conventions

The SM Lagrangian [87–89] notation is fixed to be

The chiral projectors have the convention  $\psi_{L/R} = P_{L/R} \psi$  where  $P_R = (1+\gamma_5)/2$ , and the gauge covariant derivative is defined with a positive sign convention

$$D_{\mu} = \partial_{\mu} + ig_3 T^A A^A_{\mu} + ig_2 \sigma^I W^I_{\mu} / 2 + ig_1 \mathbf{y}_{\mathbf{i}} B_{\mu}, \tag{A.2}$$

with  $I = \{1, 2, 3\}$ ,  $A = \{1...8\}$ ,  $\sigma^I$  denotes the Pauli matrices and  $y_i$  the U<sub>Y</sub>(1) hypercharge generator with charge normalization  $y_i = \{1/6, 2/3, -1/3, -1/2, -1, 1/2\}$  for  $i = \{q, u, d, \ell, e, H\}$ . The SMEFT Lagrangian is

$$\mathcal{L}_{\text{SMEFT}} = \mathcal{L}_{\text{SM}} + \mathcal{L}^{(d)}, \qquad \qquad \mathcal{L}^{(d)} = \sum_{i} \frac{C_i^{(d)}}{\Lambda^{d-4}} \mathcal{Q}_i^{(d)} \quad \text{for } d > 4.$$
(A.3)

The SM Lagrangian notation and conventions are consistent with refs. [1, 10, 12, 61, 84– 86] with some slight variations. The operators  $Q_i^{(d)}$  are labelled with a mass dimension d superscript and multiply unknown Wilson coefficients  $C_i^{(d)}$ ; while  $\bar{v}_T \equiv \sqrt{\langle 2H^{\dagger}H \rangle}$  and  $\tilde{C}_i^{(d)} \equiv C_i^{(d)} \bar{v}_T^{d-4} / \Lambda^{d-4}$ . Due to strong constraints from low energy CP violating observables [90], we restrict our study to CP even operators.

### A.1 geoSMEFT

The geoSMEFT [9–11] is a organization of the physics of the SMEFT in terms of fieldspace connections  $G_i$  depend on the group indices I, A of the (non-spacetime) symmetry groups and multiplying composite operator forms  $f_i$  (which include powers of  $D^{\mu}H$ ). The re-organization is represented schematically by

$$\mathcal{L}_{\text{SMEFT}} = \sum_{i} G_{i}(I, A, \phi \dots) f_{i},$$
  
$$= \frac{1}{2} h_{IJ}(\phi) (D_{\mu}\phi)^{I} (D^{\mu}\phi)^{J} - \frac{1}{4} g_{AB}(\phi) \mathcal{W}^{A}_{\mu\nu} \mathcal{W}^{B\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{4} k_{\mathcal{AB}}(\phi) G^{\mathcal{A},\mu\nu} G_{\mathcal{B},\mu\nu} + \cdots$$
(A.4)

Our notation is such that the covariant derivative acting on the bosonic fields of the SM in the doublet, using real scalar field coordinates, is given by [91]

$$(D^{\mu}\phi)^{I} = \left(\partial^{\mu}\delta^{I}_{J} - \frac{1}{2}\mathcal{W}^{A,\mu}\tilde{\gamma}^{I}_{A,J}\right)\phi^{J},\tag{A.5}$$

with symmetry generators/structure constants ( $\tilde{\epsilon}^A_{BC}, \tilde{\gamma}^I_{A,J}$ ). See refs. [10, 91] for the generators/structure constants for the real scalar representation. The real scalar field co-ordinates ( $\phi_I$ ) of the Higgs scalar doublet are introduced as

$$\hat{H}(\hat{\phi}_I) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \begin{bmatrix} \hat{\phi}_2 + i\hat{\phi}_1 \\ \hat{\phi}_4 + \bar{v}_T - i\hat{\phi}_3 \end{bmatrix}, \qquad \qquad H(\phi_I) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \begin{bmatrix} \phi_2 + i\phi_1 \\ \phi_4 - i\phi_3 \end{bmatrix}.$$
(A.6)

The field-space connections (or metrics)  $h_{IJ}, g_{AB}, k_{\mathcal{AB}}$  are functions of  $\phi_I$  and depend on I, the indices of the generalized canonically normalised Yang Mills ( $\mathcal{W}^A$ ) or the gluon fields ( $G^{\mathcal{A}}$ ). The mass eigenstate fields are  $\Phi^L, \mathcal{A}^A$  and the mass eigenstate ghost field is defined as  $c^A$ . Explicitly, the field sets are

Here  $\mathcal{A} = \{1 \cdots 8\}, A, L, I = \{1 \cdots 4\}$  and the EW couplings are  $\alpha_A = \{g_2, g_2, g_2, g_1\}.$ 

The weak/mass eigenstate field and coupling transformations at all orders in the  $\bar{v}_T/\Lambda$  expansion are given by

 $k_{\mathcal{AB}}(\phi) \to \kappa(\phi) \,\delta_{AB}$  and  $\beta^C$  is obtained directly from  $\alpha^A$  and  $U_{BC}$ . Note that  $\alpha_A \mathcal{W}^{A,\nu}$ and  $g_3^{A,\nu}$  linear terms in the covariant derivative are unchanged by these transformations at all orders in the  $\bar{v}_T / \Lambda$  expansion.<sup>11</sup>

The matrices U, V are unitary rotations; i.e. orthogonal matrices whose transpose is equal to the matrix inverse, and given by

$$U_{BC} = \begin{bmatrix} \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} & \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} & 0 & 0\\ \frac{i}{\sqrt{2}} & \frac{-i}{\sqrt{2}} & 0 & 0\\ 0 & 0 & c_{\overline{\theta}} & s_{\overline{\theta}}\\ 0 & 0 & -s_{\overline{\theta}} & c_{\overline{\theta}} \end{bmatrix}, \qquad \qquad V_{JK} = \begin{bmatrix} \frac{-i}{\sqrt{2}} & \frac{i}{\sqrt{2}} & 0 & 0\\ \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} & \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} & 0 & 0\\ 0 & 0 & -1 & 0\\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix}.$$

Here the angle is defined via the generalized Yang Mills field space metric

$$s_{\bar{\theta}}^{2} = \frac{(g_{1}\sqrt{g}^{44} - g_{2}\sqrt{g}^{34})^{2}}{g_{1}^{2}[(\sqrt{g}^{34})^{2} + (\sqrt{g}^{44})^{2}] + g_{2}^{2}[(\sqrt{g}^{33})^{2} + (\sqrt{g}^{34})^{2}] - 2g_{1}g_{2}\sqrt{g}^{34}(\sqrt{g}^{33} + \sqrt{g}^{44})}.$$
 (A.7)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup>The matrix square roots of these field space connections are  $\sqrt{g}_{AB} = \langle g_{AB} \rangle^{1/2}$ .  $\langle \rangle$  indicates a background field expectation value. The inverses are defined via  $\sqrt{g}^{AB} \sqrt{g}_{BC} \equiv \delta_C^A$ . The field-space connections are positive semi-definite matrices, with unique positive semi-definite square roots. We also use the hat notation for the background field expectation values at times. These conventions apply to  $h^{IJ}$ ,  $k_{\mathcal{RB}}$ .

The geoSMEFT masses and couplings are consistent with ref. [1] and used (at leading order) in SMEFTsim, see refs. [83, 85]. For completeness, the canonically normalised (geometric) masses at  $\mathcal{O}(\bar{v}_T^2/\Lambda^2)$  are

$$\bar{M}_W^2 = \frac{\bar{g}_2^2 \bar{v}_T^2}{4},\tag{A.8}$$

$$\bar{M}_Z^2 = \frac{\bar{v}_T^2}{4} (\bar{g}_1^2 + \bar{g}_2^2) + \frac{1}{8} \bar{v}_T^2 (\bar{g}_1^2 + \bar{g}_2^2) \tilde{C}_{HD} + \frac{1}{2} \bar{v}_T^2 \bar{g}_1 \bar{g}_2 \tilde{C}_{HWB}, \tag{A.9}$$

$$\bar{m}_h^2 = 2\lambda \bar{v}_T^2 \left[ 1 - 3\frac{\tilde{C}_H}{2\lambda} + 2\left(\tilde{C}_{H\square} - \frac{\tilde{C}_{HD}}{4}\right) \right].$$
(A.10)

The geometric SMEFT couplings with  $\mathcal{L}^{(6)}$  corrections are

$$\bar{e} = \frac{\bar{g}_1 \bar{g}_2}{\sqrt{\bar{g}_1^2 + \bar{g}_2^2}} \left[ 1 - \frac{\bar{g}_1 \bar{g}_2}{\bar{g}_1^2 + \bar{g}_2^2} \tilde{C}_{HWB} \right], \qquad \bar{g}_Z = \sqrt{\bar{g}_1^2 + \bar{g}_2^2} + \frac{\bar{g}_1 \bar{g}_2}{\sqrt{\bar{g}_1^2 + \bar{g}_2^2}} \tilde{C}_{HWB}, \qquad (A.11)$$

$$\overline{g}_1 = g_1(1 + \tilde{C}_{HB}), \qquad \overline{g}_2 = g_2(1 + \tilde{C}_{HW})$$
(A.12)

$$\bar{g}_3 = g_s(1 + \tilde{C}_{HG}).$$
 (A.13)

Bowing to past notational conventions we define  $\phi_4 = h$  and use the later symbol in the bulk of this work.

Our gauge fixing is given by ref. [91] in the BFM for the SMEFT. For the EW sector it is

$$\mathcal{L}_{\rm GF}^{EW} = -\frac{\hat{g}_{AB}}{2\xi} \mathcal{G}^A \mathcal{G}^B, \qquad \mathcal{G}^X \equiv \partial_\mu \mathcal{W}^{X,\mu} - \tilde{\epsilon}^X_{\ CD} \hat{\mathcal{W}}^C_\mu \mathcal{W}^{D,\mu} + \frac{\xi}{2} \hat{g}^{XC} \phi^I \hat{h}_{IK} \tilde{\gamma}^K_{C,J} \hat{\phi}^J, \quad (A.14)$$

for the QCD coupling we have analogously the BFM gauge fixing term [92]

$$\mathcal{L}_{\rm GF}^{QCD} = -\frac{\hat{\kappa}}{2\xi_G} \mathcal{G}^{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{G}_{\mathcal{A}}, \qquad \mathcal{G}^{\mathcal{A}} \equiv \partial_{\mu} \mathcal{G}^{\mathcal{A},\mu} - \frac{\bar{g}_3}{\sqrt{\kappa}} f^{\mathcal{ABC}} \hat{\mathcal{G}}_{\mu,\mathcal{B}} \mathcal{G}_{\mu,\mathcal{C}}. \tag{A.15}$$

#### A.2 Combining SMEFT and SM on shell renormalizations

The manner in which the ultraviolet (UV) divergences of the SMEFT combine with those of the SM is subtle. The counterterm induced modifications in results depend on the renormalization scheme used. The different schemes at use in the literature mean that results cannot be casually combined without introducing inconsistent scheme dependence, that can rise to level of the deviations being searched for and interpreted. We specify our scheme for combining SMEFT and SM counterterms in some detail here, along with modifications of SM results.

For UV divergences, one has to define a subtraction scheme for the SM and the SMEFT effects. The SM is renormalized in a combined on shell/ $\overline{\text{MS}}$  subtraction scheme in  $(d = 4-2\epsilon)$  dimensional regularization, following [13, 71, 93, 94]. Renormalization constants

$$Z_{\hat{h}}, Z_{\hat{\mathcal{A}}}, Z_{\hat{\mathcal{G}}}, Z_e, Z_g, Z_v, Z_{m_W^2}, Z_{m_Z^2}, Z_{m_f^2}, Z_{m_h^2},$$
(A.16)

are introduced for the background fields and the couplings (here a 0/r superscript means a bare/renormalized parameter) via

$$\hat{h}^0 = Z_{\hat{k}}^{1/2} \hat{h}^{(r)}, \tag{A.17}$$

$$\hat{\mathcal{A}}^{0}_{\mu} = Z^{1/2}_{\hat{x}} \hat{\mathcal{A}}^{(r)}_{\mu}, \tag{A.18}$$

$$\hat{\mathcal{G}}^0 = Z_{\hat{\mathcal{A}}}^{1/2} \hat{\mathcal{G}}^{(r)}. \tag{A.19}$$

$$\bar{e}^0 - Z \bar{e}^{(r)} u^{\epsilon}$$
 (A 20)

$$\bar{z}^0 - Z \bar{z}^{(r)} u^\epsilon$$
 (A 21)

$$\bar{v}_{T}^{0} = Z_{n}^{1/2} \bar{v}_{T}^{(r)},$$
 (A.22)

and the masses

$$(\bar{m}_W^{(0)})^2 = Z_{m_W^2} (\bar{m}_W^{(r)})^2, \qquad (\bar{m}_Z^{(0)})^2 = Z_{m_Z^2} (\bar{m}_Z^{(r)})^2, \qquad (A.23)$$

$$(\bar{m}_{f}^{(0)})^{2} = Z_{m_{\ell}^{2}}(\bar{m}_{f}^{(r)})^{2}, \qquad (\bar{m}_{h}^{(0)})^{2} = Z_{m_{\ell}^{2}}(\bar{m}_{h}^{(r)})^{2}, \qquad (A.24)$$

with  $m_f$  is a mass of fermion field f. Here we restrict our results to renormalization factors relevant to two loop improving  $\sigma(\mathcal{GG} \to h)$ ,  $\Gamma(h \to \mathcal{GG})$  and  $\Gamma(h \to \mathcal{AA})$ .<sup>12</sup> In addition a tadpole scheme must be defined. We use an FJ tadpole scheme [62]. The one loop correction  $(\Delta v)$  to the vacuum expectation value is fixed by the condition that the one point function of the Higgs field vanishes, including the factor of  $\Delta v$ . As in ref. [12], each of the renormalization constants is expanded as  $Z_i = 1 + \Delta Z_i + \cdots$ . Our notation is to use  $\Delta Z_i$  for the divergence chosen to cancel in a  $\overline{\text{MS}}$  subtraction. The notation  $\Delta R_i$  is reserved for the finite renormalization factors. Again, we generally use  $\Delta$  to indicate a loop correction to a Lagrangian parameter while  $\delta$  is used to indicate a SMEFT perturbation  $\propto 1/\Lambda^n$ .

The full one loop renormalization of  $\mathcal{L}^{(6)}$  is only systematically defined and known for the Warsaw basis [61], and is given in refs. [1, 95–98]. These renormalization results are reported in the unbroken phase of the theory with manifest  $SU(2) \times U(1)_Y$  symmetry. The counter terms map consistently to the broken phase of the theory [99–101]. This is well known in the SM and also the case in the SMEFT. There are some differing results due to renormalization scheme dependence in the literature.<sup>13</sup>

Mass terms in the SMEFT can compensate for powers of  $1/\Lambda$  in the numerator of divergent terms, even when dimensional regularization is used. This means that SMEFT UV counter terms can redefine the running of the SM parameters at the one loop level. In the case of SMEFT  $\mathcal{L}^{(6)}$  running, the only dimensionful parameter in the SM in the unbroken phase that can appear in the numerator is the Higgs vacuum expectation value  $\bar{v}_T$ , or equivalently, the Higgs mass. These "mixing down" results are given completely in ref. [96] for the full set of *i* SM parameters and  $\mathcal{L}^{(6)}$ . We denote the full set of these renormalization factors for the *i* SM parameters by  $\Delta \delta Z^{SM,i}$ .

 $<sup>^{12}\</sup>mathrm{The}$  CKM entries and massive gauge fields are also renormalized, see ref. [94] for details.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup>In addition, there is some confusion in the literature on how the SMEFT counter terms combine with the SM counter terms due to the effects of dimension six operators mixing down. It is instructive to compare our discussion with refs. [21, 81, 102].

We defined the set of SM parameters as  $P_i$ , and these parameters are renormalized in an on shell scheme as in eqs. (A.17)–(A.24). This renormalization is denoted as

$$\hat{P}_i^{(0)} = Z_{ij}^{SM} \, \hat{P}_j^{(r)}, \tag{A.25}$$

and in the SM at one loop  $Z_{ij}^{SM} \propto \delta_{ij}$  for the parameters of interest in this calculation. The leading tree level mapping of the  $\Delta \delta Z_{ij}^{SM}$  renormalization factors to the on shell *i* SM parameters is given at one loop by

$$\hat{P}_{i}^{(0)} = Z_{ij}^{SM} L_{jk}^{SMEFT} \hat{P}_{k}^{(r)}, \qquad (A.26)$$

where  $L_{jk}^{SMEFT} = \delta_{ij} + \Delta \delta Z_{ij}^{SM} + \cdots$  is a function of the  $\Delta \delta Z_{ij}^{SM}$  and follows from a simple set of linear algebra based transformations between the unbroken/broken phase SM parameters at tree level. For example, in the simple case of the Higgs mass, from ref. [96] one has

$$L_{m_{h}^{2}m_{h}^{2}}^{SMEFT} = \left(1 + \frac{1}{16\pi^{2}\epsilon} \frac{m_{h}^{2}}{\Lambda^{2}} \left[C_{HD} - 2C_{H\Box}\right] \cdots\right)$$
(A.27)

so that in the BFM with SMEFT  $\xi$  gauge fixing [91] one has (to one loop order)

$$(\bar{m}_h^{(0)})^2 = Z_{m_h^2}^{SM} L_{m_h^2 m_h^2}^{SMEFT} (\bar{m}_h^{(r)})^2, \tag{A.28}$$

$$= (\bar{m}_{h}^{(r)})^{2} \left( 1 + \frac{(3+\xi)(\bar{g}_{1}^{2}+3\bar{g}_{2}^{2})}{64\pi^{2}\epsilon} - \frac{Y}{16\pi^{2}\epsilon} + \frac{[C_{HD}-2C_{H\Box}]}{16\pi^{2}\epsilon} \frac{(\bar{m}_{h}^{(r)})^{2}}{\Lambda^{2}} \right), \quad (A.29)$$

with

$$Y = \operatorname{Tr}\left[N_c Y_u^{\dagger} Y_u + N_c Y_d^{\dagger} Y_d + Y_e^{\dagger} Y_e\right].$$
(A.30)

Our notation for Yukawa matricies is defined in appendix A.

A more involved example is the top quark. Combining an on-shell renormalization with the SMEFT corrections

$$(\bar{m}_t^{(0)})^2 = Z_{m_t^2}^{SM} L_{m_t^2 m_t^2}^{SMEFT} (\bar{m}_t^{(r)})^2,$$
(A.31)

$$= Z_{m_t^2}^{SM} (Z_{[Y_u]_{tt}[Y_u]_{tt}}^{SMEFT})^2 (\bar{m}_t^{(r)})^2.$$
(A.32)

The contributions from the SMEFT only follow from the renormalized top Yukawa and are given in eq. 4.3 of ref. [96]. SMEFT running effects on SM parameters could exist in principal for  $Z_v$ , but these corrections are related to  $Z_{\hat{h}}$  in the BFM. The latter does not have  $\Delta \delta Z_{\hat{h}}$  corrections in the SMEFT [96], in the unbroken phase of the theory. In fact, a stronger statement can be made about the lack of such mixing down effects for  $\Delta \delta^n Z_{\hat{h}}$ based on the geoSMEFT. See appendix A.3 for a short proof to this effect.

In a similar manner as to the  $\bar{m}_t, \bar{m}_h$  examples, all SMEFT corrections to the running of the SM parameters relevant for renormalizing the one loop SM amplitudes for  $\sigma(\mathcal{GG} \to h)$ ,  $\Gamma(h \to \mathcal{GG})$  and  $\Gamma(h \to \mathcal{AA})$  descend from the results in ref. [96]. The SMEFT corrections to the SM amplitude in the background field method, and  $\overline{\text{MS}}$ , of interest here are to the gluon coupling and the top quark mass (via the top Yukawa).

The corrections in the SMEFT to these counter terms due to  $\mathcal{L}^{(6)} \propto \bar{g}_3$  are

$$\Delta \delta Z_g = -\frac{\bar{m}_h^2}{16\pi^2 \epsilon} (4\pi)^\epsilon e^{-\epsilon \gamma_E} \frac{\tilde{C}_{HG}^{(6)}}{\Lambda^2}, \qquad (A.33)$$

Combining SMEFT and SM corrections in a consistent fashion strongly depends on the normalization choice for the parameters introduced in  $\mathcal{L}^{(6)}$ . If the choice is made that  $\tilde{C}_{HG}^{(6)} \propto g_3$  then the corrections in  $\Delta \delta Z_g$  shown scale as  $g_3$  and should be retained when considering a NLO calculation restricted to QCD couplings. Alternatively if  $\tilde{C}_{HG}^{(6)}$  is defined with a normalization not  $\propto g_3$ , then including these corrections means improving a calculation to include mixed terms in the SM couplings and SMEFT Wilson coefficients. Any reasonable choice can be made in terms of what terms to include and what normalization to choose, so long as consistency is maintained in the calculation. In the case of the BFM, the corrections in  $\Delta Z_g$  in the SM and the SMEFT cancel against the corrections introduced to the gluon field strength renormalization as the identity  $Z_G Z_g^2 = 1$  is maintained for the counter terms, including finite corrections.

 $\Delta Z_{m_t}$  can be extended with a further correction in the SMEFT that is not due to the gluon correction to the mass renormalization. SMEFT corrections are also present in  $\Delta \delta Z_{m_h^2}^{SMEFT}$ . if one retains terms that are expected to be sizable due to known SM couplings (i.e. known IR physics of the SM). It is reasonable to choose to retain all of these sets of terms via a correction  $Z_{m_t}^2/Z_{m_h^2} = 1 + 2\Delta \delta Z_{m_t} - \Delta \delta Z_{m_h^2} + \cdots$ . In this case, we note

$$\Delta\delta Z_{m_t} = \frac{1}{32\pi^2\epsilon} \frac{\bar{m}_H^2}{\Lambda^2} \left[ 3C_{uH}^* - C_{H\Box}[Y_u]_{tt} + \frac{1}{2}C_{HD}[Y_u]_{tt} - [Y_u]_{tt} \left( C_{Hq}^{(1)} + 3C_{Hq}^{(3)} \right) + C_{Hu}[Y_u]_{tt} - 2\left( C_{qu}^{(1)*} + c_{F,3}C_{qu}^{(8)*} \right) [Y_u]_{tt} + \cdots \right], \qquad (A.34)$$

$$\Delta \delta Z_{m_h^2} = \frac{1}{16\pi^2 \epsilon} \frac{\bar{m}_H^2}{\Lambda^2} \left( C_{HD} - 2C_{H\Box} \right), \tag{A.35}$$

here  $c_{F,3} = 4/3$  and  $[Y_u]_{tt}$  is the SM top Yukawa. There are more  $\Delta \delta Z_{m_t}^{SMEFT}$  terms that we have suppressed here, as these terms multiply the known small Yukawa couplings of the SM.

### A.3 Higgs Wavefunction Renormalization $\Delta \delta^n$ effects in geoSMEFT

Using heat kernel techniques, at one loop order, the Higgs wavefunction renormalization and mass renormalization can be defined to subtract the divergences present in the theory. The corresponding divergent terms can be written in this approach at one loop order geometrically as [103, 104]

$$\mathcal{L}_{div} = \frac{1}{64\pi^2\epsilon} \left[ -2(\nabla^I \nabla^J \mathcal{I}) R_{IKJL} (D\phi)^K (D\phi)^L - (\nabla^I \nabla_J \mathcal{I}) (\nabla^J \nabla_I \mathcal{I}) \right] + \cdots$$
(A.36)

Here the dimensional regularization is given by  $d = 4 - 2\epsilon$ ,  $R_{IKJL}$  is the Riemann curvature tensor for the scalar metric  $h_{IJ}$  and  $\mathcal{I}$  is an invariant scalar density on the scalar manifold.

Note that

$$R_{IKJL} = h_{IM} R^M_{KJL}, \tag{A.37}$$

$$= h_{IM} \left[ \partial_J \Gamma^M_{LK} - \partial_L \Gamma^M_{JK} + \Gamma^M_{JN} \Gamma^N_{LK} - \Gamma^M_{LN} \Gamma^N_{JK} \right], \tag{A.38}$$

and

$$\Gamma^{I}_{JK} = \frac{1}{2} h^{IL} \left( h_{LJ,K} + h_{LK,J} - h_{JK,L} \right), \tag{A.39}$$

$$\nabla_I \nabla_J \mathcal{I} = \frac{\partial^2 \mathcal{I}}{\partial \phi^I \partial \phi^J} - \Gamma_{IJ}^K \frac{\partial \mathcal{I}}{\partial \phi^K}.$$
 (A.40)

The first term in eq. (A.36) with indices I = J = K = L = 4 corresponds to Higgs wavefunction renormalization in the geoSMEFT, and in particular possible effects of dimension dhigher dimensional operators mixing down modifying the Higgs wavefunction renormalization proportional to  $(v^2/\Lambda^2)^{d-4}$ . It is easy to verify that  $R_{4444} \equiv 0$ . As a result, this tower of higher dimensional operator mixing down effects exactly vanish at one loop. In the background field method, this has an important consequence. As a result of the identity

$$\left(\sqrt{Z_v} + \frac{\Delta^n \delta^m v}{\bar{v}_T^0}\right)_{div} \equiv \Delta^n \delta^m Z_{\hat{h}},\tag{A.41}$$

such corrections to the tadpole corrected vev also vanish for all  $n, m \ge 1$ . This argument is an example of the utility of the geoSMEFT and thinking in terms of field space geometries. Using an operator approach, at each order, two point functions and four point functions would have to be laboriously and explicitly evaluated for divergences for each operator, at each mass dimension in the SMEFT to draw the same conclusion.

The geoSMEFT also makes clear how the mass renormalization of the Higgs is modified by mixing down effects, introduced to cancel the second term in eq. (A.36). All of these effects are proportional to the Higgs mass, as this is only dimensionful scale in the unbroken phase of the theory where the renormalization of the SM and SMEFT corrections can be carried out [99–101].

### **B** One Loop Functions

We define the standard function  $(\tau_p = 4m_p^2/\bar{m}_h^2)$ 

$$A_{1/2}(\tau_p) = -2\tau_p \left[1 + (1 - \tau_p)f(\tau_p)\right], \tag{B.1}$$

taking  $m_t \to \infty$ ,  $A_{1/2}(\tau_f \gg 1) \to -\frac{4}{3} + \mathcal{O}(1/\tau_f)$ . Similarly, we also define

$$A_1(\tau_p) = 2 + 3\tau_p \left[ 1 + (2 - \tau_p) f(\tau_p) \right], \tag{B.2}$$

We also note

$$f(\tau_p) = \begin{cases} \arcsin^2 \sqrt{1/\tau_p}, & \tau_p \ge 1\\ -\frac{1}{4} \left[ \ln \frac{1+\sqrt{1-\tau_p}}{1-\sqrt{1-\tau_p}} - i\pi \right]^2, & \tau_p < 1. \end{cases}$$
(B.3)

Also used are

$$\mathcal{I}[m^2] \equiv \int_0^1 dx \log\left(\frac{m^2 - \bar{m}_h^2 x (1-x)}{\bar{m}_h^2}\right) \qquad \qquad \mathcal{J}_x[m^2] \equiv \int_0^1 dx \frac{x m^2}{m^2 - \bar{m}_h^2 x (1-x)}, \quad (B.4)$$

$$\mathcal{I}_{y}[m^{2}] \equiv \int_{0}^{1-x} dy \int_{0}^{1} dx \, \frac{m^{2}}{m^{2} - m_{h}^{2} x \left(1 - x - y\right)}.$$
(B.5)

 $\mathcal{I}, \mathcal{I}_y, \mathcal{I}_{xx}$  for  $\tau \geq 1$  (while restricting our results to top loops) are

$$\mathcal{I}[m_p] \equiv \log\left(\frac{\tau_p}{4}\right) + 2\sqrt{\tau_p - 1} \arctan\left(\frac{1}{\sqrt{\tau_p - 1}}\right) - 2, \tag{B.6}$$

$$\mathcal{I}_{y}[m_{p}] \equiv \frac{\tau_{p}}{2} \arcsin^{2}(1/\sqrt{\tau_{p}}), \tag{B.7}$$

$$\mathcal{I}_{xx}[m_p] \equiv \frac{\tau_p}{\sqrt{\tau_p - 1}} \arctan\left(\frac{1}{\sqrt{\tau_p - 1}}\right). \tag{B.8}$$

### C Endpoint regulation

Regulation of the z = 1 singularity is done with

$$(1-z)^{-1-2\epsilon} = \left(\frac{1}{1-z}\right)_{+} -2\epsilon \left(\frac{\log(1-z)}{1-z}\right)_{+} -\frac{1}{2\epsilon}\delta(1-z),\tag{C.1}$$

with plus function definitions

$$\int_{0}^{1} dx \frac{f(x)}{(x)_{+}} = \int_{0}^{1} dx \frac{f(x) - f(0)}{x},$$
 (C.2)

$$\int_{0}^{1} df(x) \left(\frac{\log(x)}{x}\right)_{+} = \int_{0}^{1} dx \frac{(f(x) - f(0))\log(x)}{x}.$$
 (C.3)

The Altarelli-Parisi [105] splitting function is defined as

$$p_{\mathcal{GG}}(z) = 2z \left( \left( \frac{1}{1-z} \right)_{+} - z + \frac{f_1(z)}{z^2} \right) + \frac{\beta_0}{6} \delta(1-z).$$
(C.4)

A common function of z is  $f_1(z) = z^2 - z + 1$ . A useful distribution identity is

$$2\left(\frac{1}{1-z}\right)_{+} f_1(z)^2 \equiv z \, p_{\mathcal{GG}}(z) - \frac{\beta_0}{6}\delta(1-z). \tag{C.5}$$

### D Common One loop results

 $\hat{v}_T^2$  corresponds to an experimentally measured extraction of the vacuum expectation value

$$\bar{v}_T = \hat{v}_T \left( 1 + \Delta G_F + \frac{\delta G_F^{(6)}}{\sqrt{2}} \right), \tag{D.1}$$

Here

$$\delta G_F^{(6)} \equiv \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \left( \tilde{C}_{Hl}^{(3)} + \tilde{C}_{Hl}^{(3)} - \frac{1}{2} \left( \tilde{C}'_{\ \ \mu e \mu} + \tilde{C}'_{\ \ \mu \mu e} \right) \right). \tag{D.2}$$

The one loop corrections to the vev are [12]

$$\Delta G_F = -\frac{\bar{v}_T^2}{4} \Delta L^{V,LL} + \frac{\Delta L_{ew}^{V,LL}}{2}, \qquad (D.3)$$

with [106, 107] giving

$$\Delta L_{ew}^{V,LL} = -\frac{\alpha_{ew}}{4\pi} \left( \pi^2 - \frac{25}{4} \right), \tag{D.4}$$

and the remaining term has been determined in ref. [72] to be<sup>14</sup>

$$\begin{split} \bar{v}_{T}^{2} \Delta L^{V,LL} &= \frac{\left(7\bar{m}_{h}^{4} + \bar{m}_{h}^{2} \left(2\bar{m}_{t}^{2} N_{c} - 5\left(2\bar{m}_{W}^{2} + \bar{m}_{Z}^{2}\right)\right) + 4\left(-4\bar{m}_{t}^{4} N_{c} + 2\bar{m}_{W}^{4} + \bar{m}_{Z}^{4}\right)\right)}{16\pi^{2} \bar{m}_{h}^{2} \bar{v}_{T}^{2}} \\ &+ \frac{3(\bar{m}_{h}^{4} - 2\bar{m}_{h}^{2} \bar{m}_{W}^{2})}{8\pi^{2} \bar{v}_{T}^{2} (\bar{m}_{h}^{2} - \bar{m}_{W}^{2})} \log\left(\frac{\hat{\mu}^{2}}{\bar{m}_{h}^{2}}\right) + \frac{\bar{m}_{t}^{2} N_{c} (\bar{m}_{h}^{2} - 4\bar{m}_{t}^{2})}{4\pi^{2} \bar{m}_{h}^{2} \bar{v}_{T}^{2}} \log\left(\frac{\hat{\mu}^{2}}{\bar{m}_{t}^{2}}\right) \\ &+ \frac{3((\bar{m}_{h}^{2} (\bar{m}_{h}^{2} - 2\bar{m}_{W}^{2} \bar{m}_{Z}^{2}) + 2\bar{m}_{Z}^{4} (\bar{m}_{W}^{2} - \bar{m}_{Z}^{2})}{8\pi^{2} \bar{m}_{h}^{2} \bar{v}_{T}^{2} (\bar{m}_{W}^{2} - \bar{m}_{Z}^{2})} \log\left(\frac{\hat{\mu}^{2}}{\bar{m}_{Z}^{2}}\right) \\ &- \frac{3\bar{m}_{W}^{2} (\bar{m}_{h}^{4} (\bar{m}_{W}^{2} - 2\bar{m}_{Z}^{2}) + \bar{m}_{h}^{2} (7\bar{m}_{W}^{2} \bar{m}_{Z}^{2} - 6\bar{m}_{W}^{4}) + 4\bar{m}_{W}^{4} (\bar{m}_{W}^{2} - \bar{m}_{Z}^{2}))}{8\pi^{2} \bar{m}_{h}^{2} \bar{v}_{T}^{2} (\bar{m}_{h}^{2} - \bar{m}_{W}^{2}) (\bar{m}_{W}^{2} - \bar{m}_{Z}^{2})} \log\left(\frac{\hat{\mu}^{2}}{\bar{m}_{W}^{2}}\right). \end{split}$$
(D.5)

The one loop function  $\Delta M_1$  is given by [108]

$$\Delta M_1 \equiv \left(\frac{\Delta R_h}{2} + \frac{\Delta v}{v} + \frac{(\sqrt{3}\pi - 6)\lambda}{16\pi^2} + \frac{1}{16\pi^2} \left(\frac{\bar{g}_1^2}{4} + \frac{3\bar{g}_2^2}{4} + 6\lambda\right) \log\left[\frac{\bar{m}_h^2}{\hat{\mu}^2}\right]\right) + \frac{1}{16\pi^2} \left(\frac{\bar{g}_1^2}{4} \mathcal{I}[\bar{m}_Z] + (\frac{\bar{g}_2^2}{4} + \lambda)(\mathcal{I}[\bar{m}_Z] + 2\mathcal{I}[\bar{m}_W])\right).$$
(D.6)

This expression is formally dependent in individual terms on a gauge fixing parameter which cancels in the common sum of terms present in  $\Delta M_1$ . See refs. [108?] for details. We have set  $\xi = 1$  in this expression for brevity of presentation.  $\Delta v$  is defined by the condition T = 0 on [108] (with  $\xi = 1$ )

$$\begin{split} T &= \bar{m}_{h}^{2} h \, \bar{v}_{T} \, \frac{1}{16\pi^{2}} \left[ -16\pi^{2} \frac{\Delta v}{\bar{v}_{T}} + 3\lambda \left( 1 + \log\left[\frac{\hat{\mu}^{2}}{\bar{m}_{h}^{2}}\right] \right) + \frac{1}{4} \, \bar{g}_{2}^{2} \left( 1 + \log\left[\frac{\hat{\mu}^{2}}{\bar{m}_{W}^{2}}\right] \right) \end{split} \tag{D.7} \\ &+ \frac{1}{8} (\bar{g}_{1}^{2} + \bar{g}_{2}^{2}) \left( 1 + \log\left[\frac{\hat{\mu}^{2}}{\bar{m}_{Z}^{2}}\right] \right) - 2\sum_{\psi} y_{\psi}^{2} N_{c} \frac{\bar{m}_{\psi}^{2}}{\bar{m}_{h}^{2}} \left( 1 + \log\left[\frac{\hat{\mu}^{2}}{\bar{m}_{\psi}^{2}}\right] \right) \\ &+ \frac{\bar{g}_{2}^{2}}{2} \frac{\bar{m}_{W}^{2}}{\bar{m}_{h}^{2}} \left( 1 + 3\log\left[\frac{\hat{\mu}^{2}}{\bar{m}_{W}^{2}}\right] \right) + \frac{1}{4} (\bar{g}_{1}^{2} + \bar{g}_{2}^{2}) \frac{\bar{m}_{Z}^{2}}{\bar{m}_{h}^{2}} \left( 1 + 3\log\left[\frac{\hat{\mu}^{2}}{\bar{m}_{Z}^{2}}\right] \right) \right]. \end{split}$$

 $<sup>^{14}</sup>$ Here we have set the evanescent scheme parameter in this result (bEvan=1) to be consistent with naive tree level Fierz identities used in the matching. Note the correction posted in the erratta to ref. [72] dealing with this issue.

The finite results for the Higgs wavefunction renormalization in the BFM are [108]

$$16\pi^{2}\Delta R_{h}$$

$$= 2\lambda \left(6 - \sqrt{3}\pi - \mathcal{J}_{x}[\bar{m}_{Z}^{2}] - 2\mathcal{J}_{x}[\bar{m}_{W}^{2}]\right) + 2\bar{g}_{2}^{2} \left(\left(\mathcal{J}_{x}[\bar{m}_{W}^{2}] - \frac{1}{2}\right)\left(1 - \frac{3\bar{m}_{W}^{2}}{\bar{m}_{h}^{2}}\right) - \mathcal{I}[\bar{m}_{W}^{2}]\right)$$

$$+ \left(\sum_{\psi} y_{\psi}^{2} N_{c} - \bar{g}_{1}^{2} - 3\bar{g}_{2}^{2}\right) \log\left(\frac{\bar{m}_{h}^{2}}{\hat{\mu}^{2}}\right) + \left(\bar{g}_{1}^{2} + \bar{g}_{2}^{2}\right) \left(\left(\mathcal{J}_{x}[\bar{m}_{Z}^{2}] - \frac{1}{2}\right)\left(1 - \frac{3\bar{m}_{Z}^{2}}{\bar{m}_{h}^{2}}\right) - \mathcal{I}[\bar{m}_{Z}^{2}]\right)$$

$$+ \sum_{\psi} y_{\psi}^{2} N_{c} \left(1 + \left(1 + \frac{2\bar{m}_{\psi}^{2}}{\bar{m}_{h}^{2}}\right) \mathcal{I}[\bar{m}_{\psi}^{2}] - \frac{2\bar{m}_{\psi}^{2}}{\bar{m}_{h}^{2}} \log\left(\frac{\bar{m}_{\psi}^{2}}{\bar{m}_{h}^{2}}\right)\right). \tag{D.8}$$

We also use

$$\Delta R_{\hat{\mathcal{A}}} = \frac{\bar{g}_1^2 \bar{g}_2^2}{(\bar{g}_1^2 + \bar{g}_2^2)} \left[ -\frac{7}{16\pi^2} \log\left(\frac{\hat{\mu}^2}{\bar{m}_W^2}\right) + \sum_{\psi} \frac{N_c^{\psi} Q_{\psi}^2}{12\pi^2} \log\left(\frac{\hat{\mu}^2}{\bar{m}_{\psi}^2}\right) - \frac{1}{24\pi^2} \right].$$
(D.9)

This result was successfully verified comparing to the explicit calculation reported in ref. [72]. The Ward identities in the SMEFT in the BFM [9] have been validated at one loop [13, 92]. These identities also give

$$\Delta Z_e = -\frac{1}{2} \Delta Z_{\hat{\mathcal{A}}},$$
  
$$\Delta R_e = -\frac{1}{2} \Delta R_{\hat{\mathcal{A}}}.$$
 (D.10)

In the  $\{\hat{m}_W, \hat{m}_Z, \hat{G}_F\}$  scheme one has [12]

$$\frac{\Delta g_1}{\hat{g}_1} = \frac{\Delta G_F}{2} + \frac{\Delta R_{m_W} \,\hat{m}_W^2 - \Delta R_{m_Z} \,\hat{m}_Z^2}{\hat{m}_W^2 - \hat{m}_Z^2},\tag{D.11}$$

$$\frac{\Delta g_2}{\hat{g}_2} = \frac{\Delta G_F}{2} + \Delta R_{m_W},\tag{D.12}$$

while the  $\{\hat{\alpha}_{ew}, \hat{m}_Z, \hat{G}_F\}$  scheme defines [12]

$$\frac{\Delta g_1}{\hat{g}_1} = \frac{\Delta e}{\hat{e}} - \frac{\Delta c_\theta}{c_{\hat{\theta}}},\tag{D.13}$$

$$\frac{\Delta g_2}{\hat{g}_2} = \frac{\Delta e}{\hat{e}} - \frac{\Delta s_\theta}{s_{\hat{\theta}}},\tag{D.14}$$

where

$$\frac{\Delta s_{\theta}}{s_{\hat{\theta}}} = \frac{1 - s_{\hat{\theta}}^2}{2\left(1 - 2s_{\hat{\theta}}^2\right)} \left[\frac{\Delta \alpha}{\alpha} - \Delta G_F - 2\Delta R_{M_Z}\right]. \tag{D.15}$$

The BFM expressions for  $\Delta R_{m_W,m_Z}$  are somewhat lengthy and given in the appendix ref. [12].

### E $\Delta \delta \sigma(\mathcal{GG} \rightarrow h)$ and quadratic $\delta^2 \sigma(\mathcal{GG} \rightarrow h)$ results

Explicitly, in the  $m_t \to \infty$  limit, the leading results for the interference with the SM one loop amplitude are [2, 28, 109]

$$\Delta^2 \hat{\sigma}_{LO}^{SM,m_t \to \infty} (\mathcal{G}\mathcal{G} \to h) \equiv \frac{\pi}{4} \lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \left| \Delta C_{h\mathcal{G}\mathcal{G}}^{SM,m_t \to \infty} \right|^2,$$
$$= \frac{(\alpha_s^{(r)})^2}{576 \pi \bar{v}_T^2},$$
(E.1)

while

$$\frac{\Delta\delta\hat{\sigma}(\mathcal{G}\mathcal{G}\to h)[\tilde{C}_{HG}^{(6)}]}{\Delta^2\hat{\sigma}_{LO}^{SM,m_t\to\infty}(\mathcal{G}\mathcal{G}\to h)} = \frac{24\pi}{\alpha_s^{(r)}}\tilde{C}_{HG},\tag{E.2}$$

and a contribution at  $\delta^2$  order (in the  $m_t \to \infty$  limit) is

$$\frac{\delta^2 \hat{\sigma} (\mathcal{G}\mathcal{G} \to h) [(\tilde{C}_{HG}^{(6)})^2]}{\Delta^2 \hat{\sigma}_{LO}^{SM} (\mathcal{G}\mathcal{G} \to h)} = 9 \left(\frac{4\pi}{\alpha_s^{(r)}}\right)^2 (\tilde{C}_{HG}^{(6)})^2.$$
(E.3)

The results for these ratios reported in ref. [12] were further scaled by a correction factor of  $(1+11\alpha_s^{(r)}/2\pi)^{-1} \simeq 1.21$ , using  $\alpha_s \simeq 0.118$  due to the inclusion of the partial NLO result easily retaining by the two loop matching correction to the SM result. Using ref. [30] we can improve this rough approximation (while still in the  $m_t \to \infty$  limit) using

$$\frac{\Delta^3 \sigma^{SM}}{\Delta^2 \hat{\sigma}_{LO,\epsilon \to 0}^{SM}} = \frac{\alpha_s^{(r)}}{4\pi} \left[ 4\pi^2 + 22 \right] \delta(1-z) + \frac{6\alpha_s^{(r)} f_1^2(z)}{\pi} \log\left(\frac{s}{\hat{\mu}^2}\right) \left(\frac{1}{1-z}\right)_+ -11 \frac{\alpha_s^{(r)}}{2\pi} (1-z)^3 + \frac{3\alpha_s^{(r)}}{\pi} z p_{\mathcal{GG}}(z) \log\left(\frac{\hat{\mu}^2}{\mu_F^2}\right) + \frac{12\alpha_s^{(r)}}{\pi} f_1^2(z) \left(\frac{\log(1-z)}{1-z}\right)_+.$$
(E.4)

Here we used the AP counterterm that accounts for  $L_{\hat{m}_t}$  dependence

$$\Delta^{2} \delta \sigma_{DRc.t}^{AP} \equiv \Delta^{2} \hat{\sigma}_{LO,\epsilon \to 0}^{SM} (\mathcal{G} \mathcal{G} \to h) \frac{3\alpha_{s}^{(r)}}{2\pi} \left[ \left( \frac{\mu^{2}}{\mu_{F}^{2}} \right)^{\epsilon} \right] \times (4\pi)^{\epsilon} \frac{\Gamma(1+\epsilon)\Gamma(1-\epsilon)^{2}}{\Gamma(1-2\epsilon)} \left[ \frac{1}{\epsilon} + 1 - 2L_{\hat{m}_{t}} \right] z \, p_{\mathcal{G}\mathcal{G}}(z). \tag{E.5}$$

### E.1 $\Delta \delta \sigma (\mathcal{G}\mathcal{G} \rightarrow h)$

The contributions to  $\langle \mathcal{GG} | h \rangle^{1}_{\mathcal{O}(v^{2}/\Lambda^{2})}$  that need to be added to eq. (3.39) follow from the following perturbations. We express these various terms as [12]

$$\langle \mathcal{GG} | h \rangle^{1}_{\mathcal{O}(v_{T}^{2}/\Lambda^{2})} = -4[\Delta G_{F} + \Delta M_{1}] \frac{\tilde{C}_{HG}^{(6)}}{\hat{v}_{T}} K_{ab} - 4\left(\frac{\tilde{C}_{i} \Delta f_{i}}{16 \pi^{2} \hat{v}_{T}^{2}}\right) \hat{v}_{T} K_{ab}.$$
(E.6)

where  $\tilde{C}_i \Delta f_i$  contains all corrections — from operator mixing and  $\mathcal{O}(\bar{v}_T^2/\Lambda^2)$  corrections to the SM — that are not proportional to  $\tilde{C}_{HG}^{(6)}$ . The  $\Delta f_i$  are [21, 110, 111] (using  $\tau_p =$   $4m_p^2/\bar{m}_h^2$ 

$$\Delta f_{H\square} = -\sum_{f} \alpha_s \pi A_{1/2}(\tau_f), \qquad (E.7)$$

$$\Delta f_{HD} = \frac{1}{4} \sum_{f} \alpha_s \pi A_{1/2}(\tau_f),$$
 (E.8)

$$\Delta f_{\delta G_F} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \sum_f \alpha_s \pi A_{1/2}(\tau_f), \qquad (E.9)$$

$$\left[Y_{\psi_{ff}'}\right]\Delta f_{\psi_{ff}'H} = \sum_{f} \alpha_s \pi A_{1/2}(\tau_f).$$
(E.10)

In practice, contributions from light fermions to the  $\Delta f_i$  are suppressed since  $A_{1/2}(\tau_f \ll 1) \sim \tau \sim \left[Y_{\psi'_{ff}}\right]^2$ , so we will only include effects from the top and bottom quarks. The dipole operators enter at one loop [21, 110, 111], the only term which enter at  $\mathcal{O}(v_T^2/16\pi^2\Lambda^2)$  (again retaining only the  $Y_{t,b}$  terms) are the  $\mathcal{L}^{(6)}$  operators  $\tilde{C}_{uG}$  and  $\tilde{C}_{dG}$ :

$$\langle \mathcal{GG}|h\rangle^{1}_{\mathcal{O}(v^{2}/\Lambda^{2})} \supset -\frac{\sqrt{\kappa}\bar{g}_{3}}{8\pi^{2}\bar{v}_{T}} \left(\Delta f_{uG}\tilde{C}_{uG}[Y]_{tt} + \Delta f_{dG}\tilde{C}_{dG}[Y]_{bb} + h.c.\right) K_{ab}, \quad (E.11)$$

where

$$\Delta f_{uG} = \left[ -1 + 2\log\left(\frac{\hat{\mu}^2}{\hat{m}_h^2}\right) + \log\left(\frac{4}{\tau_t}\right) \right] - 2\mathcal{I}_y[m_t^2] - \mathcal{I}[m_t^2],$$
  
$$\Delta f_{dG} = \left[ -1 + 2\log\left(\frac{\hat{\mu}^2}{\hat{m}_h^2}\right) + 2\log\left(\frac{4}{\tau_b}\right) \right] - \tau_b f(\tau_b) - 4i\sqrt{1 - \tau_b} f^{1/2}(\tau_b). \quad (E.12)$$

This set of  $\Delta^2 \delta$  corrections in the  $m_t \to \infty$  limit are [12]

$$\frac{\Delta^2 \delta \sigma(\mathcal{G}\mathcal{G} \to h)}{\Delta^2 \hat{\sigma}_{LO,\epsilon \to 0}^{SM}(\mathcal{G}\mathcal{G} \to h)} = \frac{24\pi}{\alpha_s^{(r)}} \left[ [\Delta G_F + \Delta M_1] \tilde{C}_{HG}^{(6)} + \operatorname{Re}\left(\frac{\tilde{C}_i \Delta f_i}{16\pi^2}\right) \right] \delta(1-z). \quad (E.13)$$

### E.2 $\delta^2 \sigma(\mathcal{GG} \rightarrow h)$ geoSMEFT terms

The  $\mathcal{O}(v_T^4/\Lambda^4)$  terms are denoted as  $\delta^2$  terms. There are two sets of terms of this order. One that follows from the "self-square" or "quadratic" term of the tree level  $\tilde{C}_{HG}$  dependence, and a further set of terms that are obtained consistently expanding to  $\delta^2$  order. In this subsection we report the later set of terms.

For the  $\mathcal{GG} \to h$  amplitude these corrections are [12]

$$\langle \mathcal{G}\mathcal{G} | \phi_4 \rangle^0_{\mathcal{O}(v^4/\Lambda^4)} = \langle \sqrt{h}^{44} \rangle_{\mathcal{O}(v^2/\Lambda^2)} \langle \mathcal{G}\mathcal{G} | \phi_4 \rangle^0_{\mathcal{O}(v^2/\Lambda^2)}$$

$$+ 2 \frac{v_T [\langle \mathcal{G}\mathcal{G} | \phi_4 \rangle^0_{\mathcal{O}(v^2/\Lambda^2)}]^2}{\langle \mathcal{G}\mathcal{G} | \phi_4 \rangle^0} + (\langle \mathcal{G}\mathcal{G} | \phi_4 \rangle^0_{\mathcal{O}(v^2/\Lambda^2)}) \Big|_{\tilde{C}^{(6)}_{HG} \to \tilde{C}^{(8)}_{HG}}$$
(E.14)

where  $\langle \sqrt{h}^{44} \rangle_{\mathcal{O}(v^2/\Lambda^2)} = \tilde{C}_{H\square}^{(6)} - \frac{1}{4} \tilde{C}_{HD}^{(6)}$ . A term from the redefinition of  $\bar{v}_T$  in its relation to input observables is formally present but suppressed as it cancels when the SM amplitude

is interfered with, which is  $\propto 1/\bar{v}_T$ . These dimension eight interference corrections in the  $m_t \to \infty$  limit are [12]

$$\frac{\Delta\delta^2 \sigma(\mathcal{G}\mathcal{G} \to h)}{\Delta^2 \hat{\sigma}_{LO,\epsilon \to 0}^{SM}(\mathcal{G}\mathcal{G} \to h)} = \frac{24\pi}{\alpha_s^{(r)}} \left[ \left( \langle \sqrt{h}^{44} \rangle_{\mathcal{O}(v^2/\Lambda^2)} + 2\tilde{C}_{HG}^{(6)} \right) \tilde{C}_{HG}^{(6)} + \tilde{C}_{HG}^{(8)} \right] \delta(1-z).$$
(E.15)

Note that taking the "quadratic" dependence on  $\tilde{C}_{HG}^2$  (the square of the  $\delta$  correction due to this operator) does not generate all terms dependent on  $\tilde{C}_{HG}^2$  in the observable. See ref. [11] for more discussion.

### F $\Delta\delta\Gamma(h \rightarrow \mathcal{GG})$ and quadratic $\delta^2\Gamma(h \rightarrow \mathcal{GG})$ results

The results unchanged from ref. [12] are as follows. The leading order result in the  $m_t \to \infty$  limit is

$$\Delta^2 \Gamma(h \to \mathcal{G}\mathcal{G})_{SM} \equiv \frac{2}{\pi} \hat{m}_h^3 \lim_{\epsilon \to \infty} |\Delta C_{h\mathcal{G}\mathcal{G}}^{SM,m_t \to \infty}|^2, \tag{F.1}$$

leading to

$$\frac{\Delta\delta\Gamma(h\to\mathcal{GG})}{\Delta^2\Gamma(h\to\mathcal{GG})_{SM}} \equiv \frac{24\pi}{\alpha_s^{(r)}}\tilde{C}_{HG}^{(6)},\tag{F.2}$$

and

$$\frac{\delta^2 \Gamma(h \to \mathcal{G} \mathcal{G})}{\Delta^2 \Gamma(h \to \mathcal{G} \mathcal{G})_{SM}} \equiv 9 \left(\frac{4\pi}{\alpha_s^{(r)}}\right)^2 (\tilde{C}_{HG}^{(6)})^2.$$
(F.3)

### F.1 $\Delta \delta \Gamma(h \rightarrow \mathcal{G} \mathcal{G})$

As previously reported in ref. [12], the EW correction is identical to the case of  $\sigma(\mathcal{GG} \to h)$ ,

$$\frac{\Delta\delta\Gamma(h\to\mathcal{GG})_{EW}^{m_t\to\infty}}{\Delta^2\Gamma(h\to\mathcal{GG})_{SM}} = \frac{24\pi}{\alpha_s} \times \left( \left[ \Delta G_F + \Delta M_1 + \Delta R_\mathcal{G} \right] \tilde{C}_{HG}^{(6)} + \sum_i \frac{\operatorname{Re}\tilde{C}_i^{(6)}\Delta f_i^{(6)}}{16\pi^2} \right).$$
(F.4)

In this expression we also include the BFM wavefunction renormalization finite factor of the final state gluons

$$\Delta R_{\mathcal{G}} = \frac{1}{24\pi^2} \sum_{f} \log\left(\frac{m_f^2}{\hat{\mu}^2}\right),\tag{F.5}$$

as the  $\tilde{C}_{HG}^{(6)}$  operator was not redefined to rescale it by  $g_3^2$ . Note that in the BFM this has the result of the  $\Delta R_{\mathcal{G}}$  contribution not canceling against a corresponding finite term for  $g_3^2$ , but contributing.

### F.2 $\delta^2 \Gamma(h \rightarrow \mathcal{GG})$ geoSMEFT terms

The  $\Delta \delta^2$  terms for this decay that follow from the geoSMEFT and added to the naive Quadratic terms are

$$\frac{\Delta\delta^2\Gamma(h\to\mathcal{GG})}{\Delta^2\Gamma(h\to\mathcal{GG})_{SM}} = \frac{24\pi}{\alpha_s^{(r)}} \left[ \left( \langle\sqrt{h}^{44}\rangle_{\mathcal{O}(v^2/\Lambda^2)} + 2\tilde{C}_{HG}^{(6)} \right) \tilde{C}_{HG}^{(6)} + \tilde{C}_{HG}^{(8)} \right].$$
(F.6)

# G $\Delta\delta\Gamma(h \to AA)$ and quadratic $\delta^2\Gamma(h \to AA)$ results

We define [12]

$$\langle h | \mathcal{A} \mathcal{A} \rangle_{SM}^{1} = \frac{-\hat{g}_{2} \hat{e}^{2}}{64 \pi^{2} \hat{m}_{W}} \left( A_{1}(\tau_{W}) + \sum_{i} N_{c}^{i} Q_{i}^{2} A_{1/2}(\tau_{\psi^{i}}) \right) \langle h \mathcal{A}^{\mu\nu} \mathcal{A}_{\mu\nu} \rangle^{0}, \qquad (G.1)$$

with  $\psi^i$  a mass eigenstate fermion and the loop functions are reported in appendix B. For notational convenience we define a short hand notation

$$A_{\mathcal{A}\mathcal{A}} \equiv \left( A_1(\tau_W) + \sum_i N_c^i Q_i^2 A_{1/2}(\tau_{\psi^i}) \right). \tag{G.2}$$

For later convenience we define

$$A_{\mathcal{A}\mathcal{A}}^{\mathcal{L}^{(6)}} \equiv \left[\frac{\hat{g}_2^2 \,\tilde{C}_{HB}^{(6)} + \hat{g}_1^2 \,\tilde{C}_{HW}^{(6)} - \hat{g}_1 \,\hat{g}_2 \,\tilde{C}_{HWB}^{(6)}}{(\hat{g}_Z^{\rm SM})^2}\right]. \tag{G.3}$$

Directly one has

$$\langle h | \mathcal{A} \mathcal{A} \rangle^{0}_{\mathcal{O}(\bar{v}^{2}/\Lambda^{2})} = \frac{A^{\mathcal{L}^{(6)}}_{\mathcal{A} \mathcal{A}}}{\hat{v}_{T}} \langle h \mathcal{A}^{\mu\nu} \mathcal{A}_{\mu\nu} \rangle^{0}, \qquad (G.4)$$

leading to the  $\Delta\delta$  contribution

$$\frac{\Delta\delta\Gamma(h\to\mathcal{A}\mathcal{A})}{\Delta^2\Gamma_{SM}(h\to\mathcal{A}\mathcal{A})} = -64\pi^2 \frac{\mathrm{Re}A_{\mathcal{A}\mathcal{A}}}{|A_{\mathcal{A}\mathcal{A}}|^2} \left[\frac{\tilde{C}_{HB}^{(6)}}{\hat{g}_1^2} + \frac{\tilde{C}_{HW}^{(6)}}{\hat{g}_2^2} - \frac{\tilde{C}_{HWB}^{(6)}}{\hat{g}_1\hat{g}_2}\right],\tag{G.5}$$

and a  $\delta^2$  contribution

$$\frac{\delta^2 \Gamma(h \to \mathcal{A}\mathcal{A})}{\Delta^2 \Gamma_{SM}(h \to \mathcal{A}\mathcal{A})} = \frac{1024\pi^4}{|A_{\mathcal{A}\mathcal{A}}|^2} \left[ \frac{\tilde{C}_{HB}^{(6)}}{\hat{g}_1^2} + \frac{\tilde{C}_{HW}^{(6)}}{\hat{g}_2^2} - \frac{\tilde{C}_{HWB}^{(6)}}{\hat{g}_1 \hat{g}_2} \right]^2.$$
(G.6)

## G.1 $\Delta^2 \delta \Gamma(h \to \mathcal{A}\mathcal{A})$

$$\langle h | \mathcal{A} \mathcal{A} \rangle^{1}_{\mathcal{O}(v_{T}^{2}/\Lambda^{2})} = \langle h | [C_{i}^{(6)}] | \mathcal{A} \mathcal{A} \rangle^{1} \frac{\langle h \mathcal{A}^{\mu\nu} \mathcal{A}_{\mu\nu} \rangle_{0}}{\hat{v}_{T}} + \left( \frac{\mathcal{A}_{\mathcal{A}\mathcal{A}}^{\mathcal{L}^{(6)}}}{\bar{v}_{T}^{2}} \Delta M_{1} + \frac{\tilde{C}_{i} \Delta f_{i}}{16 \pi^{2} \hat{v}_{T}^{2}} \right) \hat{v}_{T} \langle h \mathcal{A}^{\mu\nu} \mathcal{A}_{\mu\nu} \rangle^{0}.$$
(G.7)

Here we have redefined notation slightly from ref. [12] and explicitly

$$\langle h | [C_i^{(6)}] | \mathcal{A} \mathcal{A} \rangle^1 = \frac{\hat{e}^2}{32\pi^2} A_{\mathcal{A}\mathcal{A}} \left[ \frac{\delta G_F}{\sqrt{2}} - \frac{\delta \alpha}{\alpha} \right] + \frac{2.1 \hat{e}^2}{16\pi^2} \frac{\delta M_W^2}{\hat{M}_W^2}$$

$$+ \left( \Delta R_A + \Delta G_F + \frac{2\hat{g}_1(\Delta g_2 \hat{g}_1 - \Delta g_1 \hat{g}_2)}{\hat{g}_2(\hat{g}_Z^{\mathrm{SM}})^2} \right) \frac{\hat{g}_2^2 \tilde{C}_{HB}^{(6)}}{(\hat{g}_Z^{\mathrm{SM}})^2}$$

$$+ \left( \Delta R_A + \Delta G_F + \frac{2\hat{g}_2(\Delta g_1 \hat{g}_2 - \Delta g_2 \hat{g}_1)}{\hat{g}_1(\hat{g}_Z^{\mathrm{SM}})^2} \right) \frac{\hat{g}_1^2 \tilde{C}_{HW}^{(6)}}{(\hat{g}_Z^{\mathrm{SM}})^2}$$

$$- \left( \Delta R_A + \Delta G_F + \frac{(\hat{g}_1^2 - \hat{g}_2^2)(\Delta g_2 \hat{g}_1 - \Delta g_1 \hat{g}_2)}{\hat{g}_1 \hat{g}_2(\hat{g}_Z^{\mathrm{SM}})^2} \right) \frac{\hat{g}_1 \hat{g}_2 \tilde{C}_{HWB}^{(6)}}{(\hat{g}_Z^{\mathrm{SM}})^2}.$$

$$(G.8)$$

The remaining  $\Delta f_i$ 's are in refs. [108, 110] in terms of the one loop functions are

$$\frac{\hat{g}_{1}\hat{g}_{2}}{\hat{e}^{2}}\Delta f_{HWB} = \left(-3\hat{g}_{2}^{2}+4\lambda\right)\log\left(\frac{\bar{m}_{h}^{2}}{\hat{\mu}^{2}}\right) + (4\lambda - \hat{g}_{2}^{2})\mathcal{I}[\bar{m}_{W}^{2}] - 4\hat{g}_{2}^{2}\mathcal{I}_{y}[\bar{m}_{W}^{2}] - 2\hat{g}_{2}^{2}\left[1 + \log\left(\frac{\tau_{W}}{4}\right)\right] \\ + \hat{e}^{2}(2+3\tau_{W}) + 6\hat{e}^{2}(2-\tau_{W})\mathcal{I}_{y}[\bar{m}_{W}^{2}], \tag{G.9}$$

$$\frac{\hat{g}_2^2}{\hat{e}^2} \Delta f_{HW} = -\hat{g}_2^2 \left[ 3\,\tau_W + \left( 16 - \frac{16}{\tau_W} - 6\,\tau_W \right) \mathcal{I}_y[\bar{m}_W^2] \right],\tag{G.10}$$

$$\frac{\hat{g}_2^3}{\hat{e}^2} \Delta f_W = -9\,\hat{g}_2^4 \log\left(\frac{\bar{m}_h^2}{\hat{\mu}^2}\right) - 9\,\hat{g}_2^4 \,\mathcal{I}[\bar{m}_W^2] - 6\,\hat{g}_2^4 \,\mathcal{I}_y[\bar{m}_W^2] + 6\,\hat{g}_2^4 \,\mathcal{I}_{xx}[\bar{m}_W^2] \,(1 - 1/\tau_W) - 12\,\hat{g}_2^4,\tag{G.11}$$

$$\frac{\hat{g}_1}{\hat{e}^2} \Delta f_{eB}_{ss} = 2 Q_\ell [Y_\ell]_{ss} \left[ -1 + 2 \log \left( \frac{\hat{\mu}^2}{\bar{m}_h^2} \right) + \log \left( \frac{4}{\tau_s} \right) \right] - 2 Q_\ell [Y_\ell]_{ss} \left[ 2 \mathcal{I}_y [m_s^2] + \mathcal{I}[m_s^2] \right], \tag{G.12}$$

$$\frac{\hat{g}_1}{\hat{e}^2} \Delta f_{uB}_{ss} = 2 N_c Q_u [Y_u]_{ss} \left[ -1 + 2 \log \left( \frac{\hat{\mu}^2}{\bar{m}_h^2} \right) + \log \left( \frac{4}{\tau_s} \right) \right] - 2 Q_u [Y_u]_{ss} \left[ 2 \mathcal{I}_y [m_s^2] + \mathcal{I}[m_s^2] \right], \tag{G.13}$$

$$\frac{\hat{g}_1}{\hat{e}^2} \Delta f_{dB}_{ss} = 2 N_c Q_d [Y_d]_{ss} \left[ -1 + 2 \log \left( \frac{\hat{\mu}^2}{\bar{m}_h^2} \right) + \log \left( \frac{4}{\tau_s} \right) \right] - 2 Q_d [Y_d]_{ss} \left[ 2 \mathcal{I}_y [m_s^2] + \mathcal{I}[m_s^2] \right].$$
(G.14)

Note  $\hat{g}_2 \Delta f_{eW} \rightarrow -\hat{g}_1 \Delta f_{eB}$ . In the case of up quarks  $\hat{g}_2 \Delta f_{uW} \rightarrow \hat{g}_1 \Delta f_{uB}$ , while in the case of down quarks  $\hat{g}_2 \Delta f_{dW} \rightarrow -\hat{g}_1 \Delta f_{dB}$ . Here,  $s = \{1, 2, 3\}$  sums over the flavors. The Wilson coefficients are summed with their Hermitian conjugates, and the normalization is such that  $\Delta f_{eB}$  multiplies  $\operatorname{Re} C_{eB}$ . The remaining contributions proportional to the SM loop functions are

and  $\Delta f_{HD} = -\Delta f_{H\Box}/4$ . Here p, r, s run over 1, 2, 3 as flavor indices. Several of these results have been cross checked against ref. [112].

These input parameter scheme dependent corrections perturb  $\Gamma(h \to AA)$  as

$$\frac{\Delta^2 \delta \Gamma(h \to \mathcal{A}\mathcal{A})}{\Delta^2 \Gamma_{SM}(h \to \mathcal{A}\mathcal{A})} \simeq \frac{-16\pi^2}{\hat{\alpha}_{ew} |A_{\mathcal{A}\mathcal{A}}|^2} \operatorname{Re} A_{\mathcal{A}\mathcal{A}} \left[ \langle h | [C_i^{(6)}] | \mathcal{A}\mathcal{A} \rangle^1 + A_{\mathcal{A}\mathcal{A}}^{\mathcal{L}^{(6)}} \Delta M_1 + \frac{\tilde{C}_i \Delta f_i}{16\pi^2} \right]. (G.16)$$

### G.2 $\delta^2 \Gamma(h \to \mathcal{A}\mathcal{A})$ geoSMEFT terms

The  $\mathcal{O}(v^4/\Lambda^4)$  terms in the full three-point function are [11]

$$\langle h | \mathcal{A} \mathcal{A} \rangle^{0}_{\mathcal{O}(v^{4}/\Lambda^{4})} = \langle \sqrt{h}^{44} \rangle_{\mathcal{O}(v^{2}/\Lambda^{2})} \langle h | \mathcal{A} \mathcal{A} \rangle^{0}_{\mathcal{O}(\bar{v}^{2}/\Lambda^{2})} + 2 \frac{\bar{v}_{T} [\langle h | \mathcal{A} \mathcal{A} \rangle^{0}_{\mathcal{O}(\bar{v}^{2}/\Lambda^{2})}]^{2}}{\langle h \mathcal{A}^{\mu\nu} \mathcal{A}_{\mu\nu} \rangle^{0}}$$

$$+ 2 \langle h | \mathcal{A} \mathcal{A} \rangle^{0}_{\mathcal{O}(\bar{v}^{2}/\Lambda^{2})} |_{C_{i}^{(6)} \to C_{i}^{(8)}}.$$

$$(G.17)$$

Leading to the  $\Delta \delta^2$  interference term

$$\frac{\Delta\delta^{2}\Gamma(h \to \mathcal{A}\mathcal{A})}{\Delta^{2}\Gamma_{SM}(h \to \mathcal{A}\mathcal{A})} = \frac{-16\pi^{2}}{\hat{\alpha}_{ew} |A_{\mathcal{A}\mathcal{A}}|^{2}} \operatorname{Re}_{\mathcal{A}\mathcal{A}} \left[ \langle \sqrt{h}^{44} \rangle_{\mathcal{O}(v^{2}/\Lambda^{2})} A_{\mathcal{A}\mathcal{A}}^{\mathcal{L}^{(6)}} + 2(A_{\mathcal{A}\mathcal{A}}^{\mathcal{L}^{(6)}})^{2} + 2A_{\mathcal{A}\mathcal{A}}^{\mathcal{L}^{(6)}}|_{C_{i}^{(6)} \to C_{i}^{(8)}} \right].$$
(G.18)

Here we have used the short-hand notation

$$\langle \sqrt{h}^{44} \rangle_{\mathcal{O}(v^2/\Lambda^2)} = \tilde{C}_{H\square}^{(6)} - \frac{1}{4} \tilde{C}_{HD}^{(6)}, \qquad C_{HB}^{(6)} \to \frac{1}{2} C_{HB}^{(8)}, \qquad (G.19)$$

$$C_{HW}^{(6)} \to \frac{1}{2} \left( C_{HW}^{(8)} + C_{HW,2}^{(8)} \right), \qquad C_{HWB}^{(6)} \to \frac{1}{2} C_{HWB}^{(8)}. \qquad (G.20)$$

### H Past literature results

We have included a significant set of numerical and analytic detail in this work to aid reproducibility. However, a complete reproduction of the numerical results requires the following additional literature expressions:

- The two loop QCD corrections for  $C_1^H(\tau_p)$  is lengthy and directly given in ref. [17]. Specifically eq. 2.8 in this work.
- The explicit expression for  $\delta G_F^{(8)}$  can be derived from appendix C, eq. C.12 in ref. [11].
- The explicit expression for  $C_{H,kin}^{(8)}$  can be derived from eq. 3.10 in ref. [10].
- The one loop corrections to the W, Z masses in the BFM reported in appendix A, eqs. A.1, A.2 in ref. [12].

**Open Access.** This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC-BY 4.0), which permits any use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author(s) and source are credited.

#### References

- R. Alonso, E.E. Jenkins, A.V. Manohar and M. Trott, Renormalization Group Evolution of the Standard Model Dimension Six Operators III: Gauge Coupling Dependence and Phenomenology, JHEP 04 (2014) 159 [arXiv:1312.2014] [INSPIRE].
- [2] A.V. Manohar and M.B. Wise, Modifications to the properties of the Higgs boson, Phys. Lett. B 636 (2006) 107 [hep-ph/0601212] [INSPIRE].

- [3] G. Passarino, NLO Inspired Effective Lagrangians for Higgs Physics, Nucl. Phys. B 868 (2013) 416 [arXiv:1209.5538] [INSPIRE].
- [4] G. Passarino and M. Trott, The Standard Model Effective Field Theory and Next to Leading Order, arXiv:1610.08356 [INSPIRE].
- [5] J. Ellis et al., Top, Higgs, Diboson and Electroweak Fit to the Standard Model Effective Field Theory, JHEP 04 (2021) 279 [arXiv:2012.02779] [INSPIRE].
- [6] E.S. Almeida, A. Alves, O.J.P. Éboli and M.C. Gonzalez-Garcia, *Electroweak legacy of the LHC run II*, Phys. Rev. D 105 (2022) 013006 [arXiv:2108.04828] [INSPIRE].
- [7] SMEFIT collaboration, Combined SMEFT interpretation of Higgs, diboson, and top quark data from the LHC, JHEP 11 (2021) 089 [arXiv:2105.00006] [INSPIRE].
- [8] ATLAS collaboration, Combined effective field theory interpretation of Higgs boson and weak boson production and decay with ATLAS data and electroweak precision observables, ATL-PHYS-PUB-2022-037 (2022) [INSPIRE].
- [9] T. Corbett, A. Helset and M. Trott, Ward Identities for the Standard Model Effective Field Theory, Phys. Rev. D 101 (2020) 013005 [arXiv:1909.08470] [INSPIRE].
- [10] A. Helset, A. Martin and M. Trott, The Geometric Standard Model Effective Field Theory, JHEP 03 (2020) 163 [arXiv:2001.01453] [INSPIRE].
- [11] C. Hays, A. Helset, A. Martin and M. Trott, Exact SMEFT formulation and expansion to  $\mathcal{O}(v^4/\Lambda^4)$ , JHEP 11 (2020) 087 [arXiv:2007.00565] [INSPIRE].
- [12] T. Corbett, A. Martin and M. Trott, Consistent higher order  $\sigma(\mathcal{GG} \to h)$ ,  $\Gamma(h \to \mathcal{GG})$  and  $\Gamma(h \to \gamma\gamma)$  in geoSMEFT, JHEP **12** (2021) 147 [arXiv:2107.07470] [INSPIRE].
- T. Corbett and M. Trott, One loop verification of SMEFT Ward Identities, SciPost Phys. 10 (2021) 144 [arXiv:2010.08451] [INSPIRE].
- [14] S. Dawson, Radiative corrections to Higgs boson production, Nucl. Phys. B 359 (1991) 283
   [INSPIRE].
- [15] D. Graudenz, M. Spira and P.M. Zerwas, QCD corrections to Higgs boson production at proton proton colliders, Phys. Rev. Lett. 70 (1993) 1372 [INSPIRE].
- [16] M. Spira, A. Djouadi, D. Graudenz and P.M. Zerwas, Higgs boson production at the LHC, Nucl. Phys. B 453 (1995) 17 [hep-ph/9504378] [INSPIRE].
- [17] R. Harlander and P. Kant, Higgs production and decay: Analytic results at next-to-leading order QCD, JHEP 12 (2005) 015 [hep-ph/0509189] [INSPIRE].
- [18] T. Gehrmann, T. Huber and D. Maitre, Two-loop quark and gluon form-factors in dimensional regularisation, Phys. Lett. B 622 (2005) 295 [hep-ph/0507061] [INSPIRE].
- [19] C. Anastasiou, S. Bucherer and Z. Kunszt, HPro: A NLO Monte-Carlo for Higgs production via gluon fusion with finite heavy quark masses, JHEP 10 (2009) 068 [arXiv:0907.2362] [INSPIRE].
- [20] C. Anastasiou et al., Two-loop amplitudes and master integrals for the production of a Higgs boson via a massive quark and a scalar-quark loop, JHEP 01 (2007) 082
   [hep-ph/0611236] [INSPIRE].
- [21] N. Deutschmann, C. Duhr, F. Maltoni and E. Vryonidou, Gluon-fusion Higgs production in the Standard Model Effective Field Theory, JHEP 12 (2017) 063 [Erratum ibid. 02 (2018) 159] [arXiv:1708.00460] [INSPIRE].

- M. Grazzini, A. Ilnicka and M. Spira, Higgs boson production at large transverse momentum within the SMEFT: analytical results, Eur. Phys. J. C 78 (2018) 808 [arXiv:1806.08832]
   [INSPIRE].
- [23] M. Chala, G. Guedes, M. Ramos and J. Santiago, Towards the renormalisation of the Standard Model effective field theory to dimension eight: Bosonic interactions I, SciPost Phys. 11 (2021) 065 [arXiv:2106.05291] [INSPIRE].
- [24] A. Helset, E.E. Jenkins and A.V. Manohar, Geometry in scattering amplitudes, Phys. Rev. D 106 (2022) 116018 [arXiv:2210.08000] [INSPIRE].
- [25] A. Helset, E.E. Jenkins and A.V. Manohar, *Renormalization of the Standard Model Effective Field Theory from geometry*, JHEP 02 (2023) 063 [arXiv:2212.03253] [INSPIRE].
- [26] K. Asteriadis, S. Dawson and D. Fontes, Double insertions of SMEFT operators in gluon fusion Higgs boson production, Phys. Rev. D 107 (2023) 055038 [arXiv:2212.03258]
   [INSPIRE].
- [27] J.R. Ellis, M.K. Gaillard and D.V. Nanopoulos, A phenomenological Profile of the Higgs Boson, Nucl. Phys. B 106 (1976) 292 [INSPIRE].
- [28] H.M. Georgi, S.L. Glashow, M.E. Machacek and D.V. Nanopoulos, *Higgs Bosons from Two Gluon Annihilation in Proton Proton Collisions*, *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 40 (1978) 692 [INSPIRE].
- [29] M.A. Shifman, A.I. Vainshtein, M.B. Voloshin and V.I. Zakharov, Low-Energy Theorems for Higgs Boson Couplings to Photons, Sov. J. Nucl. Phys. 30 (1979) 711 [INSPIRE].
- [30] C. Anastasiou, N. Deutschmann and A. Schweitzer, Quark mass effects in two-loop Higgs amplitudes, JHEP 07 (2020) 113 [arXiv:2001.06295] [INSPIRE].
- [31] Z. Kunszt, A. Signer and Z. Trocsanyi, Singular terms of helicity amplitudes at one loop in QCD and the soft limit of the cross-sections of multiparton processes, Nucl. Phys. B 420 (1994) 550 [hep-ph/9401294] [INSPIRE].
- [32] S. Catani and M.H. Seymour, A general algorithm for calculating jet cross-sections in NLO QCD, Nucl. Phys. B 485 (1997) 291 [hep-ph/9605323] [INSPIRE].
- [33] S. Catani, S. Dittmaier and Z. Trocsanyi, One loop singular behavior of QCD and SUSY QCD amplitudes with massive partons, Phys. Lett. B 500 (2001) 149 [hep-ph/0011222] [INSPIRE].
- [34] E.E. Jenkins, A.V. Manohar and M. Trott, On Gauge Invariance and Minimal Coupling, JHEP 09 (2013) 063 [arXiv:1305.0017] [INSPIRE].
- [35] H. Elvang, C.R.T. Jones and S.G. Naculich, Soft Photon and Graviton Theorems in Effective Field Theory, Phys. Rev. Lett. 118 (2017) 231601 [arXiv:1611.07534] [INSPIRE].
- [36] R.K. Ellis, W.J. Stirling and B.R. Webber, QCD and collider physics, Cambridge University Press (2011) [D0I:10.1017/CB09780511628788] [INSPIRE].
- [37] F. Maltoni, Basics of QCD for the LHC:  $pp \rightarrow H+X$  as a case study, CERN Yellow Rep. School Proc. 2 (2018) 41 [INSPIRE].
- [38] G. Buchalla, M. Höfer and C. Müller-Salditt, h→gg and h→γγ with anomalous couplings at next-to-leading order in QCD, Phys. Rev. D 107 (2023) 076021 [arXiv:2212.08560] [INSPIRE].
- [39] A. Gehrmann-De Ridder, T. Gehrmann and E.W.N. Glover, Antenna subtraction at NNLO, JHEP 09 (2005) 056 [hep-ph/0505111] [INSPIRE].

- [40] A. Djouadi, M. Spira and P.M. Zerwas, Production of Higgs bosons in proton colliders: QCD corrections, Phys. Lett. B 264 (1991) 440 [INSPIRE].
- [41] F. Wilczek, Decays of Heavy Vector Mesons Into Higgs Particles, Phys. Rev. Lett. 39 (1977) 1304 [INSPIRE].
- [42] T. Inami, T. Kubota and Y. Okada, Effective Gauge Theory and the Effect of Heavy Quarks in Higgs Boson Decays, Z. Phys. C 18 (1983) 69 [INSPIRE].
- [43] K.G. Chetyrkin, B.A. Kniehl and M. Steinhauser, Hadronic Higgs decay to order alpha-s<sup>\*\*</sup>4, Phys. Rev. Lett. **79** (1997) 353 [hep-ph/9705240] [INSPIRE].
- [44] HDECAY collaboration, eHDECAY: an Implementation of the Higgs Effective Lagrangian into HDECAY, Comput. Phys. Commun. 185 (2014) 3412 [arXiv:1403.3381] [INSPIRE].
- [45] L. Bergstrom and G. Hulth, Induced Higgs Couplings to Neutral Bosons in e<sup>+</sup>e<sup>-</sup> Collisions, Nucl. Phys. B 259 (1985) 137 [INSPIRE].
- [46] J. Fleischer, O.V. Tarasov and V.O. Tarasov, Analytical result for the two loop QCD correction to the decay  $H \rightarrow 2$  gamma, Phys. Lett. B **584** (2004) 294 [hep-ph/0401090] [INSPIRE].
- [47] U. Aglietti, R. Bonciani, G. Degrassi and A. Vicini, Analytic Results for Virtual QCD Corrections to Higgs Production and Decay, JHEP 01 (2007) 021 [hep-ph/0611266] [INSPIRE].
- [48] E. Braaten and J.P. Leveille, Higgs Boson Decay and the Running Mass, Phys. Rev. D 22 (1980) 715 [INSPIRE].
- [49] R. Gauld, B.D. Pecjak and D.J. Scott, QCD radiative corrections for  $h \rightarrow b\bar{b}$  in the Standard Model Dimension-6 EFT, Phys. Rev. D 94 (2016) 074045 [arXiv:1607.06354] [INSPIRE].
- [50] PARTICLE DATA GROUP collaboration, *Review of Particle Physics*, *PTEP* **2022** (2022) 083C01 [INSPIRE].
- [51] CDF and D0 collaborations, Combination of CDF and D0 W-Boson Mass Measurements, Phys. Rev. D 88 (2013) 052018 [arXiv:1307.7627] [INSPIRE].
- [52] C.W. Bauer et al., Global analysis of inclusive B decays, Phys. Rev. D 70 (2004) 094017
   [hep-ph/0408002] [INSPIRE].
- [53] LHC HIGGS CROSS SECTION WORKING GROUP collaboration, Handbook of LHC Higgs Cross Sections: 4. Deciphering the Nature of the Higgs Sector, arXiv:1610.07922
   [D0I:10.23731/CYRM-2017-002] [INSPIRE].
- [54] PARTICLE DATA GROUP collaboration, Review of Particle Physics, Chin. Phys. C 40 (2016) 100001 [INSPIRE].
- [55] P.J. Mohr, B.N. Taylor and D.B. Newell, CODATA Recommended Values of the Fundamental Physical Constants: 2010, Rev. Mod. Phys. 84 (2012) 1527
   [arXiv:1203.5425] [INSPIRE].
- [56] I. Dubovyk et al., Electroweak pseudo-observables and Z-boson form factors at two-loop accuracy, JHEP 08 (2019) 113 [arXiv:1906.08815] [INSPIRE].
- [57] A. Freitas, Higher-order electroweak corrections to the partial widths and branching ratios of the Z boson, JHEP 04 (2014) 070 [arXiv:1401.2447] [INSPIRE].
- [58] M. Awramik, M. Czakon, A. Freitas and G. Weiglein, Precise prediction for the W boson mass in the standard model, Phys. Rev. D 69 (2004) 053006 [hep-ph/0311148] [INSPIRE].

- [59] M. Awramik, M. Czakon and A. Freitas, *Electroweak two-loop corrections to the effective weak mixing angle*, *JHEP* 11 (2006) 048 [hep-ph/0608099] [INSPIRE].
- [60] A. Barzinji, M. Trott and A. Vasudevan, Equations of Motion for the Standard Model Effective Field Theory: Theory and Applications, Phys. Rev. D 98 (2018) 116005 [arXiv:1806.06354] [INSPIRE].
- [61] B. Grzadkowski, M. Iskrzynski, M. Misiak and J. Rosiek, Dimension-Six Terms in the Standard Model Lagrangian, JHEP 10 (2010) 085 [arXiv:1008.4884] [INSPIRE].
- [62] J. Fleischer and F. Jegerlehner, Radiative Corrections to Higgs Decays in the Extended Weinberg-Salam Model, Phys. Rev. D 23 (1981) 2001 [INSPIRE].
- [63] ALEPH et al. collaborations, Precision electroweak measurements on the Z resonance, Phys. Rept. 427 (2006) 257 [hep-ex/0509008] [INSPIRE].
- [64] PARTICLE DATA GROUP collaboration, Review of Particle Physics, Chin. Phys. C 38 (2014) 090001 [INSPIRE].
- [65] P.J. Mohr, D.B. Newell and B.N. Taylor, CODATA Recommended Values of the Fundamental Physical Constants: 2014, Rev. Mod. Phys. 88 (2016) 035009
   [arXiv:1507.07956] [INSPIRE].
- [66] C. Hartmann, W. Shepherd and M. Trott, The Z decay width in the SMEFT:  $y_t$  and  $\lambda$  corrections at one loop, JHEP 03 (2017) 060 [arXiv:1611.09879] [INSPIRE].
- [67] A. Djouadi, J. Kalinowski and M. Spira, HDECAY: A Program for Higgs boson decays in the standard model and its supersymmetric extension, Comput. Phys. Commun. 108 (1998) 56 [hep-ph/9704448] [INSPIRE].
- [68] HDECAY collaboration, HDECAY: Twenty<sub>++</sub> years after, Comput. Phys. Commun. 238 (2019) 214 [arXiv:1801.09506] [INSPIRE].
- [69] G. Passarino, C. Sturm and S. Uccirati, Complete Two-Loop Corrections to  $H \rightarrow gamma$ gamma, Phys. Lett. B 655 (2007) 298 [arXiv:0707.1401] [INSPIRE].
- [70] S. Actis, G. Passarino, C. Sturm and S. Uccirati, NNLO Computational Techniques: The Cases  $H \rightarrow gamma \ gamma \ and \ H \rightarrow g \ g$ , Nucl. Phys. B **811** (2009) 182 [arXiv:0809.3667] [INSPIRE].
- [71] A. Sirlin, Radiative Corrections in the SU(2)-L × U(1) Theory: A Simple Renormalization Framework, Phys. Rev. D 22 (1980) 971 [INSPIRE].
- [72] W. Dekens and P. Stoffer, Low-energy effective field theory below the electroweak scale: matching at one loop, JHEP 10 (2019) 197 [Erratum ibid. 11 (2022) 148]
   [arXiv:1908.05295] [INSPIRE].
- [73] J.D. Wells, TASI lecture notes: Introduction to precision electroweak analysis, in the proceedings of the Theoretical Advanced Study Institute in Elementary Particle Physics: Physics in D ≥ 4 (TASI 2004), Boulder, U.S.A., June 06 – July 02 (2004), p. 41–64 [hep-ph/0512342] [INSPIRE].
- [74] P.A. Baikov, K.G. Chetyrkin, J.H. Kuhn and J. Rittinger, Vector Correlator in Massless QCD at Order  $\mathcal{O}(\alpha_s^4)$  and the QED beta-function at Five Loop, JHEP **07** (2012) 017 [arXiv:1206.1284] [INSPIRE].
- [75] A. Denner and S. Dittmaier, Electroweak Radiative Corrections for Collider Physics, Phys. Rept. 864 (2020) 1 [arXiv:1912.06823] [INSPIRE].

- [76] S. Dittmaier, Electric charge renormalization to all orders, Phys. Rev. D 103 (2021) 053006 [arXiv:2101.05154] [INSPIRE].
- [77] G. Brooijmans et al., Les Houches 2015: Physics at TeV colliders new physics working group report, in the proceedings of the 9th Les Houches Workshop on Physics at TeV Colliders, Les Houches, France, June 01–19 (2015) [arXiv:1605.02684] [INSPIRE].
- [78] H. Arason et al., Renormalization group study of the standard model and its extensions. 1. The Standard model, Phys. Rev. D 46 (1992) 3945 [INSPIRE].
- [79] N.P. Hartland and E.R. Nocera, A mathematica interface to NNPDFs, Nucl. Phys. B Proc. Suppl. 234 (2013) 54 [arXiv:1209.2585] [INSPIRE].
- [80] NNPDF collaboration, Parton distributions for the LHC Run II, JHEP 04 (2015) 040 [arXiv:1410.8849] [INSPIRE].
- [81] C. Degrande et al., Automated one-loop computations in the standard model effective field theory, Phys. Rev. D 103 (2021) 096024 [arXiv:2008.11743] [INSPIRE].
- [82] J. Alwall et al., The automated computation of tree-level and next-to-leading order differential cross sections, and their matching to parton shower simulations, JHEP 07 (2014) 079 [arXiv:1405.0301] [INSPIRE].
- [83] I. Brivio, T. Corbett and M. Trott, The Higgs width in the SMEFT, JHEP 10 (2019) 056 [arXiv:1906.06949] [INSPIRE].
- [84] I. Brivio and M. Trott, The Standard Model as an Effective Field Theory, Phys. Rept. 793 (2019) 1 [arXiv:1706.08945] [INSPIRE].
- [85] I. Brivio, Y. Jiang and M. Trott, The SMEFTsim package, theory and tools, JHEP 12 (2017) 070 [arXiv:1709.06492] [INSPIRE].
- [86] I. Brivio, SMEFTsim 3.0 a practical guide, JHEP 04 (2021) 073 [arXiv:2012.11343] [INSPIRE].
- [87] S.L. Glashow, Partial Symmetries of Weak Interactions, Nucl. Phys. 22 (1961) 579 [INSPIRE].
- [88] S. Weinberg, A Model of Leptons, Phys. Rev. Lett. 19 (1967) 1264 [INSPIRE].
- [89] A. Salam, Weak and Electromagnetic Interactions, Conf. Proc. C 680519 (1968) 367 [INSPIRE].
- [90] V. Cirigliano, W. Dekens, J. de Vries and E. Mereghetti, Is there room for CP violation in the top-Higgs sector?, Phys. Rev. D 94 (2016) 016002 [arXiv:1603.03049] [INSPIRE].
- [91] A. Helset, M. Paraskevas and M. Trott, Gauge fixing the Standard Model Effective Field Theory, Phys. Rev. Lett. 120 (2018) 251801 [arXiv:1803.08001] [INSPIRE].
- [92] T. Corbett, The Feynman rules for the SMEFT in the background field gauge, JHEP 03 (2021) 001 [arXiv:2010.15852] [INSPIRE].
- [93] A. Denner, Techniques for calculation of electroweak radiative corrections at the one loop level and results for W physics at LEP-200, Fortsch. Phys. 41 (1993) 307
   [arXiv:0709.1075] [INSPIRE].
- [94] A. Denner, G. Weiglein and S. Dittmaier, Application of the background field method to the electroweak standard model, Nucl. Phys. B 440 (1995) 95 [hep-ph/9410338] [INSPIRE].

- [95] C. Grojean, E.E. Jenkins, A.V. Manohar and M. Trott, Renormalization Group Scaling of Higgs Operators and  $\Gamma(h \rightarrow \gamma \gamma)$ , JHEP 04 (2013) 016 [arXiv:1301.2588] [INSPIRE].
- [96] E.E. Jenkins, A.V. Manohar and M. Trott, Renormalization Group Evolution of the Standard Model Dimension Six Operators I: Formalism and lambda Dependence, JHEP 10 (2013) 087 [arXiv:1308.2627] [INSPIRE].
- [97] E.E. Jenkins, A.V. Manohar and M. Trott, Renormalization Group Evolution of the Standard Model Dimension Six Operators II: Yukawa Dependence, JHEP 01 (2014) 035 [arXiv:1310.4838] [INSPIRE].
- [98] R. Alonso et al., Renormalization group evolution of dimension-six baryon number violating operators, Phys. Lett. B 734 (2014) 302 [arXiv:1405.0486] [INSPIRE].
- [99] G. 't Hooft, Renormalizable Lagrangians for Massive Yang-Mills Fields, Nucl. Phys. B 35 (1971) 167 [INSPIRE].
- [100] G. 't Hooft, Renormalization of Massless Yang-Mills Fields, Nucl. Phys. B 33 (1971) 173
   [INSPIRE].
- [101] G. 't Hooft and M.J.G. Veltman, Regularization and Renormalization of Gauge Fields, Nucl. Phys. B 44 (1972) 189 [INSPIRE].
- [102] C. Degrande, Automatic evaluation of UV and R2 terms for beyond the Standard Model Lagrangians: a proof-of-principle, Comput. Phys. Commun. 197 (2015) 239
   [arXiv:1406.3030] [INSPIRE].
- [103] G. 't Hooft, An algorithm for the poles at dimension four in the dimensional regularization procedure, Nucl. Phys. B 62 (1973) 444 [INSPIRE].
- [104] R. Alonso, E.E. Jenkins and A.V. Manohar, Geometry of the Scalar Sector, JHEP 08 (2016) 101 [arXiv:1605.03602] [INSPIRE].
- [105] G. Altarelli and G. Parisi, Asymptotic Freedom in Parton Language, Nucl. Phys. B 126 (1977) 298 [INSPIRE].
- [106] G. Kallen, Radiative corrections in elementary particle physics, Springer Tracts Mod. Phys.
   46 (1968) 67 [INSPIRE].
- [107] M. Green and M.J.G. Veltman, Weak and Electromagnetic Radiative Corrections to Low-Energy Processes, Nucl. Phys. B 169 (1980) 137 [Erratum ibid. 175 (1980) 547]
   [INSPIRE].
- [108] C. Hartmann and M. Trott, On one-loop corrections in the standard model effective field theory; the  $\Gamma(h \to \gamma \gamma)$  case, JHEP **07** (2015) 151 [arXiv:1505.02646] [INSPIRE].
- [109] G.J. Gounaris, J. Layssac and F.M. Renard, Testing the Higgs boson gluonic couplings at CERN LHC, Phys. Rev. D 58 (1998) 075006 [hep-ph/9803422] [INSPIRE].
- [110] C. Hartmann and M. Trott, Higgs Decay to Two Photons at One Loop in the Standard Model Effective Field Theory, Phys. Rev. Lett. 115 (2015) 191801 [arXiv:1507.03568]
   [INSPIRE].
- [111] M. Grazzini, A. Ilnicka, M. Spira and M. Wiesemann, Modeling BSM effects on the Higgs transverse-momentum spectrum in an EFT approach, JHEP 03 (2017) 115 [arXiv:1612.00283] [INSPIRE].
- [112] M. Ghezzi, R. Gomez-Ambrosio, G. Passarino and S. Uccirati, NLO Higgs effective field theory and κ-framework, JHEP 07 (2015) 175 [arXiv:1505.03706] [INSPIRE].